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@ Baicao Mine Huili County, Sichuan Mining area: 1.88 sq.km. i?tr;i(:,i.ur;n;;bﬁ:{ii&g 47,360 23.32% TFe Open-pit mining
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Xiushuihe Mine Exploration area: 1.73 sq.km. TR

@ (including expansion)  Huili County, Sichuan  (including a mining area of 0.52 sq.km.) Vt?tr;cél_unr:; b::{ilreg 63.301 24.24% TFe Open-pit mining
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@ Yangqueqing Mine Huili County, Sichuan Mining area: 0.25 sq.km. \i?tr;ﬂi?a_b:;';g 21,182 25.06% TFe Open-pit mining
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@ Cizhuging Mine Huili County, Sichuan Mining area: 1.279 sq.km. z?tgi(g?rgbs:{ilpeg 25,570 21.40% TFe Open-pit mining
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@ Haibaodang Mine Panzhihua City, Sichuan Exploration area: 26.2 sq.km. i?tr;(tj)i-ur:gbre\s{ii‘:;g 105.600 16.54% TFe Open-pit mining
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@ Xiushuihe Processing Plant Near the Xiushuihe Mine Low-grade vanadium-bearing iron concentrates: 800.0 Ktpa®; titanium concentrates: 100.0 Ktpa®

757K R SR KO B 1K M f & SR8 % - 800.0F WA, 4 @ : $AK5%%E : 100.0F Wi /5@
Baicao Processing Plant Near the Baicao Mine Low-grade vanadium-bearing iron concentrates: 700.0 Ktpa®; titanium concentrates: 60.0 Ktpa
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@ Hailong Processing Plant Near the Cizhuging Mine Low-grade vanadium-bearing iron concentrates: 300.0 Ktpa®
R SRR E R 1K M fz & SR RS 1% - 300.0F WA, @

@ Heigutian Processing Plant Near the Yangqueging Mine Low-grade vanadium-bearing iron concentrates: 800.0 Ktpa®; titanium concentrates: 120.0 Ktpa®
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@ Iron Pelletising Plant Huili County, Sichuan 1,000.0 Ktpa®
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Exploration area: 11.6 sq.km.

@ mianoe]ing-Yanglongshan Wencgiléir&;ount‘/‘ (including a mining area of 1.9 sq.km.) Ordinary magnetite 56.08 22.76% TFe Uncire]irr?i;(;und
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Maoling Processing Plant Near the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine High-grade iron concentrates: 150.0 Ktpa®
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We aim to be a

TOP-NOTCH ENTERPRISE

T8 — AR %

VISION

MISSION

e We deliver with integrity

e We explore opportunities

e We uphold the essence of
commitment and responsibility

cHiE -FE -BHE

* To explore exceptional

potential in mining
o F R 8 8K
A (8K) FFR (8R)

e We reward shareholders
e We care for the
community

cMHRKRR E/EE

CONTENTS
B &%

13

35

41

64

89

97

99

101

102

105

244

247

Corporate Information

NAEER

Corporate Profile

NGITEV

Financial Highlights

IR E

Chairman'’s Statement

TEREE

Management Discussion and Analysis
EIRE AR R T

Profile of Directors and Senior Management
BEELSREREBEN

Directors’ Report

ExgWEE

Corporate Governance Report
CEEARE

Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RS

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income

reEEmkEMmEENER

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE MBI

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BARERHE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

LMAERERER

Notes to Financial Statements

B M5 eR R P 5

Five-Year Financial Summary

hEMBRE

Glossary
1o =
Al

2018 F3R | PRENKMEBEEERRDA]




Corporate Information

NRER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Non-executive Director
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan (Chairman)

Executive Directors
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping
(Chief executive officer)
Mr. Hao Xiemin
(Financial controller)
Mr. Wang Hu

Independent Non-
executive Directors

Mr. Yu Haizong

Mr. Liu Yi

Mr. Wu Wen

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Mr. Yu Haizong (Chairman)
Mr. Liu Yi

Mr. Wu Wen

REMUNERATION

COMMITTEE
Mr. Liu Yi (Chairman)
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping
Mr. Yu Haizong

NOMINATION
COMMITTEE

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan (Chairman)

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping

Mr. Yu Haizong

Mr. Liu Yi

Mr. Wu Wen

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Kong Chi Mo (FCCA,
FCIS, FCS, MHKIoD,
MHKIRA & MHKSI)

AUTHORISED
REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping

Mr. Kong Chi Mo (FCCA,
FCIS, FCS, MHKIoD,
MHKIRA & MHKSI)

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman

KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

Unit A on 4™ Floor

E168

Nos. 166-168

Des Voeux Road Central

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER AGENT

SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited

Royal Bank House — 3™ Floor

24 Shedden Road

P.O. Box 1586

Grand Cayman

KY1-1110

Cayman Islands

Exg
FHITES
W S ()

BITES
oo S
(BREHITE)
0 81 5 A
(Y HHE)
TREE

BUXHTES
RIERSE
BIR S
[N

BEREES
RERKLE (T
BB
ES S T2

FMEESE
BB E (/)
BT e
REREL

REZES
B 5E A ()
b
FEREE
B E
/XS

2 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2018 ANNUAL REPORT

NEIRE—

TR 5 (FCCA,
FCIS, FCS, MHKIoD,
MHKIRA X MHKSI)

BRREAR

BrELLE

TR 5 A (FCCA,
FCIS, FCS, MHKIoD,
MHKIRA X MHKSI)

AfMERE

Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman
KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

EARAXTE
&2 i B

aBA

fEEEp

166-1685%

E168

ABAE

FERMEBELR
BE R

SMP Partners
(Cayman) Limited

Royal Bank House

— 3 Floor

24 Shedden Road

P.O. Box 1586

Grand Cayman

KY1-1110

Cayman Islands



HONG KONG BRANCH
SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited

17M Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

AUDITOR
Ernst & Young
22/F, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS
as to Hong Kong law:
MinterEllison LLP

Level 32, Wu Chung House
213 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong

as to Cayman Islands law:
Conyers Dill & Pearman
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman

KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

INVESTOR RELATIONS
CONSULTANT

Cornerstones Communications
Limited

Unit 1408-10

14/F, Dominion Centre

43-59 Queen's Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Email: ir@chinavtmmining.com

COMPETENT PERSON
BAW Mineral Partners Limited
Room 2603, 26/F

Tung Wai Commercial Building
109-111 Gloucester Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

www.chinavtmmining.com

STOCK CODE
00893

SHARE INFORMATION
Board lot size: 1,000

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

1 January to 31 December

Corporate Information

BFERDELR
BE DR

ERTRBFER
BRAT

Gl

ERRNER1835%
AR LTME

BB A

2K & sHER =S AT
&5

IR

INEE1R
Fi{ERE221E

HEEREE
BRE B4R
HEHRAEAL
& o 6 3 15
e

BRERER2139%
tHEKE32E

BERESHEXE:
FRIZEAEM BT
Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman
KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

REEBEER
EREAERAR
B

£ /7 KERA3-595
REF L1412
1408-10%

£+ ir@chinavtmmining.com

AREH ‘

BEBAL
ERBEARAA
e

H+$TE109-1115%

REAEAE
261£2603%

#8 Uk

www.chinavtmmining.com

B £ X8R

00893

w7 &

BFEEFENM 1,000

Bt

TH1TE®E12H31H

—

2018 3% | FENKHEAREAR AR 3

\‘



Corporate Profile

QBN

The Company has been listed on the main board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange since 8 October 2009. During the year ended 31
December 2018, the Group was principally engaged in mining and ore
processing, sale of self-produced products, trading of coals and steels,
management of strategic investments and rendering of specialised
mining services. As at 31 December 2018, the Group owned five
vanadium-bearing titano-magnetite mines (namely the Baicao Mine,
Xiushuihe Mine, Yangqueging Mine, Cizhuging Mine and Haibaodang
Mine), one ordinary iron ore mine (namely the Maoling-Yanglongshan
Mine), one gypsum mine (namely the Shigou Gypsum Mine), five
processing plants (namely the Baicao Processing Plant, Xiushuihe
Processing Plant, Hailong Processing Plant, Heigutian Processing Plant
and Maoling Processing Plant) and one iron pelletising plant. All mines
are located in Sichuan, a region with the most abundant vanadium-
bearing titano-magnetite resources in China.

As at 31 December 2018, the total number of shares of the Company
in issue was 2,249,015,410 Shares and the percentage holding of the

Company's subsidiaries was as follows:
A\\ China VTM Mining
EPﬁJk

ARNFE2009F10 A8 AN B BB ATEIR L
e REE2018F12A831B IHFE REBN T
EXBARBELREALE HEAEEM BB
Bk R R EEE URRHEER
RARFS - 72018512 8318 » KEBEHE A A{EN
REEE (BN EHE FSRTHE BEesd
B RMEEBERGRNEE)  —EALBEE
(BEE-FELER) —EaEE(MAEA
EJEE) __ﬁ}f_/ﬁf W(EHEE/ﬁLH %7K/T/%L
—@ﬁaﬁﬁo%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁmmmﬁﬂ¢ﬁ%
RAKEEEERFLEEME -

R2018F12A31H AR RN B BITRHEER A
2,249,015,4100% - MARRIFE FARINET S
DA

100% 100%
Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd. Mancala Holdings
S IBEFAGR AT EE R Sure Prime Limited

MHPL
EFIER

100% 1 00%

Powerside Holdings Limited First China Limited
BAZERARD R =RERDE

100%

Simply Rise Holdlngs lelted
SRERERD

100%
100% 100% 100%
Mancala Pty Mancala Mining Mancala Services
BFH BRI BRI RT

WOO%

- Onshore 7£ 7% -

100%

Spectrum Resources
BFAER
- Offshore B 5 - [

Mancala Asia
BEEFA

49%

CL Vietnam*
MEE

E i

100%

SW%I WOO%i

100% J

# As Mancala Asia is contractually entitled to appoint a majority of
members in the members’ council of MCL Vietnam and to control the
operations of MCL Vietnam, MCL Vietnam is accounted as a subsidiary of
Mancala Asia.

100% J 60%

100% l

e

I
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REVENUE
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1,141,971*
1317479
1,833,305
516,365

649,094

125,899*
127,520*
42,447
(23,170)

(12,826)

(443,969)
(349490)
(773,742)
(1,105,519)

(366,381)

574,737
1,020,907
1,318,173
2,091915

3,195,795
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRESE

Teh Wing Kwan ZB Kk f&
Chairman % J&

Dear Shareholders,

2018 was eventful and rather stressful as we recalibrated in this highly
complicated external environment for the steel industry. There is and
has been an unpredictable cyclical risk from the undesirably volatile
market as a result of the de-stocking pace and re-stocking need given
the major supply-side structural reform. Under such circumstances,
predicting market trends for each of our business segments in such an
environment is obviously not a slam dunk or one may probably need
a crystal ball. With this level of uncertainty, we observe that many
smaller-scale steel mills are barely breaking even and rarely re-investing.
Many industry players are still scratching their heads indeed.

HENMBRR:

2018 F M T EMIMERFEE REM RFIH
ERBOHM L KETHRZEMENEEN —
F-HEAEBUESHEREFN IR RBRE
FHBERT— STHEHRRWARTNES &
B BH AR BRERR EERERT
BRIEFHKMmIRBETER AN BRIZERHME
EXBOMOTIHELHIESE - EHERTHE
EN - BIVEEIFZRER/ A M EREE S
U Pl BHARENIBRE-FEL TO%FE
DEES BRERER -
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During the year, we spoke to many industry experts. We monitored
market conditions, analysed segmental performance and evaluated
various commercial options. In doing so, we avoided throwing good
money after bad and we agreed unanimously that there is an urgent
need to restructure our businesses amidst the stubbornly persisting
market volatility that we don't like. It was thus strategically important
for us to segregate our key mining businesses into (i) the expanding
High Fe Mines and (ii) the disappointing Low Fe and Inactive Mines.
Arising of which, we initiated major restructuring and announced the
proposed disposal of the loss-making Low Fe and Inactive Mines shortly
after the financial year-end.

At the time of writing this report, our share price has risen by more
than 3 times from the last 52-week low reaching a 52-week high of
HKDO.47. Whilst it has softened since then, it seems to have stabilised. |
hope the share price recovery does somehow stage a good stead for us
while we are restructuring our business and re-building our corporate
fundamentals, which has been my key priority, being your Chairman of
the Board since October 2017.

OVERVIEW

At the macro level, China’s economic data have not given much reason
to celebrate for most, if not all, of the sectors. Most of us would have
learnt that China’s annual gross domestic product (“GDP"”) growth in
2018 generally matched expectations but this came in at its slowest
pace since 1990, which also came down from those very stable growth
rates over the recent years. Whilst China’s economic growth seems to
be stabilising, it is slowing. In this visual aspect, we have no doubt on
the importance of steel to China’s GDP growth. The growth in the steel
industry in one way or another is an indicative sign of China’s economic
strength and the pace of the economic growth has resulted in various
adjustments of government’s policies for the industry. The switch in
such policies has weighed down the shift in iron ore demand that the
recent shift in such demand has drastically fragmented our industry.

Chairman’s Statement
FEREE
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

Having said that, there appears a mounting downside risk in certain
segments of our industry arising from the structurally weakened
demand for the low-grade iron ore, which is further burdened by the
increasing sensitivity on the impurity of iron ore content given emission
control under the China’s Blue Sky Plan. The toughening environmental
clean-up that came in the form of curbs on blast furnace operations,
iron ore sintering and the related processing activities pushed demand
for the more polluting (but more affordable) iron ore down while
encouraging those of high-grade. In this context, steel millers work
towards balancing productivity and affordability as productivity
sometime comes at the expense of affordability given more costly
investments and much higher compliance requirements.

So, we realistically can’t take such risks in broadly defined ways and we
have to execute our strategic plans under a clearly defined framework
for our immediate key objectives — to improve operating financial
performance and reduce asset impairment risks. It is a sure thing that
the Group needs a turnaround after reporting consecutive years of
disappointing losses that the Group's continual struggle for profits in
this volatile market seems extremely tiring to you (being the owner)
and to us (being the Board members). This explains why the proposed
disposal of the Low Fe and Inactive Mines makes sense for us if we do
not see any commercial rationale to re-invest and re-allocate resources
here. The decision to sell off these loss-making segments was made
after our thoughtful plans in streamlining part of our operations and
rationalising some of the under-utilised assets.

In the months ahead, we will continue to cast a watchful eye on the
US-China trade tension and potential rollout of other stimulus measures
by the Chinese government, if any and if relevant.

AR R R EE O T REB B ERT
EETHMERTITAR - BILRF  PEEX
FPEIMHFRER T RS EANEEE O MENET
BE SHRXE - P EMEENE - #HlE0RA
REBUEESFWRRZFRENTR  YEH
HEARERS (EERRAEE)WEELT
$otHEHRRUERANFE R -REmE &
EHREREEEEHNLT  HAERE REE
EITRRBR AR E KoM 2 BEAR B PR E
BHEENRAAEREFHLFE-

Bt HMEESE TR T NEREZ
HRk VARBREERENERRSEMEAD
TEARNTEMGS ANEEEVBHES
BREEERERR AEE—ENFEKBTS
EREFE HEESFHEER SEARR
(ERBEN)REM(EFREEERE) R
B NIRRT ERETLE - Bt BMR AR
BERADNBERBEIFERRE MRRERNE
Huf Rk TNERES UERHERBSE -
EXXEBEBENDMIOERFPBOREIR  BEH
MAEBREABAERARTROEEMERIR

E °

RAKEA REBEEZY T ETEEHINE
KRB LA K BT O] B HE A A0 IR B e
(A K@) -
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STRATEGIES

During the year, we kept our operational strategies largely unchanged
(as set out in my last 2017 Chairman’s Statement) — specifically,
focusing on operating cash flows, improving segmental efficiencies and
reducing impairment risks. Meanwhile, we widened and deepened the
scopes of our strategic reviews; and hastened our execution.

As reiterated, we factored out the strategic importance of managing
the Group’s operations in two key business segments, namely the
High Fe Mines and the Low Fe and Inactive Mines, as the differential
ballooned when market demand shifted unexpectedly fast with much
higher price premium for the less polluting high-grade iron ore. Such
a move encouraged us to allocate more resources towards improving
production efficiencies for the High Fe Mines and optimising its revenue
mix. These strategies helped us to improve our overall margins and
stabilised our operating cash flows but asset impairment risks arising
from very low and no utilisation rate for the Low Fe and Inactive Mines
remain an issue to resolve.

Given these focused strategies, we have thus scaled down the Low Fe
Mines and are keeping those Inactive Mines continually suspended for
good despite impairment risks. While maintaining a cautious stance on
the operations of the Low Fe and Inactive Mines, we explored complex
farm-out arrangements with other operators and we also evaluated
piecemeal sale of processing plants and related equipment. To a larger
extent, we either did not receive serious interest that could possibly
lead to substantive discussions or we were approached for deals, which
I think we would probably be better off doing nothing.

Chairman’s Statement
FEREE
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

We subsequently reorganised these assets and then put through a
proposal to sell the entire interest of the operating group that own,
operate and manage the Low Fe and Inactive Mines to a related
party for RMB550.0 million with their obligations to take over a total
indebtedness (including bank guarantees) of up to RMB730.0 million
from us — as we announced on 29 January 2019. The proposed disposal
of these loss-making operations is one of our key business restructuring
strategies and the deal (if completed) is expected to have positive
financial effects for the Group. The is a very substantial transaction with
a connected party by definition which is thus subject to your approval
(more specifically, independent shareholders) in an extraordinary
general meeting ("EGM") to be convened in due course. We will send
you a circular explaining the transactions and illustrating the financials
when ready; and independent professionals will have to opine on the
transactions as well.

In view of our intention to sell the Low Fe and Inactive Mines, we have
since recorded its operating results under the heading of “Discontinued
Operations” with those selling assets and liabilities are now being
classified as “held for sale” in accounting terms. The financial
presentation vindicates our action to stop the related operations and
confirms our decision to sell assets for the loss-making Low Fe and
Inactive Mines.

OUTLOOK

Looking at the big picture, China celebrates the 40" anniversary of
its Reform and Opening-up with remarkable progress in its economic
and social transformation. After four decades of unfettered growth,
it appears that the country is facing a myriad of external factors that
may pose challenges to its future economic growth, which in itself
has largely been funded by surging debts and is now showing signs of
slower momentum.

As previous rapid growth models have not come without costs, there
are contentious issues to deal with given loading debts and rising costs.
Meanwhile, the already-complicated US-China trade row is getting
more complicated despite recent signs of easing but notoriously, like
a fickle weather. We are now learning whether the country could deal
with these issues tactfully — or to a certain extent, whether it will do so
or need to do so. In this context, many expect manufacturing activities
will continue to slow, margins will fall and industrial profits will remain
under pressure amidst this time of uncertainty.
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Under such observation, there exists an opportunity to see credit
expansion or some forms of fiscal stimulus measures again, shortly
after China’s official efforts to clamp down on credit while it is still
addressing issues relating to excessive loans, bad debts and messy
defaults — these are policies of argus-eyed awareness which come from
the country’s alarmingly high debts level years ago. It seems that the re-
surging or re-thinking of debts-load growth models are kicking in again
in a bid to pump more money back to the economy, which came at the
onset of the slowing pace of economic growth and amidst the tariff
wars talks. However, at this juncture, the pace of such accelerating
stimulus remains to be seen but against this backdrop, budget for
infrastructure spending is one of those that may continue to find
successive support despite news of halting major infrastructure projects
and re-adjustment of policies for such investments in smaller cities of
China.

Back to our industry, with China’s bearing anti-pollution measures,
there is logic to see surging demand for high-grade iron ore when steel
mills are restricted as to how much they can pollute in a production
process that best possible quality iron ore could potentially maximise
quantity of steel that can be produced relatively to certain level of
energy consumption. Given so, lower grade iron ore capacity has been
scaled down, left idle or forced to run at lower-than-optimal utilisation
rates. We are also monitoring the fragmented iron ore market very
closely too see if the price and demand dynamism for the high-
grade iron ore will vary which will either widen or narrow the existing
differential gap. At this juncture, there are still points to see good
demand and price support for the high-grade iron ore products ahead.

GOING FORWARD

Having said that, we are heedful of those warnings at the macro level
and their implications on our industry, on our next strategic plans
and on our potential business diversification. As we remain cautiously
optimistic, our optimism is still largely reserved until we are able to
refresh our growth initiatives and revamp our corporate strategies. On
a positive note, | believe our business restructuring will eventually bring
us to the next significant milestone — both for our reorganised mining
operations and in our corporate transformation plans.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FEREE

THANK YOU

Many thanks to our stakeholders, partners, bankers, management,
and staffs. | look forward to seeing you at the 2019 AGM, or possibly,
slightly earlier if we could convene an EGM ahead of time.

Teh Wing Kwan

Chairman

Email: wkteh.cvt@gmail.com or
wkteh@chinavtmmining.com

Hong Kong, 26 March 2019
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEEN W R DA

MARKET REVIEW

During the Reporting Period, the Group observed the following
industrial development and market statistics:

o In January 2019, the National Bureau of Statistics of the PRC
announced that China’s GDP recorded an annual growth
of 6.6% in 2018 (6.5% and 6.4% for the third and fourth
quarters, respectively), which generally matched expectations;

o This official annual GDP growth in 2018, probably the slowest
pace since 1990, may indicate downward pressure on economic
growth. While the steel industry seems to have benefitted from
the supply-side structural reform and unexpected increase in real
estate investments, complicated factors such as international
trade tension decelerated growth in the domestic economy in
the latter part of 2018;

° Following the pledge to adhere to the implementation of
nationwide supply-side structural reform and to cut excessive
steel capacity in 2018 at the 19™ National Congress of the
Communist Party of China, the National Development and
Reform Commission of the PRC (the “NDRC”) announced
promising results in tackling the problem of excessive steel
capacity and improved industry practice. By 2018, China has
met the maximum target of removing 150 Mt of excessive
capacity in 5 years as set out in the 2016 “Opinions on
Resolving Overcapacity in the Steel Industry to Revive
Development”*;

° However, the NDRC also admitted that illegal production of
substandard steel remained to be an obstacle. The removal of
substandard steel production was largely completed in 2017
with over 500 enterprises and 140.0 Mt of substandard steel
eliminated. Yet revival of enterprises producing substandard
steel was spotted in 2018. In view of this situation,
representatives from the NDRC, the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology of the PRC and the State Administration
for Market Regulation as well as vice secretaries of 20 provinces
held a work meeting in December 2018 to reinforce inspection
of illegal production of substandard steel and delivered the key
instruction to prevent the revival of production of substandard
steel;
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The country also continued to strive for low carbon development
and environmental protection. In December 2018, the China
Metallurgical Industry Planning and Research Institute issued
the “2018 Report on the Energy Saving and Low-Carbon
Development of China’s Steel Industry”* expecting a year-on-
year growth of only 8.9% in energy consumption amidst a 11%
annual growth of steel production in 2018, and the energy
consumption in 2019 was estimated to decrease by 3.4% year-
on-year;

Further to the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC's
consultation paper on the “Ultra-low Emission Renovation Plan
for Steel Enterprises” requiring 480.0 Mt of steel capacity in
China to meet the ultra-low emission standards by 2020, the
Central Environmental Protection Supervision Bureau* intensified
supervision for autumn and winter air pollution in Sichuan in
December 2018. Four rounds of continuous inspections were
conducted in Chengdu Plain, South Sichuan, Northeast Sichuan
as well as Panzhihua, aggregating a total of 18 cities;

As the market outlook turned weak in late 2018, the demand
for steel decreased and the China’s Purchasing Managers Index
("PMI") dropped substantially in November and December 2018.
In the first 10 months of 2018, the China’s PMI maintained an
average level of over 50 for the steel sector, but decreased to
the level of 45 in November and December;

As the market environment of the steel industry continued to
be challenging, fluctuations in iron ore price became apparent.
The China Iron Ore Price Index compiled by the China Iron and
Steel Association fluctuated at the level of 230-250 over the
course of 2018, with the figures surging to 273.65 and 272.14
in February and October, respectively, as the market expected a
hike in steel demand after the Chinese New Year holidays and
the announcement of steady growth policies such as unleashing
liquidity and large-scale tax reduction in October 2018;

The government’s intensifying efforts in solving air pollution and
cleaning up the steel industry through various measures also
caused the demand for high-grade iron ore to surpass that of
low-grade iron ore. In the second half of 2018, the China 62%
TFe Iron Ore Price Index fluctuated at a high level of above 60,
except for a dip to 59 in mid September, while the level of 58%
TFe Iron Ore Price Index remained at 50 except for October and
November 2018. As China implements stricter emission criteria,
the demand for high-grade iron ore is expected to thrive;
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° The international steel market also showed a general trend of
fallback in 2018 amidst international trade frictions. According
to the General Administration of Customs of the PRC,
steel exports amounted to 69.34 Mt as of December 2018,
decreasing by 8.1% year-on-year; and

o For the titanium industry, the price of titanium concentrates
(with over 46% titanium contents) in the Panzhihua region
fluctuated throughout the year. Following the Chinese New
Year holidays and resulting from short market supply, the price
reached a level of RMB1,380 per tonne in the first four months
of 2018, which then decreased to RMB1,060 per tonne in June
due to the environmental protection measures implemented
on downstream titanium dioxide producers and decreased
market demand. The price then rose back to a stable level of
RMB1,150-1,180 per tonne in November and December 2018,
with the market outlook remaining cautious as local regulations
stayed strict and market demand continued to be stagnant.

BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS REVIEW

Market and Strategy Overview

During the Reporting Period, the Group observed an obvious trend that
there had been a shift in demand from lower-grade iron concentrates
(below 62% TFe) to higher-grade iron concentrates (above 62% TFe)
arising mainly from those stringent requirements imposed by the
Chinese government given environmental protection and emission
control for sustainable mining practices. The changing trend has
fragmented the markets seeing increasingly higher demand and
significant price premium for high-grade iron concentrates, contrasting
a fall in both demand and prices for low-grade iron concentrates. It
is highly likely that these market trends will continue if the existing
government policies remain unchanged.

The shift in demand from low-grade iron concentrates further burdened
the Group and there is no commercial justification to reactivate or
resume production for those inactive mines. To facilitate resource
allocation and operational management, the Group has segregated its
operations into (i) High Fe Mines and (ii) Low Fe and Inactive Mines.
The Group conducted strategic reviews on these operations as well.
Subsequent to the financial year end, the Group announced the
proposed Disposal of the Low Fe and Inactive Mines (or the Disposal
Group).

The proposed Disposal allows the Group to focus expanding on capacity
and improving efficiencies for the operations of its high-grade iron
concentrates mainly in the northern region of Sichuan. Given the
decision to sell, the Disposal Group was classified as held for sale as at
31 December 2018 and the operating results of which was recorded
under a discontinued operation for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financially,

(i) the Disposal Group recorded net loss after tax as a result of (i)
significantly lower selling prices (which fell by 9.3% on average
as compared to FY2017) of the low-grade iron concentrates
due to falling demand and aggressive de-stocking; and (ii)
impairment losses due to lower value in use given the fall in
selling price and lower-than-expected utilisation rates and the
inactive status of the existing suspended mines which the Group
has no commercial grounds to expand or resume production for
the Low Fe and Inactive Mines; and contrarily

(i) the Remaining Group recorded significantly higher gross profit
margin and positive operating cash flows as a result of higher
demand, higher selling prices and focused strategies to improve
efficiencies for production of high-grade iron concentrates for
the High Fe Mines.

The Group noted that the current market conditions remain highly
volatile despite improving demand and prices for the high-grade iron
concentrates. The Group will continue to monitor closely and observe
potential changes, if any, which may have a material impact on the
Group's existing strategies.

Operation and Financial Overview

During the Reporting Period, the Group reported lower revenue, which
fell by 13.3% to approximately RMB1,142.0 million for FY2018. The fall
in the Group's revenue for trading outpaced the rest of the business
segments resulting in a fall in total revenue for the Group for FY2018.
Specifically,

o average selling price for low-grade iron concentrates (within
the southern region of Sichuan and Panxi Region in particular)
fell sharply by approximately 9.3% on average due to falling
demand for cheap low-grade iron ore under China’s anti-smog
policies;

o average selling price for high-grade iron concentrates rose by
approximately 6.9% — given the Group's focused strategies in
improving efficiencies for its High Fe Mines, the mine operations
located mainly in the northern region of Sichuan had been
able to constantly produce high-grade iron concentrates with
an average range of 65% TFe (with an encouraging but small
volume of 72% TFe during FY2018); and
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° smaller quantum of trading activities given the Group's
business direction to progressively reduce its exposure in this
segment which required higher working capital requirements
— total purchase and sales volumes of trading activities were
approximately 307.7 Kt and 320.1 Kt, respectively, representing
a fall of 40.8% and 46.2%, respectively, as compared to
FY2017.

The production and sales volumes for FY2018 were as follows:

° low-grade iron concentrates were approximately 1,111.4 Kt and
1,119.7 Kt, respectively;

o high-grade iron concentrates were approximately 105.2 Kt and
105.2 Kt, respectively; and

° titanium concentrates were approximately 88.2 Kt and 93.7 Kt,
respectively.

The Group also recorded lower gross profit of approximately RMB125.9
million and gross profit margin of approximately 11.0% for FY2018
as compared to FY2017. Administrative expenses rose by 75.0% to
RMB118.2 million due mainly to one-off retrenchment and redundancy
compensation as a result of the Group's strategies to reduce production
capacity for its Low Fe Mines.

As a result and given the above, the Group recorded higher Net Loss
for FY2018 compared to FY2017, despite positive cash flows generated
from the Remaining Group. Excluding impairment losses and write-
down of inventories to net realisable value mainly attributable to the
Disposal Group, the Group would have recorded a significantly lower
Net Loss for FY2018. Details of financial performance of the Remaining
Group are set out on page 22 of this annual report.
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Overview of Mines

Please refer to below tables for the status of the Group’s mine
operations for (i) the Low Fe and Inactive Mines which are owned and
operated under the Disposal Group and (ii) the High Fe Mines which are

owned and operated under the Remaining Group.

Discontinued Operations — Low Fe and Inactive Mines

ERIEBEXE - BERNURTEEES

Mine

&5
Baicao Mine

HEEHRE

Xiushuihe Mine (including
expansion)

FKAEE (B
BRE)

Yangqueqing Mine
GeEEE
Cizhuging Mine
KA E B
Haibaodang Mine
ORI B %

Continuing Operations - High Fe Mines and Gypsum Mine

Processing Plant

Pigd
Baicao Processing Plant
AEXER

Heigutian Processing Plant
EAMEER

Xiushuihe Processing Plant
A E R

Hailong Processing Plant
BREER

Iron Pelletising Plant
B[ % R

N/A
A
N/A
i
N/A

TER

HECEXK - S8R KRERAEE

Mine

®5
Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine
FE-FELERE

Shigou Gypsum Mine

RERERE

Processing Plant

TER
Maoling Processing Plant
FEREEER

N/A

TEA

Management Discussion and Analysis

EEEN W R

REHE

ARASEATES: ()hHEEBEL REE
B S8 AT R TR RIS R (i) (R B R A R
EENBARURSNEFEIERT  FL2HT
Ko

Status as at 31 December 2018
R2018F12A31A MR R

Producing vanadium-bearing iron concentrates of low Fe contents
(within the range of 53% TFe to 55% TFe)
HEFEEEMNTINERME (Tre5 £/ F53%E55% )

Suspended since 2015 and has no intention to resume production
B2015F EEFEE BREREE

Producing vanadium-bearing iron concentrates of low Fe contents
(within the range of 53% TFe to 55% TFe)
KEFBEERNBNEBE (Tre5 27 F53%ZE55% )

Producing vanadium-bearing iron concentrates of low Fe contents
(within the range of 53% TFe to 55% TFe)
HEFeEERNBNEABE (TreZE) F53%E55% )

Suspended since 2013 and has no intention to resume production
B203F EEFER REEERE

Inactive; vanadium-bearing titano-magnetite of low Fe contents
(average grade of 25.06% TFe)
NER FeR BEMINIKW BT (F1903(1/525.06% Tre)

Inactive; vanadium-bearing titano-magnetite of low Fe contents
(average grade of 21.40% TFe)
TR Fem BEMINKUETRE (FHRIL321.40% Tre)

Inactive; vanadium-bearing titano-magnetite of low Fe contents
(average grade of 16.54% TFe)
TRE: FeR BEMPKILETE (FH00/516.54% Tre)

Status as at 31 December 2018
R2018F 12318 RN

Producing iron concentrates of high Fe contents
(within the range of 65% TFe to 72% TFe)
HEFRERNERE (T2 87 F65%Z72%)

Conducted feasibility studies and started trial production in
small quantities; to observe and monitor consistency of trial
production results, and consider whether they are satisfactory

BETUTERR AR EHE BRRERAEAR —BL
TEBRERERTAME
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The following table summarises the transacted volumes for (i) trading
sales and (ii) sale of self-produced products of the Group:

(i) Trading Sales

Steels
Coals

(ii) Sale of Self-produced Products

20

(a) Discontinued Operations

Low-grade iron concentrates

Xiushuihe Processing Plant

Hailong Processing Plant
Baicao Processing Plant

Total production volume

Titanium concentrates

Baicao Processing Plant
Xiushuihe Processing Plant

(b) Continuing Operations

High-grade iron concentrates

Maoling Processing Plant

() EEHE
i)
B

(i) HEREE®R
(a) ERLEEXY

B8 B
FIRA IR

BELER
BERER

BEE

TR
BELER
FI S

(b) FEEEEY

B R

EELER

WEE:

Purchase from

independent third parties

MBEYE=SBE
FY2018  FY2017  Change
2018 2017
MBEE HRFE #
(Kt) (Kt) %
(W)  (Tm) %
59.6 87.2 (31.7
248.1 4325 (42.6
307.7 519.7 (40.8)

Production volume (Dry basis)

EE(%E)

FY2018 FY2017 Change

2018 2017

RBEE MEEE 2

(Kt) (Kt) %
(FH) (Fm) %
528.6 499.6 5.8
290.6 277.7 4.6
292.2 296.1 (1.3)
582.8 573.8 1.6
1,111.4 1,073.4 35
68.8 438.5 41.9
- N/A
19.4 T A
88.2 43.5 81.9
105.2 102.0 3.1
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TRBAXREEONESHE: MMiHEBEEM®

Sale to
an independent third party
HBYE=FHE

FY2018  FY2017  Change

2018 2017
BHEE HHFE 23
(Kt) (K1) %
(Fmg) (FmE) %
66.0 110.7 (40.4)
254.1 484.7 (47.6)
320.1 595.4 (46.2)

Sales volume (Dry basis)

e (H])
FY2018 FY2017 Change

2018 2017
BREE HHFE gk
(Kt) (Kt) %
(TH) (Fm) %
482.7 452.2 6.7
637.0 552.7 15.3
637.0 552.7 15.3
1,119.7 1,004.9 11.4
75.4 47.8 57.7
- N/A
18.3 TER
93.7 47.8 96.0
105.2 93.1 13.0




Management Discussion and Analysis

Risk and Uncertainties

It is widely known that many banks and financial institutions in China
have tightened their lending policies and adopted more prudent
measures in approving and renewing loans for local enterprises
in China. The Group's business falls under the categories that are
perceived to be unfavourable or higher-risk industries as a result
of massive overcapacity over the last few years and environmental
compliance issues. Such bank loans and banking facilities, if any, are
likely to remain callable on demand, subject to more regular short-
term reviews and may be offered in a stringently controlled manner
with a much higher cost of capital. The Group was well aware of the
difficulties and uncertainties in obtaining long-term banking facilities
with potentially higher finance costs. The management has made
concerted efforts in communicating with the Group’s banks and
financial institutions in China and will continue to take a proactive
approach in doing so.

During the year, the Group initiated discussions on repayment terms
with the customers and monitored their repayment schedules, resulting
in collection of certain outstanding balances. As such, the Group made
a reversal of impairment losses on trade receivables of approximately
RMB13.4 million during the year. As the market remains volatile, the
Group will continue to take necessary actions to recover those long
outstanding receivables in part or in full.

Pursuant to the announcement dated 29 January 2019, the completion
of the proposed Disposal is subject to, among other things, the passing
of the requisite resolutions by the independent Shareholders at an
extraordinary general meeting of the Company for approving the SPA
and the transactions contemplated thereby. For details, please refer to
the announcement made by the Company on 29 January 2019.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Note: Pursuant to the announcement on 29 January 2019, the
Company has entered into the SPA with a connected person on the
same date in respect of the Disposal. The Group has decided to dispose
of the Disposal Group because it plans to focus its resources on its
high-grade iron concentrates products mainly in the northern region
of Sichuan. The Disposal is due to be completed by the end of the first
half of 2019. As at 31 December 2018, final negotiations for the sale
were in progress and the Disposal Group was classified as held for sale
and as a discontinued operation.
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. Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR D

FY2018 FY2017
2018 2017 Change
B EE WHEE 28
RMB’000 RMB'000 %
AR®T T ARBFIT %
(Re-presented)
(&&E5)
REMAINING GROUP REEE
Revenue W A# 692,863 877,183 (21.0)
Cost of sales HHE XA (634,210) (861,611) (26.4)
Gross profit EF 58,653 15,572 276.7
Other income and gains H U A Rz 602 1,353 (55.5)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHERAX (11,284) (15,123) (25.4)
Administrative expenses TR X (34,746) (15,931) 118.1
Other expenses H (2,256) (8,123) (72.2)
Reversal/(provision) of BB B (BE)
impairment losses, net FER 7,335 (79,930) (109.2)
Fair value losses on financial assets at A F{EE B EE
fair value through profit or loss FFAEHIERERN
TREENRFEEE - (109,617) (100.0)
Finance costs B 78 B AR (8.343) (5,282) 58.0
Share of losses of an associate Ly — R & A REE - (9,458) (100.0)
Operating profit/(loss) before tax REEENFATEE
from the Remaining Group @, (EER) 9,961 (226,539) (104.4)
Income tax credit FrigfiEe 2,808 4,076 (31.1)
Operating profit/(loss) after tax REEENHREEE
from the Remaining Group @, (E#E) 12,769 (222,463) (105.7)
DISPOSAL GROUP HESE
Loss for the year from HESEEMNTFRNEE"
the Disposal Group* (462,020) (167,158) 176.4
Loss for the year FREER (449,251) (389,621) 15.3
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: BERN:
Owners of the Company ZAN/NEIE7 RSN (443,969) (349,490) 27.0
Minority Interests DHIRRE R (5,282) (40,131) (86.8)
(449,251) (389,621) 15.3
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: BER:
Owners of the Remaining Group REEEHEEB A 16,527 (185,817) (108.9)
Minority Interests LEBRRE = (3,758) (36,646) (89.7)
12,769 (222,463) (105.7)
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: BEBR:
Owners of the Disposal Group PEEERERA (460,496) (163,673) 181.4
Minority Interests DR RS (1,524) (3,485) (56.3)
(462,020) (167,158) 176.4
# Presented at gross of intra-group transactions as if the Disposal had # REBNATIBRZNEERZS HUOHES
taken place on 31 December 2018. THEMR2018F 128318 E -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Revenue

Revenue fell to RMB692.9 million for FY2018 (FY2017: RMB877.2
million) as a result of lower trading volume. These were partially offset
mainly by (i) the increase in sales of high-grade iron concentrates; and
(ii) maiden consolidation of revenue from mining services business for
FY2018.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales primarily comprised contracting fees for mining and
stripping as well as materials, labour, power and other utilities, repair
and maintenance, depreciation and amortisation, and purchase cost
for trading. Cost of sales fell to RMB634.2 million for FY2018 (FY2017:
RMB861.6 million), due primarily to lower purchases for trading
purpose.

Gross Profit and Margin

Gross profit and related margin increased to approximately RMB58.7
million (FY2017: RMB15.6 million) and to approximately 8.5% (FY2017:
1.8%) for FY2018, respectively. Both gross profit and gross profit
margin increased on the back of higher selling price for high-grade iron
concentrates and gross profit contributed by mining services business.

Other Income and Gains
Other income and gains remained relatively stable at approximately
RMBO0.6 million (FY2017: RMB1.4 million).

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses decreased to RMB11.3 million
for FY2018 (FY2017: RMB15.1 million) as a result of reduction of
transportation fees per tonnage. The selling and distribution expenses
primarily comprised transportation fees, logistic costs, storage and
other administrative fees.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses increased to RMB34.7 million for FY2018
(FY2017: RMB15.9 million) due mainly to maiden consolidation of
expenses of RMB22.4 million relating to mining services business;
and the increases were more than the cost savings arising from the
operational streamlining during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR D

Other Expenses

Other expenses decreased to RMB2.3 million for FY2018 (FY2017:
RMB8.1 million) due mainly to the cost recognition of raw materials
from non-core business in 2017.

Reversal/(Provision) of Impairment Losses, Net

As a result of trade receivables amounting to RMB9.9 million which had
previously been impaired were recovered during the year and no further
significant impairment exposure was found on the respective assets,
the Remaining Group recorded a credit of RMB7.3 million for FY2018
(FY2017: loss of RMB79.9 million).

Fair Value Losses on Financial Assets at Fair Value
Through Profit or Loss

There was no fair value loss on financial assets for FY2018 (FY2017:
RMB109.6 million for the Exchangeable Notes).

Finance Costs

Finance costs increased to RMB8.3 million for FY2018 (FY2017: RMB5.3
million) as a result of maiden consolidation of finance costs from mining
services business for FY2018 amounting to RMB2.0 million.

Share of Losses of an Associate

There was no share of loss of an associate for FY2018 (FY2017:
RMB9.5 million related to the share of equity loss of the mining services
business).

Income Tax Credit

Income tax credit of RMB2.8 million for FY2018 (FY2017: RMB4.1
million), as a result of recognition of deferred tax assets arising from re-
assessment of future taxable profits.

Loss Attributable to Owners

Given the above, the Remaining Group recorded a Net Profit of
RMB16.5 million for FY2018 (FY2017: Net Loss of RMB185.8 million)
while the Disposal Group recorded a Net Loss of RMB460.5 million for
FY2018 (FY2017: Net Loss of RMB163.7 million).

Given the full year contribution of the Remaining Group’s results was
offset by the Net Loss incurred by the Disposal Group, Net Loss for
FY2018 rose from RMB349.5 million to RMB444.0 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE W R D

Final Dividend RAHERE

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for EEEUIAERRMN2018MBFEENRBKE
FY2018 (FY2017: Nil). (QRQU7HBFE - #&) -

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES REMERERER

The following table sets out certain information regarding the Group's TRV EBEAREEEHZE20184F K2017F12 A
consolidated statement of cash flows for the years ended 31 December BMBLEFENGERERERNEG TER:
2018 and 2017:

FY2018 FY2017
201881 N E 2017 RE S
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBT T AR®ETT ARETT

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in FORGEHRERER

the consolidated statement of cash ﬁ'Jgﬁﬁiﬁi&

flows at beginning of the year RESEY 13,286 19,740
Net cash flows generated from KREEBEEN

operating activities BeneFeE 208,217 66,955
Net cash flows used in REDBHRAN

investing activities RemeFR (138,594) (92,403)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEEBES (FH)

financing activities MR REFE (52,770) 19,221
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and RekBAEEEY

cash equivalents #gin/ CRd)FE 16,853 (6,227)
Effect of foreign exchange rate [ExEEFEFE

changes, net 3,632 (227)

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in FARGABESRER

the consolidated statement of cash SRR & R

flows at end of the year ReSEY 33,771 13,286
Net Cash Flows Generated From Operating RETHELENREREFE
Activities
The Group's net operating cash flows position improved during FY2018, HEBEeEHRngefE (S IBeME])
generating approximately RMB208.2 million for FY2018 (FY2017: ARBE7I2EEITL Q017 B FE : ARKE41.4
RMB67.0 million) after accounting for operating profit before working BEL) ZEESKREFBARKIZSCEET
capital changes (or “Cash Profit”) of RMB73.2 million (FY2017: Q0178 BRFE: ARM81.068&ET) - B WFIE

RMB41.4 million), net working capital investments of RMB135.8 HEE AR50,0007T (20178 BFE : B AR E

million (FY2017: RMB81.0 million), net interest received of RMB50,000 FEAREKSS0EE L) REHMEHRARK0.S

(FY2017: RMB55.0 million net interest payment) and income tax EF%TE(ZOWWEAZ¢V AR®04BETT) AR

payments of RMB0.8 million (FY2017: RMBO0.4 million). % REENCER RS FEMAR20188 K
FREBRNE 2018 BEEELARIFHENHA
R#208.288 T 017 BFE - ARK67.08
BT °
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR D

Net Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities
The Group's net cash flows used in investing activities was RMB138.6
million for FY2018 (FY2017: RMB92.4 million), due primarily to the
investment in and upgrade of plant and equipment of approximately
RMB137.3 million (FY2017: RMB71.7 million) for production.

Net Cash Flows From/(Used in) Financing Activities

The Group’s net cash flows used in financing activities was RMB52.8
million for FY2018 (FY2017: net cash flows from financing activities
was RMB19.2 million), due primarily to repayment of bank loans and
interest expenses during the year.

FINANCIAL POSITION

Note: Significant changes in financial position during the financial year
under review were mainly attributed to the classification of the Disposal
Group's financial position to assets and liabilities held for sale as at 31
December 2018. Details of Discontinued Operations as at 31 December
2018 are set out in note 10 to the financial statements of this annual
report.

Analysis of Inventories

The Remaining Group's inventories fell to RMB23.6 million as at 31
December 2018 (FY2017: RMB82.7 million), due mainly to lower
purchases for trading purpose.

Analysis of Trade and Bills Receivables
The Remaining Group's trade and bills receivables fell to RMB105.2
million as at 31 December 2018 (FY2017: RMB289.1 million) on the
back of lower revenues. Trade receivables turnover days for FY2018
remained relatively stable at 68 days (FY2017: 67 days).

Assets Classified as Held for Sale

The assets classified as held for sale were RMB41.2 million as at 31
December 2018 (FY2017: RMB42.1 million) arising from held for sale
equipment for mining services business.

Assets and Liabilities of a Disposal Group
Classified as Held For Sale

This related to the assets and liabilites of the Disposal Group
(Discontinued Operations) given the proposed Disposal of 100% stake
in Huili Caitong.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Analysis of Trade and Bills Payables

The Remaining Group's trade and bills payables remained relatively
stable at RMB54.2 million as at 31 December 2018 (FY2017: RMB51.3
million).

Analysis of Net Current Liabilities Position

The Group’s net current liabilities position decreased to RMB10.2
million as at 31 December 2018 (FY2017: RMB407.5 million). The
current ratio improved close to 1.0 as at 31 December 2018 (FY2017:
0.7) as a result of the classification of the Disposal Group as held for
sale.

Borrowings

Total borrowings of the Remaining Group increased slightly to
RMB100.8 million as at 31 December 2018 (FY2017: RMB94.2 million)
due mainly to the reclassification of certain payables amount during
the year. As at 31 December 2018, except for the hire purchase
arrangements and other loans which were denominated in AUD, all
bank loans were denominated in RMB. Details of borrowings of the
Group are set out in note 28 to financial statements of this annual
report.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

Pledge of Assets
The Group's pledge of assets as at 31 December 2018 mainly consisted
of:

(i) a one-year interest-bearing bank loan of RMB120.0 million
granted by Shanghai Pudong Development Bank (“SPDB")
Chengdu Branch to Xiushuihe Mining. In accordance with the
bank loan agreements entered into between Xiushuihe Mining
and the lender, the mining right of Xiushuihe Mine and 95%
equity interest of Xiushuihe Mining were pledged to the SPDB;

(i) interest-bearing bank loans of RMB310.4 million granted by
China Construction Bank Huili Branch to Huili Caitong, which
was secured by the mining right of Baicao Mine; and

(iii) one-year interest-bearing bank loans of RMB84.0 million
granted by SPDB Chengdu Branch to Aba Mining, which was
secured by the mining right of Maoling Mine.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Foreign Currency Risk

The Group’s foreign currency exposures arose primarily from the
exchange rate movement of foreign currencies, namely Hong Kong
dollars, US dollars, Australian dollars, Singapore dollars and Vietnamese
dong, against the Renminbi. Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Australian
dollars, Singapore dollars and Vietnamese dong are the functional
currencies of respective entities within the Group.

The Renminbi is not freely convertible. There is a risk that the Chinese
government may take actions affecting exchange rates which may have
a material adverse effect on the Group's net assets, earnings and any
dividends it declares if such dividend is to be exchanged or converted
into foreign currencies. The Group has not entered into any hedging
transactions to manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies.
The management monitors the Group's foreign currency exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure when the
needs arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 5.0% change
in RMB against HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND, respectively. The
5.0% is the rate used when reporting currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in the foreign currency rate. The
sensitivity analyses of the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk
at the end of each reporting period have been determined based on
the adjustment of translation of the monetary assets and liabilities at
the end of each reporting period for a 5.0% change in RMB against
HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND, respectively, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax for the year ended 31
December 2018 (due to changes in the fair value of cash and cash
equivalents and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
denominated in HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND):

Increase/(decrease) in loss before tax:

If RMB strengthens against HKD, USD,
AUD, SGD and VND

If RMB weakens against HKD, USD,
AUD, SGD and VND
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Interest Rate Risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are not substantially
affected by the changes in market interest rates. The Group has no
significant interest-bearing assets, except for cash and cash equivalents.
The Group manages its interest rate exposure arising from all of its
interest-bearing loans through the use of fixed rates. In addition, the
Group has not used any interest rate swaps to hedge against interest
rate risk.

Contractual Obligations
The Group had no contractual obligations as at 31 December 2018 and
31 December 2017.

Capital Expenditure

The Group's total capital expenditure decreased by RMB11.5 million
to RMB102.6 million for FY2018 (FY2017: RMB68.3 million, excluding
capital expenditure through the acquisition of a subsidiary). The capital
expenditure comprised mainly (i) additions in machinery and building
aggregated to RMB80.1 million for the technical improvement with a
view to potentially increase the grade of low-grade iron concentrates;
and (i) additions in mining infrastructure aggregated to RMB20.4
million for Aba Mining.

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is a measure of financial leverage, which is calculated by
net debt divided by “total equity plus net debt”. Net debt is defined as
interest-bearing bank and other loans, net of cash and cash equivalents
and it excludes liabilities incurred for working capital purpose. Equity
includes equity attributable to owners of the Company and non-
controlling interests. As at 31 December 2018, gearing ratio improved
to 7.0% (FY2017: 39.9%) following the liabilities of the Disposal Group
was classified as held for sale.
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RESOURCE AND RESERVE OF MINES UNDER
THE JORC CODE (2012 EDITION) AS AT
31 DECEMBER 2018

Resource and Reserve Summary of the Baicao
Mine and the Xiushuihe Mine (including
expansion)

(a)

30

JORC Mineral Resource

Properties Category Tonnage TFe
L/ES =¥l 14 TFe
(Mt) (%)
(BEM®) (%)
Baicao Mine Measured (M) 16.09 23.37
REER R
Indicated (I) 21.76 23.42
PR
M+l 37.85 23.40
R +128)
Inferred 9.51 23.00
g
Total 47.36 23.32
@t
Xiushuihe Mine Measured (M) 40.21 24.66
(including expansion) 8
FRTER Indicated (1) 23.09 23.51
(BEBRLE) 4l
M+l 63.30 24.24
R+ 24
Inferred - -
3]
Total 63.30 24.24
@t
Notes:

The material assumptions and technical parameters, except for
re-interpretation of geology, set out in the technical report of
the Behre Dolbear Asia, Inc. as shown in the prospectus of the
Company dated 24 September 2009 with respect to the Baicao
Mine and the Xiushuihe Mine (including expansion) continue to
apply.

The mineral resources of the Baicao Mine and the Xiushuihe
Mine (including expansion) as at 31 December 2018 were
estimated by BAW Mineral Partners Limited by depleting the
mineral resources consumed throughout 2018 for the Baicao
Mine and Xiushuihe Mine (including expansion).

The last digit of the figures in the table may not add up correctly
because of rounding.

BEeTRHEZESFRA (2012F
i) T &S R2018F12A31H
MEREREE

HEHBEREOTEHR (BEERE
wE)NERERRESE

(a)

Grade

i
TiO:
Tio2

(%)
(%)
10.73
10.02
10.32

10.98

10.45
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V205
V205
(%)
(%)

9,917

5,429

15,346

15,346

BEURREZEEERELERES

Contained Metal

E2sE
TiO2
TiO2
(Kt)
(F1)
1,726
2,180
3,906

1,044

4,950

3,630
1,854

5,484

5,484

V205
V20s
(Kt)
Fug)

32

45

78

22

100

89

44

133

133

A2 T A E A2009F9 8240 M 1R R
EERMREEZEBOMNBRARR
M3k E AR e EEERF KSR
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(b)  JORC Ore Reserve (b) BAETRFEZSSEAFESEF
Grade Contained Metal
[ Ia Ee2tR
Properties Category Tonnage TFe TiO2 V205 TFe TiO2 V20s
L/ L] T 8 TFe TiO: V205 TFe TiO:2 V205
(v (%) (%) (% (k) 9 (9
(BEM) (%) (%) (%) (i) (FH) (Fm8)
Baicao Mine Proved 2.27 20.76 10.70 0.23 472 243 5
REHR EE
Probable 6.86 20.98 10.32 0.22 1,440 708 15
e
Total 9.13 20.93 10.41 0.22 1,91 951 21
@t
Xiushuihe Mine Proved 28.10 24.19 9.32 0.22 6,797 2,618 62
(including expansion) EE
FAKTER Probable 17.54 23.98 8.61 0.20 4,205 1,509 35
(BRRERLE) R
Total 45.64 24.11 9.04 0.21 11,002 4,127 97
@it
Notes: B 5
1. The material assumptions and technical parameters, except for 1. KA 7] B B A2009F9 F24H 09 8 1%
re-interpretation of geology, set out in the technical report of ERMAEEZEBDMAERAFRK
the Behre Dolbear Asia, Inc. as shown in the prospectus of the flTsk & B E B SR F KT EE
Company dated 24 September 2009 with respect to the Baicao (BREERME)HAMERIZEZMNS
Mine and the Xiushuihe Mine (including expansion) continue to HWEEHRERINEEER -
apply.
2. The ore reserves of the Baicao Mine and the Xiushuihe Mine 2. HE &R FKOTEE (R EER M
(including expansion) as at 31 December 2018 were estimated %) A2018F12A3MBN B A E R
by BAW Mineral Partners Limited by depleting the ore reserves BEWEARDFFEBME2018F 5
consumed throughout 2018 for the Baicao Mine and Xiushuihe HE &R FKOTEE(RIEER M
Mine (including expansion). @) FTiEEaEEAaT-
3. The last digit of the figures in the table may not add up correctly 3. ERMAIINEIE & — EEAL M
because of rounding. BRAFAE  FUAENEE R NI -
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Resource Summary of the Maoling-Yanglongshan
Mine
(c) JORC Mineral Resource

Property Category
L/ES 2Rl

Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine Measured (M)
ER-FELER e
Indicated (1)
e
M+l
REA+ 12
Inferred
i
Total
st

Notes:

1. The material assumptions and technical parameters set out in the
technical report of the Behre Dolbear Asia, Inc. as shown in the
Company's supplemental announcement dated 13 February 2015 with
respect to the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine continue to apply.

2. The mineral resources of the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine as at 31
December 2018 were estimated by BAW Mineral Partners Limited by
depleting the mineral resources consumed throughout 2018 for the
Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine.

3. The last digit of the figures in the table may not add up correctly because
of rounding.

FE-FELEBNERERSE

(c)

Tonnage

W &
(Mt)
(B&n)

8.84

8.84

47.24

56.08

BEuRmEZEEERELERES

Grade Contained Metal

miL BB
TFe TFe
TFe TFe
(%) (K1)
(%) (Fm)
22.24 1,966
22.24 1,966
22.86 10,799
22.76 12,765

AARHEA2015F2 A 13HMHAERE TR
BEZEBOMNERARRMKETFERBE
E-FELEBNEISEIAREMSSESERE
}Eﬁ °

FELE—FREILEENR2018F12831BNBEE
FEHESRESRARBEBAE2018F 1T
E-FRILEBEBESRS M-
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Resource Summary of the Haibaodang Mine

BAW Mineral Partners Limited conducted a site visit and established a
resource model for the Haibaodang Mine in August 2018. Considering
the low grades of TFe and TiO2 content, the expected significant capital
investment (given the relatively remote infrastructures) and the expired
exploration license, which is pending regulatory review of the renewal
application, BAW anticipated that an absence of reasonable prospects
for an eventual economic extraction is very likely and therefore,
classified the mineral resource estimates for the Haibaodang Mine as
an Exploration Result in accordance with the JORC Code (2012 Edition).
The Exploration Results of the Haibaodang Mine contain 105.60 Mt of
mineralised material at 16.54% TFe and 7.43% TiO2 with contained
metal of 17,374 Kt of TFe and 7,807 Kt of TiO-.

Resource Summary of the Yangqueqing Mine
(including expansion) and the Cizhuqing Mine

The mineral resources of the Yangqueqing Mine (including expansion)
and the Cizhuging Mine under the JORC Code (2004 Edition) have not
been changed since the disclosure in our 2011 interim report.

The material assumptions and technical parameters set out in the
Company's supplemental announcement dated 13 February 2015 in
preparing the resource estimation with respect to the Yangqueging
Mine (including expansion) and the Cizhuging Mine have not been
materially changed and continue to apply.

RESOURCE OF MINES UNDER THE
CLASSIFICATION FOR RESOURCES/RESERVES
OF SOLID FUELS AND MINERAL COMMODITIES
(GB/T 17766-1999) AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

Resource Summary of the Shigou Gypsum Mine
The mineral resources of the Shigou Gypsum Mine under the
Classification for Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral
Commodities (GB/T 17766-1999) have not been changed since the
disclosure in our 2014 annual report. The assumption of the resources
of the Shigou Gypsum Mine is 82.51% “gypsum + anhydrite” cut-off
grade and 1 metre minimum in width.

EEEN W R

BREEENERENE
EEREARATDN2018FE8A A FRNEE
EITEMERWHIEERER - ZEEERATFe
ETiO g2 FEHMFRERNERRE (EREY
REMERER) CIHORTIEEHFES
EMBEHRE  EEERARKRCERIRR 52
CEERS MEBSRNEENEEERSMAT
RREATRFEEZEERA (2012F ) 91
RMRER BRNBEENHIRERSE105.60
BEWREY EF16.54%BTFe 7.43% 5
TiO: ZBE 4B A17,374T WETFe X 7,807 T IE
TiOz °

GEEFGR (BRRRHEE) RRTE
HENERESE
REBATREREBSRA (20045 1K) - B
EHE (REERILE) RN E HWOWE S
JRE 920114 o HA %R 5 BT B 8 A R AR 2k o
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EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENT POLICIES

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a total of 998 dedicated
full time employees (31 December 2017: 1,434 employees), including
18 management staff members, 49 technical staff members, 104
administrative and sales & marketing staff members, and 827
operational staff members. For the year, the employee benefit expenses
(including Directors’ remuneration in the form of fees, salaries and
other allowances) were approximately RMB103.2 million (FY2017:
RMB74.3 million).

The emolument policies of the Group are based on performance,
experience, competence and market comparable. Remuneration
packages generally comprise salary, housing allowance, contribution to
pension schemes and discretionary bonus relating to the performance
of the Group. The Group has also adopted share option schemes
for its employees, providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants with reference to their contributions. For details, please
refer to the section headed "Directors’ Report” in this annual report.
Proper training programmes were implemented in order to promote
employees' career development and progression within the Group.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

On 29 January 2019, Sichuan Lingyu, which is an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a conditional sales
and purchase agreement with Chengyu Vanadium Titano to dispose of
100% equity interest in Huili Caitong to Chengyu Vanadium Titano. The
consideration for the sale interest shall be RMB550.0 million, which is
to be settled by offsetting certain intra-group debts of up to RMB465.0
million with the remaining RMB85.0 million to be paid in cash. In
addition, Chengyu Vanadium Titano will, upon completion, procure
the release of the Company’s guarantees of indebtedness owed by the
Disposal Group to certain banks of up to RMB730.0 million. For details,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 29 January 2019.

BEERMESBEEK

M2018F12A310  NEBE A HFIBHEHIESR
(20174128310 :1,434% B 8) BE18%%E
BAE 49BFIMI 8 1042 1T [ $E B 45 A
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CHAIRMAN AND NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan

Mr. Teh, aged 46, was appointed as the non-executive director of the
Company on 26 July 2017 and subsequently appointed as the chairman
of the Board on 12 October 2017. Mr. Teh is also the chairman of the
nomination committee of the Company.

Mr. Teh, a sophisticated investor, specialises in corporate restructuring,
corporate finance, and merger & acquisition. Mr. Teh is currently a
substantial shareholder, the executive chairman and chief executive
officer ("CEQ") of Citicode Ltd. (listed on the main board of the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX") and
formerly known as Advance SCT Limited) and an advisor to the board
of Koda Ltd (listed on the main board of the SGX). Mr. Teh was the
group CEO and managing director of Sapphire Corporation Limited
(“Sapphire”) (listed on the main board of the SGX) from October 2013
to December 2017. Under his leadership, Sapphire has undergone a
major corporate restructuring exercise and he has transformed Sapphire
by acquiring one of the largest privately-owned urban rail transit
engineering groups in China. He has also led Sapphire to be the first
company listed outside Hong Kong to receive The Listed Enterprise
Excellence Awards 2016 from the Hong Kong-based Capital Weekly.

Mr. Teh served as a non-executive director of Singapore eDevelopment
Limited (listed on the Catalist of the SGX and formerly known
as CCM Group Limited) from June 2013 to August 2016; a non-
executive director of Asian American Medical Group Limited (listed on
the Australian Securities Exchange (the “ASX") and formerly known
as Asian Centre For Liver Diseases & Transplantation Limited) from
January 2011 to January 2016 and a non-executive director of Heng
Fai Enterprises Limited (listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and
currently known as ZH International Holdings Limited) from October
2013 to September 2014.

Some of Mr. Teh's other investment and corporate portfolios included
but are not limited to — In 2002, he advised and completed the
restructuring and initial public offering (the “IPO") exercise of Koda Ltd
(which was subsequently named one of the best 200 companies under
a billion by Forbes Asia in 2006) on the SGX. In 2006, he evaluated
and advised a spinoff plan for the proposed IPO application of a
foreign-controlled enterprise on the Ho Chi Minh Stock Exchange. In
2009, he advised and completed the restructuring and listing exercise
of one of Asia’s foremost liver centres, the Singapore-incorporated
Asian Centre For Liver Diseases & Transplantation Limited via a reverse
takeover of an ASX-listed fashion design house. Mr. Teh has also
previously involved in and advised on other corporate actions including
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business reorganisation, corporate restructuring, proposed divestments,
corporate debts restructuring and cash exit offer for other publicly listed
companies, family-owned enterprises and regional asset owners.

Mr. Teh was nominated for the 2015 and 2016 Asia Pacific
Entrepreneurship Awards (Singapore) under the Industrial and
Commercial Products Industry as well as the 2017 and 2018
Outstanding Leaders in Asia Corporate Excellence & Sustainability
Awards under the Leadership Category. Mr. Teh is a fellow of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (United Kingdom), a
fellow chartered accountant of the Institute of Singapore Chartered
Accountants, an international affiliate of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a chartered accountant of the Malaysian
Institute of Accountants, a full member of the Singapore Institute of
Directors and an ordinary member of the Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping

Mr. Jiang, aged 53, has been an executive director of the Company
since 28 April 2008 and re-designated as the chief executive officer
of the Company since 12 October 2017. Mr. Jiang is also a member
of the nomination committee and the remuneration committee of
the Company. Mr. Jiang joined the Group in March 2008 as a director
of Huili Caitong. Mr. Jiang is a director and the general manager of
Sichuan Lingyu and a director of Huili Caitong, First China Limited,
Simply Rise Holdings Limited and Sure Prime Limited. Sichuan Lingyu,
Huili Caitong, First China Limited, Simply Rise Holdings Limited and
Sure Prime Limited are all wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. Jiang has over 19 years of experience in production and quality
control in the steel industry. Mr. Jiang was a technician, head of quality
control department and the chief manager of the audit department of
Chuanwei from August 1989 to April 2008. Mr. Jiang graduated from
Chongging Steel and Iron College* in Chongging in July 1989 with a
college degree in iron and steel rolling.
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Mr. Hao Xiemin

Mr. Hao, aged 37, has been an executive director and the financial
controller of the Company since 1 January 2018. Mr. Hao has been the
financial manager of the Company since January 2012. Mr. Hao is also
a director/supervisor/financial manager of certain key subsidiaries of the
Company and is responsible for the financial reporting and management
of these subsidiaries. He was the financial controller of Huili Caitong from
January 2012 to February 2016. He has 14 years of experience in financial
management and has also previously participated in the IPO exercise of
the Company, including pre-IPO reorganisation, merger and acquisition,
corporate finance matters and operational reorganisation. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Hao was the financial supervisor of the Panxi Region
of the mining branch of Chuanwei from March 2010 to January 2012, a
financial supervisor in each of the financial management department of
Chuanwei from May 2006 to March 2010 and Sichuan Longwei Metal
Products Co., Ltd.* from July 2004 to April 2006, respectively. Mr. Hao
has professional qualification as an International Certified Management
Accountant. Mr. Hao obtained a bachelor’s degree in accounting from
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in June 2004.

Mr. Wang Hu

Mr. Wang, aged 39, has been an executive director of the Company
since 1 January 2018. Mr. Wang has been the assistant to the then
chairman, Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping and the manager of legal and
compliance department of the Company, and the manager of legal
and compliance department and a director of Huili Caitong since
August 2008. Mr. Wang is also a director and supervisor of certain key
subsidiaries of the Company and is responsible for legal and compliance
matters of these subsidiaries. Mr. Wang has 15 years of experience in
legal and compliance matters. Mr. Wang has previously participated in
the pre-IPO reorganisation and IPO exercise of the Company, including
merger and acquisition. He has been responsible for the legal and
compliance matters of the Group after the listing of the Company.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Wang was the supervisor of legal
department of Chuanwei from September 2003 to August 2008 and
worked as a client relationship manager in Agricultural Bank of China,
Chongging Changshou branch* from August 2002 to September
2003. Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’'s degree in law from Southwest
University of Political Science & Law in July 2002.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yu Haizong

Mr. Yu, aged 54, has been an independent non-executive director of
the Company since 4 September 2009. Mr. Yu is also the chairman of
the audit committee and a member of the nomination committee and
the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. Yu was a chartered
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public accountant in Sichuan Tongde Certified Accountants Firm*
(formerly known as Chengdu Xinda Certified Accountants Firm*) from
1994 to 2000, a member of the expert panels of Land and Resources
Department of Sichuan Province and Science and Technology Department
of Sichuan*. Mr. Yu is a chartered public accountant (non-practicing) in
the PRC, a member of the Chartered Public Accountant Further Education
Committee of Sichuan Association of Chartered Public Accountants*, and
a professor, master and doctoral supervisor of the Accounting Faculty of
Southwestern University of Finance and Economics in Chengdu, Sichuan.
Mr. Yu is also the dean of the Auditing Department at Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics in Chengdu, Sichuan. Mr. Yu worked
in the finance department of Weiyuan Steel Factory* from July 1988 to
August 1990. Mr. Yu served as an independent non-executive director
of Xinan Huaji Company Limited*, a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange from 1998 to 2000 and he served as an independent
non-executive director of Jinyu Checheng Company Limited* (“Jinyu
Checheng”), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, and was
also a member of the audit committee and remuneration committee of
Jinyu Checheng from May 2004 to June 2010. As a member of the audit
committee of Jinyu Checheng, Mr. Yu's duties included reviewing the
internal control system and reviewing and analysing financial statements
of the company. Mr. Yu was an independent non-executive director and
a member of audit committee of Chengdu Tianxing Instruments (Group)
Co., Limited*, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
from June 2012 to June 2015. Mr. Yu was also an independent non-
executive director and a chairman of the audit committee of Royal China
International Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, from 10 February 2017 to 25 September 2018. Currently, Mr.
Yu is an independent non-executive director and a chairman of the audit
committee of Sichuan Expressway Company Limited, a company listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
and an independent non-executive director of Sichuan Jiuzhou Electric
Group Co., Ltd, a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.
Mr. Yu received a bachelor’s degree from Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics in Chengdu, Sichuan in accounting in July 1988,
a master’s degree in economics (accounting) in December 1992 and a
doctoral degree in management (accounting) in March 2002. Through his
professional qualification as a chartered public accountant, his education
background in accounting and his previous experience as an independent
non-executive director of public companies, he meets the criteria for
accounting and related financial management expertise as required by
Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The Directors are of the view that Mr.
Yu's experience in internal controls and reviewing and analysing audited
financial statements of a public company that he gained when he was
serving as a member or chairman of the audit committees of various
public companies enables him to meet the requirements under Rule
3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.
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Profile of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Liu Yi

Mr. Liu, aged 56, has been an independent non-executive director of
the Company since 4 September 2009. Mr. Liu is also the chairman of
the remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee
and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Liu has been
working at Sichuan Metallurgical Design and Research Institute since
July 1987, engaging in project consulting, beneficiation process and
mining design, feasibility study and relevant engineering design work
and specialising in mineral processing engineering. His past experiences
in mining design projects include constructing iron concentrate
production lines of various capacities and mining operations planning
for vanadium-bearing titano-magnetite mines. He is the deputy chief
engineer and the chief project designer of the mining engineering
institute of Sichuan Metallurgical Design and Research Institute.
He is also a Work Safety Expert in Sichuan* appointed by Sichuan
Administration of Work Safety* and Sichuan Administration of Coal
Mine Safety*. Mr. Liu graduated from the faculty of mining resource
engineering of Xi'an Metallurgy and Architecture College*, now known
as Xi‘an University of Architecture and Technology, in Shaanxi and
received a bachelor’s degree in engineering in 1987.

Mr. Wu Wen

Mr. Wu, aged 50, has been an independent non-executive director of
the Company since 1 November 2014. Mr. Wu is also a member of the
audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company. Mr.
Wu is a qualified lawyer in the PRC. Mr. Wu graduated from Peking
University School of Law in 1990. Mr. Wu obtained a Juris Doctor
degree from Northwestern School of Law of Lewis and Clark College
in 1998. Mr. Wu worked as an associate of Sichuan Canway Law Firm
from August 1998 to May 2002 and later became a partner from
February 2003 to December 2008. Mr. Wu also worked as legal counsel
in Kodak (China) Company Limited from May 2002 to December
2002. Mr. Wu practised law as a partner of Tahota Law Firm from
February 2009 to February 2014. Since March 2014, Mr. Wu has been a
partner of Zhonglun Law Firm. Mr. Wu is a member of the Chinese Bar
Association.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping
Mr. Jiang is the chief executive officer of the Company. Details of his
biography are set out above in this section.

Mr. Hao Xiemin
Mr. Hao is the financial controller of the Company. Details of his
biography are set out above in this section.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Kong Chi Mo

Mr. Kong, aged 43, has been the company secretary and authorised
representative of the Company since September 2009. Mr. Kong
has over 20 years of experience in accounting, auditing, financial
management, corporate finance, investor relations, company secretarial
affairs and corporate governance. Mr. Kong also serves as an
independent non-executive director in public companies listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. Kong was the executive director and the chief financial officer of
the Company from October 2013 to May 2015 and from May 2008 to
May 2015, respectively. Mr. Kong was an independent non-executive
director of CAA Resources Limited, a company listed on the main board
of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange from April 2013 to August 2017.
Mr. Kong worked at KPMG from October 1999 to December 2007
and was promoted to senior manager during his term of office. Prior
to joining KPMG, Mr. Kong worked as a finance trainee in Hutchison
Telecommunications (Hong Kong) Limited (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Hutchison Telecommunications Hong Kong Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange) from June 1997 to March 1998, and as an associate in
PricewaterhouseCoopers from March 1998 to October 1999.

Mr. Kong obtained his bachelor’'s degree in business administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1997. Mr.
Kong is a fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
(United Kingdom), a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors,
a fellow of each of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators
(United Kingdom), an ordinary member of Hong Kong Securities and
Investment Institute and a full member of Hong Kong Investor Relations
Association. Mr. Kong was also awarded the Chartered Governance
Professional qualification of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators (United Kingdom) and The Hong Kong Institute of
Chartered Secretaries in September 2018.
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The Directors hereby present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are mining and ore processing, sale of
self-produced products, trading of coals and steels, management of
strategic investments and rendering of specialised mining services.
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2018 are set
out in note 1 to the financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group as well as a discussion
and analysis of the Group’s performance during the year as required
by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and “Corporate Governance Report — Risk Management and
Internal Control” of this annual report. These discussions form part of
this Directors’ report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

The Articles provide that the Directors shall be indemnified and secured
harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they
shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred
in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty; provided that
this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or
dishonesty which may attach to any of the Directors.

A directors and officers liability insurance is in place to protect the
Directors and officers against potential costs and liabilities arising from
claims brought against the Directors and officers.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 97 and 98 of this annual report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY AND FINAL DIVIDEND

During the year, the Board adopted a written dividend policy (“Dividend
Policy”), effective from 27 December 2018. The Board adopted the
Dividend Policy that, in recommending or declaring dividends, the
Company will maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working
capital requirements and future growth as well as its shareholder value.
When considering the declaration and payment of dividends, the Board
will consider a number of factors, including but not limited to the
Group's financial results and cash flow position, the Group’s future
operations and earnings, the Group's expected capital requirements
and expansion plans, the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt
level, any restrictions on payment of dividends under any financial
covenant undertaken by the Group, the retained earnings and
distributable reserves of the Company and each of the members of
the Group, the shareholders’ expectation and industry’s norm, and the
general market conditions.

The Board does not recommend payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
13 June 2019 to Wednesday, 19 June 2019 (both days inclusive) during
which no transfer of Shares will be effected. In order to determine the
entitlement to attend and vote at the 2019 AGM, all share transfers
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17" Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 12 June 2019.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Additions to property, plant and equipment of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018 amounted to approximately RMB102.1
million. Details of the movements during the year in the Group's
property, plant and equipment are set out in note 13 to the financial
statements of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no change in the authorised and issued share capital of the
Company during the year ended 31 December 2018. Details of the
movements during the year in the issued share capital of the Company
are set out in note 30 to the financial statements of this annual report.

Directors’ Report
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements during the year ended 31 December 2018 in
the reserves of the Group are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 101 of this annual report.

As at 31 December 2018, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to the Shareholders in accordance with the Articles were
RMB1,877.5 million.

Under the Companies Law, subject to the provision of its Articles, the
share premium account may be applied by the Company in paying
distributions or dividends to its members or in paying up unissued
shares to be issued to its members as fully paid bonus shares provided
that no distribution or dividend may be paid to members out of the
share premium account unless, immediately following the date on
which the distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company
is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

The reserves of the Company available for distribution depend on the
dividend distributable by the Company’s subsidiaries. For dividend
purpose, the amount which the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC
can legally distribute by way of a dividend is determined by reference
to their distributable profits as reflected in the PRC statutory financial
statements which are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the PRC. These distributable profits differ
from those that are reflected in the Group's consolidated financial
statements prepared in accordance with the IFRSs.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 244 to
246 of this annual report.

LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Details of the loans and borrowings of the Group are set out in note 28
to financial statements of this annual report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, sales to the Group's
five largest customers accounted for 97.9% and 99.7% of the total
revenue of the Group, respectively, and sales to the largest customer
accounted for 46.8% and 61.1%, respectively.

During the years, the Group's customers were highly concentrated
primarily because (i) the steels, coals and iron products are bulk
raw materials and the customers required stable supply and (ii) the
production volumes of self-produced products were low and our pool
of target customers was small. The Group was aware of the risk of
a concentrated customer base and has entered into non-exclusive
sales agreements with several potential customers. Pursuant to the
agreements, the Group is able to sell any of our products to the
potential customers without any restrictions.

For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, purchases from
the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for 81.0% and 84.8% of
the total purchases of the Group, respectively, and purchases from the
largest supplier accounted for 24.2% and 33.6%, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in any of the Group’s five largest suppliers or customers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report
are as follows:

Non-executive Director
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan

Executive Directors
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping
Mr. Hao Xiemin

Mr. Wang Hu

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yu Haizong

Mr. Liu Yi

Mr. Wu Wen

Biographical details of the current Directors are set out in the section
headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 35 to
40 of this annual report.
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In accordance with articles 84(1) and 84(2) of the Articles, Messrs. Yu
Haizong, Liu Yi and Wu Wen will retire at the 2019 AGM and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2019 AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping, an executive Director, entered into a new service
contract with the Company for a term of one year commencing
from 12 December 2018. Each of Mr. Hao Xiemin and Mr. Wang Hu,
an executive Director, entered into a new service contract with the
Company for a term of one year commencing from 1 January 2019.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the 2019 AGM has
entered into any service agreement with the Company which is not
terminable within one year without payment of compensation (other
than the statutory compensation).

REMUNERATION OF THE DIRECTORS

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to the
Directors’ duties, responsibilities, performance and the results of the
Group.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 8 to
financial statements of this annual report.

EMOLUMENT POLICIES

The emolument policies of the Group are based on performance,
experience, competence and market comparable. Remuneration
packages generally comprise salary, housing allowance, contribution to
pension schemes and discretionary bonus relating to the performance
of the Group.

When compared to other employees of the Group, the remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management put a heavier
weight on their contributions to the performance of the Group. This is
achieved by way of share option schemes. The emolument policies of
the Directors and senior management are overseen by the remuneration
committee of the Company.

Details of the schemes are set out under the section headed “Share
Options” of this report and note 31 to the financial statements of this
annual report.

RIRERMBE8A) RBAE  RIFFHAE - B
BAEENBXEEBR2019FERBFAE
iR EREFAERLFEEE2019F R EBF
A HETEEZ-

BEENRKEEN
PTESER I EEERARRTTLTRGE S
4 THIBE2018F 12 B12B Bt A —F - #1717
EEMHBEERTREEE S EHARRAER]
SEHRBAKL  EHE2019F1 A1 B A —
io

BR2019F R FBFAS FEEBANES  #
BN AR S AT R RER — F ATERE (G
TE RS ERRIN) MR IER AR TS W o

EEFM
EFHMBEERG BE RRRAEEEE

BE-

EEHFMOFBENANFRYBHRRMES -

B & BUER

REEBNMESBERIERE &% 2 Rkmisa
HLBEARETE FHEBE—REEFE BER
B RARSFEIME AR BAKEEERBHOTIE
TE4T -

MUEAREEEMES EEREREEEHHH
FERBIERFHAKRERANER WEBRK
DEEA S EARERRERB -EFREREE
EOMEBXAARRNTFHEESEE-

ZEAEMFBENARE [ B —f R
RERIPBIRRM L3

46 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2018 ANNUAL REPORT



INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which (a) were required
to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or (b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or (c) were
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, are as follows:

Long positions in share options granted by the
Company

Number of share options held by the Directors and chief executives of
the Company to subscribe for Shares as at 31 December 2018:
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The details of share options held by the Directors and chief executives
of the Company are disclosed under the section headed “Share
Options” of this report.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, so far as is known
to all the Directors and chief executives of the Company, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which (a) were required to be notified to the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or
(b) were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered
in the register referred to therein or (c) were required, pursuant to the
Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Old Option
Scheme”) on 4 September 2009. At the 2010 AGM, the Shareholders
approved the adoption of a new share option scheme (the “New
Option Scheme”) and the termination of the operation of the Old
Option Scheme (such that no further options shall thereafter be offered
under the Old Option Scheme but in all other respects the provisions of
the Old Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect).

SUMMARY OF THE OLD OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of adopting the Old Option Scheme was to provide
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their contributions to,
and continuing efforts to promote the interests of, the Company and
enabling our Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees. The
eligible persons include any Director or employee (whether full time or
part time) of any member of the Group.

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options to be granted and yet to be
exercised under the Old Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the Shares in issue
from time to time. The maximum number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted to any eligible person
under the Old Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
shall not in any 12-month period up to the date of grant exceed 1% of
the issued share capital of the Company as of the date of grant. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to the
Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. The vesting period and the
period within which an option may be exercised under the Old Option

ARREBEREZSITRABFA RN PEFS
RARE TRy HivE ] —Ei P 3R EE -

B XX EES 20185128318 » s AR
AEREERESTBRABMA ARGEER
BETBRAEBMERARRKEEEEE (TE
REHRBEEGIEXVI) MRKD - HERGO &
EREETEA T ()REES LB EEMIEXV
HETRESHEAME AR R KRB AT E
wmaAE (BEREES R EKDE BIE T
EERRABRAENERS AR  B(b)RIEES
KBRS 60 5835215 78 50 8 R RZ AR FT 45 & e Mt /9
BmIOKE  RORBEETFRIZBANERNRA R
BB RERSORE -

i 17 5 1

A B PR2009F9 A4 H FR 4 — TE Ik ) BARE AT &)
([EHIRERT &) - R2010FBMRBFRE £
P RHE A SR AN — JE T AR A BRAMERT 8 ([ 3T Hidg =t
2]) WRI-ERRBNER (BETEBER
RE MRS IR L B EIES SRR
AR ESINAES TREIRER) -

ENESTENE
RAENEABEERARBERATIRHER LR
B UREEHARANEMEFES HRER
ARG WEAREABRRELREESES -
BEBATERASEEAXERANEIAES
B RBEE -

BEITERIBE B R E b st
R TEROBERTEAERITEMERT T
BONRSBRHEE a A TEEB TR ET
B0 #930% o PMEREER A e 1218 A # ]
W 1T AV B A B S (AT A fth B fn B4 AT
TEA—ZAERATREOBMEMELRETR
BPRTHESENUE THRBEARAFARE
EHBEEITRANI% - #E —FTREBBIER
R B A BOR K& RS BROR L © 87
BH LA REENETETENRERES
CTRENSET MEMENITEALARBE
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Scheme will be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion.
There is no general requirement that an option must be held for any
minimum period before it can be exercised but the Board is empowered
to impose at its absolute discretion any such minimum period at the
time of grant of any particular option. The exercise price in relation to
each option shall be determined by the Board at its absolute discretion,
but in any event shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheet on the date of grant of such option; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant of such option; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share on the date of grant of such option. The amount payable on
acceptance of the offer of the grant of an option was HKD1.

The Company had 7,800,000 Shares available for issue under the Old
Option Scheme, which represented approximately 0.35% of the Shares
in issue as at the date of this annual report. Details of the share options

Directors’ Report
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fa] 5 7E H 4 55 I 15 3t 0 1 o] 48 B B A2 B < %19
HENTEERESSRYMNEET BEEHL
AAGLROBRONEEEBIEE A ER B
R EMERMATIOWTIE : (RN EER
HERBRERNAERZ AER BB IMEA
WERMAFINFHRTE - RN HE
HgEEANEE(URRERE) EKARLH
BEONENRE/IET

ARNRIRE S BHES 8 £ 57,800,000 AJ
BIRO ERAFERABNERTRG Y
0.35% - BARIEE BIMEAT 813 BB 2018F 12 A

outstanding as at 31 December 2018 which have been granted under 3THMARITEMRGBEFBOT
the Old Option Scheme are as follows:
Exercise No. of share
price per options held as
Name or category of share at 01.01.2018
participant Date of grant  Exercise period option and 31.12.2018
R2018F1A1B K
BHRG 2018 12H31H
SEATHERER ®H B TS HRETEE MEROBEHRE
HKD
BT
1. Directors/chief executives
BEx 'BRTBRAR
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping 29.12.2009 29.06.2012 to 28.12.2019 5.05 1,500,000
B 29.06.2012%28.12.2019
29.12.2014 to 28.12.2019 5.05 1,500,000
29.12.2014%28.12.2019
01.04.2010 01.10.2012 to 31.03.2020 4.99 250,000
01.10.2012%31.03.2020
01.04.2015 to 31.03.2020 4.99 250,000
01.04.2015231.03.2020
Mr. Wang HuNete » 29.12.2009 29.06.2012 to 28.12.2019 5.05 200,000
T BT o A D 29.06.2012%28.12.2019
29.12.2014 to 28.12.2019 5.05 200,000

29.12.2014%28.12.2019
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Exercise No. of share
price per options held as
Name or category of share at 01.01.2018
participant Date of grant  Exercise period option and 31.12.2018
R2018F1H1B R
BHRE 2018%12AH31A
SHEATHERER A TEH HETEE mEROCHEEZE
HKD
T
2. Employees (in aggregate) 29.12.2009 29.06.2012 to 28.12.2019 5.05 1,500,000
'8 (&5 29.06.2012%28.12.2019
29.12.2014 to 28.12.2019 5.05 1,500,000
29.12.2014%28.12.2019
01.04.2010 01.10.2012 to 31.03.2020 4.99 450,000
01.10.2012%31.03.2020
01.04.2015 to 31.03.2020 4.99 450,000
01.04.2015%31.03.2020
Total 7,800,000
et
Notes: s
1. As Mr. Wang Hu was appointed as an executive Director on 1 January 1. AR TERAEENR2018F 1A 1B EZEAHITE
2018, his share options were then reclassified from the category F - HERMNABRFABREES] BRENSE
“Employees” to the category “Directors/chief executives” on the even BIES ST AB]ER -
date.
2. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until 2. B 1n ERRE & 57 8 HA /A FR 1R I B BR A Z= 17 (2 ARG
the commencement of the exercise period. mAL-
3. There were no share options granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed 3. RER ARG B ER B - 1768 FHiHa R
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SUMMARY OF THE NEW OPTION SCHEME

The purposes of adopting the New Option Scheme are: (i) to broaden
the scope of eligible persons to include all substantial shareholders
of the Company and any person whom the Board considers to have
contributed to the development and growth of the Company; (ii) to
provide incentive or reward to eligible persons for their contributions
to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests of the Company;
and (iii) to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre
employees. The eligible persons include Directors, chief executives,
substantial shareholders or employees (whether full time or part time)
of any member of the Group and any person who the Board considers,
at its sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to the
development and growth of the Group.

The maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options to be granted and yet to be
exercised under the New Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of the
Company in issue from time to time. The maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
all schemes adopted by the Company, must not in aggregate exceed
207,500,000 Shares, being 10% of the total number of Shares then
in issue as at the date of adoption of the New Option Scheme (the
“Scheme Mandate Limit”). Options lapsed under the New Option
Scheme or any other share option scheme shall not be counted for
the purpose of calculating the Scheme Mandate Limit. The maximum
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted and to be granted to each eligible person under the New
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes shall not in any
12-month period up to the date of grant exceed 1% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the date of grant. Any further grant
of share options in excess of this limit is subject to the Shareholders’
approval in a general meeting. The Company had 207,500,000 Shares
available for issue under the New Option Scheme, which represented
9.23% of the Shares in issue as at the date of this annual report.

Any grant of options to a Director, chief executives or to a substantial
Shareholder or any of their respective associates is required to be approved
by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding independent non-
executive Directors who are the grantees of the options). If any grant of
options to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-executive
Director or any of their respective associates would result in the Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options granted and to be
granted to such person in the 12 months up to and including the date
of the offer of such grant: (1) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of
the Shares in issue on the date of the offer; and (2) having an aggregate
value in excess of HKD5.0 million, based on the closing price of the Shares
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as quoted on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange at the date of grant, such
further grant of options are subject to the Shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting at which all connected persons of the Company shall
abstain from voting in favour of the grant at such meeting and other
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules from time to time.

A consideration of HKD1.0 is payable by grantees on acceptance of the
offer of the grant of an option. There is no general requirement that an
option must be held for any minimum period before it can be exercised
but the Board is empowered to impose at its absolute discretion any
such minimum period at the time of grant of any particular option.
Upon acceptance, the date of grant of any particular option is deemed
to have taken effect from the date on which an offer is made. Any
option may be exercised according to the terms of the New Option
Scheme and the offer in whole or in part by the grantee (or his/her
personal representatives) before its expiry by giving notice in writing
to the Company stating that the option is to be exercised and the
number of Shares in respect of which it is exercised. The period during
which an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board at
its absolute discretion, save that no option may be exercised more than
ten years from the date of grant. No option may be granted more than
ten years after the date of approval of the New Option Scheme, and the
remaining life of the New Option Scheme is approximately one year.

The subscription price in relation to each option shall be determined by
the Board at its absolute discretion, but in any event shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of grant of the option; and (iii) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on
the date of grant of the option. In the event of a grantee ceasing to be
an eligible person for any reason other than (1) by reason of summary
dismissal for misconduct or other breach of the terms of his employment
or other contract constituting him an eligible person, or appears either
to be unable to pay or to have no reasonable prospect of being able to
pay his debts or has become insolvent or has made any arrangement
or composition with his creditors generally or on which he has been
convicted of any criminal offence involving his integrity or honesty; or
(2) by death, the option may be exercised within one month after the
date of such cessation, which date shall be (i) if he is an employee of any
member of the Group, his last actual working day with such member of
the Group whether salary is paid in lieu of notice or not; or (ii) if he is
not an employee of any member of the Group, the date on which the
relationship constituting him as an eligible person ceases.
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Name or category
of participant

SRALHEREL

Directors/chief executives
EE 'BETHRAE

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping

B s

Mr. Wang HufNete D
F 4k A (D

Mr. Hao Xiemin®ete D

B st g 4 A (PR

Mr. Yu Haizong
RBREE

Mr. Liu Yi
25k e A&

Details of the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2018 which
have been granted under the New Option Scheme are as follows:

Date of grant

i B

23.05.2011

15.04.2014

23.05.2011

15.04.2014

15.04.2014

15.04.2014

15.04.2014

Directors’ Report
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Exercise No. of share
price per options held as
share at 01.01.2018
Exercise period option and 31.12.2018
R2018F1HA1H K
BHRG 2018 12H31H
TS HETHEE FEROBEHE
HKD
BT
23.05.2013 to 22.05.2021 3.60 5,000,000
23.05.2013%22.05.2021
15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 4,250,000
15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 2,125,000
15.04.2015214.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 2,125,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
23.05.2013 to 22.05.2021 3.60 1,000,000
23.05.2013%22.05.2021
15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 400,000
15.10.2014214.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 200,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 200,000
15.10.2015214.04.2024
15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 50,000
15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.04.2015%14.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.10.2015214.04.2024
15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 50,000
15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.04.2015214.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.10.2015%214.04.2024
15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 50,000
15.10.2014%14.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.04.2015214.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 25,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
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Name or category

Exercise No. of share
price per options held as
share at 01.01.2018

of participant Date of grant  Exercise period option and 31.12.2018
R2018F1A1A K
BHORSG 2018F12H31H
SHEATHESRER ®HHH 1T H HEGTEE FsROBERE
HKD
BT
2. Employees (in aggregate) 23.05.2011 23.05.2013 to 22.05.2021 3.60 4,500,000
&E8 (A5 23.05.2013%22.05.2021
15.04.2014 15.10.2014 to 14.04.2024 1.00 3,500,000
15.10.2014214.04.2024
15.04.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 1,750,000
15.04.2015214.04.2024
15.10.2015 to 14.04.2024 1.00 1,750,000
15.10.2015%14.04.2024
Total 27,100,000
#Et

Notes:

1. As Mr. Wang Hu and Mr. Hao Xiemin were appointed as executive
Directors on 1 January 2018, their share options were then reclassified
from the category “Employees” to the category “Directors/chief
executives” on the even date.

2. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of grant until
the commencement of the exercise period.

3. There were no share options granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed

during the year.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company,
its parent companies or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

To the best knowledge of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 December 2018, persons (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO are
as follows:

Long positions in Shares:

Through
Directly parties
beneficially acting
Name Notes owned in concert
BB -
BB A B &£ ERBEREE THALHES
Trisonic International 1,5&6 1,006,754,000 -
& BB 1-5K%6
Kingston Grand 1,2&5 - 1,006,754,000
Kingston Grand 1-2K%5
Mr. Wang Jin 1,5&6 - 1,006,754,000
THRE 1-5K%6
Mr. Yang Xianlu 5 - 1,006,754,000
BREBELE 5
Mr. Wu Wendong 5 - 1,006,754,000
RXEEE 5
Mr. Li Hesheng 1&5 - 1,006,754,000
FHMRB T E 1%5
Mr. Shi Yinjun 1&5 - 1,006,754,000
RIREB K& 155
Mr. Zhang Yuangui 1&5 - 1,006,754,000
REESLE 155
Long Sino International 2,3&5 - 1,006,754,000
Limited
Long Sino International 2 -3K5
Limited
Mr. Zou Hua 3,4&5 - 1,006,754,000
WELE 34%5

Directors’ Report
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FERRRAEMALTRRG REE
R 43 1Y fE

MARREFXEDITHRABNEL  1KR20184F
128318 RAR B D kB RERR (7 B AR
BEEREEEGEXVEFE2REID PMHIEX
MARRHEBERNADRRIEES RS KGNS
336K BFEMNE LMtz AR AL
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REBROHERE:
Held in the Percentage
capacity of of the
person having Company'’s
a security issued
interest in share
Shares Total capital
LR R 5 EEAR
BFEEAL ERITRA
NE0EE B Bk
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
- 1,006,754,000 44.76%
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Held in the Percentage

capacity of of the

Through person having Company'’s

Directly parties a security issued

beneficially acting interest in share

Name Notes owned in concert Shares Total capital

LR IR 5 EERAT

BBE-3 HEAEZEAL EEITRA

‘B A Mt 5 EREREES THALEHF W HEE B Bat

Ms. Jiang Hua 48&5 - 1,006,754,000 - 1,006,754,000 44.76%
FELL 4K5

MINEFEER AT - 614,080,000 614,080,000 27.30%

MIIMEFERR A R]
Erie Investments Limited 202,892,000 - 202,892,000 9.02%

Erie Investments Limited

Notes:

56

The issued share capital of Trisonic International was owned as to 3% by
Mr. Li Hesheng, 42.6% by Mr. Wang lJin, 7.2% by Mr. Shi Yinjun, 7.2%
by Mr. Zhang Yuangui and 40% by Kingston Grand.

The issued share capital of Kingston Grand was owned as to 100% by
Long Sino International Limited.

The issued share capital of Long Sino International Limited was owned as
to 100% by Mr. Zou Hua.

Ms. Jiang Hua was the spouse of Mr. Zou Hua.

As at 31 December 2018, 1,006,754,000 Shares were held by Trisonic
International. Since Trisonic International, Kingston Grand, Messrs.
Wang Jin, Yang Xianlu, Wu Wendong, Li Hesheng, Shi Yinjun and Zhang
Yuangui, Long Sino International Limited, Mr. Zou Hua and Ms. Jiang
Hua were parties acting in concert, each of Kingston Grand, Messrs.
Wang Jin, Yang Xianlu, Wu Wendong, Li Hesheng, Shi Yinjun and Zhang
Yuangui, Long Sino International Limited, Mr. Zou Hua and Ms. Jiang
Hua was deemed to be interested in 1,006,754,000 Shares held by
Trisonic International.

Mr. Wang Jin was a director of Trisonic International.

SRIBEBRMBEBITRASD BB MLk
B3% TR EHEGLI26% RRELEHE
7.2% sRirE AW B 7.2% KKingston Grand
HHA0% °

Kingston Grand#J 2 # 17l A HLong Sino
International Limited# & 100% °

Long Sino International Limitedfy 2 277 A% 4
BBELEHEH100%

EERLTAPERENEB-

72018412 A31H + 1,006,754,0000% % 1

S RIBEF A - BN A E/BF - Kingston
Grand  Ee k- HEBRE EXREE
TMBLEE ARBLE REELLE Long
Sino International Limited - 8F % 4F 4 R 3=
7+ A/ —HiTE A+ HKingston Grand:
FTHEE - BEBEE RURLEE TR
LE-RRELE KREE%L % Long Sino
International Limited * A R EEL L&
B R AES BB #91,006,754,000% i
aleak 2o £
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CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2018 ANNUAL REPORT



Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2018, the Company had
not been notified by any persons (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

In order to restrict competition activities between the Controlling
Shareholders and the Company, the Controlling Shareholders entered
into a deed of non-competition in favour of the Company dated 23
September 2009 (the “Non-Competition Deed"”).

The undertakings and covenants stipulated under the Non-Competition
Deed cover any business which involves ore processing and sale of
iron concentrates, iron pellets, titanium concentrates and titanium-
related downstream products or any other business from time to time
conducted by any member of the Group (the “Competing Business”) in
Hong Kong, the PRC or such other part of the world where any member
of the Group carries on its business from time to time other than the
mines owned or operated by Weixi Guangfa and Yanyuan Xiwei.

Pursuant to the Non-Competition Deed, the Controlling Shareholders
having an opportunity to invest in, participate in, engage in, operate
or manage any Competing Business (the “Business Opportunity”) shall
notify the Company about such Business Opportunity in writing. The
Company shall have the first right of refusal under the same investment
terms to such Controlling Shareholders. The Controlling Shareholders
shall implement the project only if the Company has confirmed that
it has no intention to invest, participate in, engage in or operate such
Business Opportunity as approved by the Board.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, the Company has not
entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate to
manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business
of the Company during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Except for the service contracts and share option schemes as disclosed
in this annual report, there were no transactions, arrangements, or
contracts of significance in relation to the business of the Group, to
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which the Company, its parent companies, its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected
with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder (as
defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance between the Company or any of its
subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors had an interest in any business
constituting a competing business to the Company.

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2018, there were no non-exempt
continuing connected transactions (2017: nil).

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules (the “CG Code").

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review and supervise
the financial reporting process and internal control procedures.

The audit committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Haizong (Chairman), Mr. Liu Yi and
Mr. Wu Wen.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the audit committee has
reviewed: (i) the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
and annual results announcement for the year ended 31 December
2017 and (ii) the consolidated financial statements of the Group and
interim results announcement for the six months ended 30 June 2018.

EXGAERMEEERN MEEFHREEZEH
EE’] CRENETERAEREEEARENEM
X5 wHEEL

EXEHN
AR R RE T A AHEBAARLD A ERB
R OEHRETHRA) REMFT 2T RER
BRA5 -+ £TSER 4 45 B S 4R PO AL B R D4R
BRAH

ARASHEAEMF AR EEARR B AR ARR
(EER ETRA)AEERFRRAFTLNFLE
BRFEAETABRDABROEMNERAL -

EERRFRBNES

FR EZUBEBRBRARRARFEBOEME
BHEA -

TERRFEBERS

BE2018F12A318IEFE - WHEETEMTE
RN ERERS 017F &) -

BEREES

ARAR MR LN RIS+ AR A
FRARLEEARE ([LETADRIBRE
Be EEAEERERE-

}

BEVEZESIEAE
NBEPEIRIE ST -

E

ERMEEMBREERF R

0

ERZEGRAB=REFNITEERERE
E(ERE) BIREERRFEEEK -

REZE2018F12A31HILFE BREECEE
B ()VAREEHZE2017F12A318 EFERNLE
BERE W BREREFEELE  RNVAEEE
F2018F6 308 (L5 il A iR & B S wmEk
HZEENE -HE2018F12A31A L FE Tk

58 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2018 ANNUAL REPORT



During the year ended 31 December 2018, the audit committee has
reviewed the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group. Details of the risk management and internal control of the
Group are set out on pages 79 to 85 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The remuneration committee currently comprises two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Liu Yi (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Haizong
and one executive Director, namely Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The nomination committee currently comprises one non-executive
Director, namely Mr. Teh Wing Kwan (Chairman), one executive
Director, namely Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping and three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Haizong, Mr. Liu Yi and Mr. Wu
Wen.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions relating to pre-emptive rights over Shares under
the Articles.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry to all the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2018.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the CG Code. Throughout the year ended
31 December 2018, the Company has complied with all applicable code
provisions as set out in the CG Code except for code provisions A.4.1
and A.6.7 as described in the Corporate Governance Report.

For details of the Corporate Governance Report, please refer to pages
64 to 88 of this annual report.
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CHANGE IN DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INFORMATION

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan (“Mr. Teh"”), the non-executive chairman of the
Company, ceased to be the non-independent non-executive director of
Sapphire (SGX: BRD), a company listed on the main board of the SGX,
with effect from 26 April 2018. Mr. Teh was appointed as the non-
executive chairman of Citicode Ltd. (formerly known as Advance SCT
Limited) (SGX: 5FH), a company listed on the main board of the SGX,
with effect from 27 June 2018. Mr. Teh was subsequently redesignated
as executive chairman and CEO of Citicode Ltd. on 24 July 2018.

Effective from 1 January 2018, (i) Mr. Hao Xiemin was appointed as
an executive Director and the financial controller of the Company in
place of Mr. Zheng Zhiquan; and (ii) Mr. Wang Hu was appointed as an
executive Director.

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping, an executive Director, entered into a new service
contract with the Company for a term of one year commencing
from 12 December 2018. Each of Mr. Hao Xiemin and Mr. Wang Hu,
an executive Director, entered into a new service contract with the
Company for a term of one year commencing from 1 January 2019.

Save as disclosed above, there is no change in Directors’ and chief
executives' information which is required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Throughout the year ended 31 December 2018, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group in
the ordinary course of business are set out in note 37 to financial
statements of this annual report. These related party transactions
either did not constitute connected transactions/continuing connected
transactions or constituted connected transactions/continuing
connected transactions but were exempted from all disclosure and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing
Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the publicly available information and to the best of the

Directors’ knowledge, information and belief and as at the date of this

annual report, the Company has maintained sufficient public float as
required under the Listing Rules.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS
AND CUSTOMERS

()

(ii)

Employees

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had a total of 998
dedicated full time employees, decreased by approximately
30.4% as compared to the total dedicated full time employees
as at 31 December 2017. The employee turnover rate for the
year was approximately 34.5%. The total full time employees
included 387 female employees and 611 male employees, of
which 176 employees were aged 30 or below, 196 employees
were aged between 31 and 40, 520 employees were aged
between 41 and 50, and 106 employees were aged 51 or
above. Management maintained good communications with
the employees and encouraged feedback from them. The
proper training programmes were implemented in order to
promote employees’ career development and progression within
the Group. The Group evaluated the employees regularly,
promotions and further training were provided when necessary.

Suppliers

During the year, the Group’s suppliers mainly consisted of
mining contractors, transportation contractors, suppliers of
production-related materials and trading companies. The Group
selected the suppliers based on various criteria, including
but are not limited to qualifications and reputations. The
Group has established long-term relationship with the major
mining contractor for more than 15 years, the transportation
contractors for more than 5 years, and both the suppliers of
production related materials and trading companies for more
than 3 years. The Group has continued to maintain sound
business relationships with major suppliers, and no incidents
that will adversely affect the Group’s product supply have
occurred.
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(iii)

Customers

During the vyear, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for 97.9% of the total revenue. The Group
maintained good relationships with the customers who required
stable supply for these bulk raw materials, these customers are
distributors and trading companies. The Group has established
long-term relationship with the customers for 3 to 5 years.
The trading of steels and coals contributed 45.4% of the total
revenue of the Group.

Please refer to the financial statements of this annual report for
more details of the Group's trading terms with its customers as
set out in note 20.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE
The Company has always been closely communicating with its
stakeholders, actively responding to their needs, and taking those into
consideration during the corporate strategy formulation and decision

making process. The Company sees sustainable development as the key for

a corporation to succeed and therefore, it aims to seek a win-win situation
for the Group, society and the environment by balancing between the
creation of economic value and the impact on the environment.

The Group strictly complies with various national environmental

protection laws and regulations. It has implemented a series of measures

to alleviate environmental impacts of ore mining, processing and
transporting. The Group has established rules for pollutant control
and waste disposal, including the proper way of handling airborne

dust, waste oil, noise, mine rocks and tailings generated during ore
mining and the promotion of waste recycling; the Group has also
brought in new equipment to improve resource use efficiency and built

tailings pond to control ecological impact and improve water resources

recycling; electricity consumption has been reduced by improving the

Group's facilities and technologies and increasing the proportion of new

energy purchases such as hydropower, thereby controlling greenhouse

gas emission; the Group supports green operations and encourages

its employees to adopt environmentally friendly working habits. For

further information about the Company’s environmental performance

during the year, please refer to the Company’s separate Environmental,
Social and Governance Report to be issued by the Company. The
report will be available on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company's website after its publication.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group and its activities are subject to requirements under various
laws. In addition, the Listing Rules also apply to the Company.
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The relevant PRC laws which had a material implication or impact
on the operation of the Group during the year include, among other
things, the Work Safety Law of the PRC*, Labour Law of the PRC¥*,
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC*, Land Administration Law of
the PRC*, Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the PRC*, Mineral
Resources Law of the PRC*, Law of the PRC on Safety in Mines*, Law
of the PRC on Water and Soil Conservation*, Law of the PRC on Wholly
Foreign-Owned Enterprises* and Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income
Tax* and the applicable regulations, guidelines and policies issued or
promulgated under or in connection with these laws.

The relevant Australian laws which had a material implication or
impact on the operation of the Group include, among other things,
Corporations Act (2001) and Environmental Protection and Biodiversity
Act (1999) at the national level of Australia, Work Health and Safety
Act (2012) and Mineral Resources Development Act (1995) in Tasmania,
Occupational Health and Safety Act (2004) and Mineral Resources
(Sustainable Development) Act (1990) in Victoria, Work Health and
Safety Act (2011) and Mining Act (1992) in New South Wales, Work
Health and Safety Act (2011) and Mineral Resources Development Act
(1989) in Queensland, and Occupational Health and Safety Act (1984)
and WA Mining Act (1978) in Western Australia.

The Company seeks to ensure compliance with these requirements
through various measures such as internal controls, trainings and
oversight of various business units at different levels of the Group.
The Group highly values the importance of ensuring compliance with
applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material
breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations
by the Group that have significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.

AUDITOR

The Company appointed Ernst & Young as auditor of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2018. A resolution will be proposed for
approval by the Shareholders at the 2019 AGM to re-appoint Ernst &
Young as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Teh Wing Kwan

Chairman

26 March 2019

Directors’ Report

EEEREE

REANHAEENEEAFEXNRERTENA
MHBEEREDEBEPEARANBEZ24E
EREARKMBESEE HEARANER
BREL PEARKMBLIMEIRE PEA
REAMBRRZEFNEL PEARKNMBEREE
BRE PEARKNMBERILZEE PEAR
HMBIKEREDE  FEARKMBEINE R EX
RAEARAKMBEEERETEARRIEZFE
REMIEZFLZRAROERRD 155 K
o

REREAEENEEEESARERITED
RN EZEFEERMEEMENQRE
(2001 F ) RIRIFREREWZ HFEHEY (1999
F) BERENIEREREZEE* (201249)
MEEYERREOE (19956 ) B L RIS R B %
fFE R EE (2004F ) RIBMER (A HER
)0E* (1990%F) HEEBB T IERERE
5% (Q01MF) RERE* (1992F) - BTHH
TITERERLZ 2. Q0NE) REYE R 3%
JE*(1989%F) U RFEM B ERE ML 2 A
(19844 ) R g BT A (197845 ) ©

RRBNSGEBARMEEE B RERAEET
FIBRMZEEREL BREEZEME &
SEREERBRTEERAEEREERE -

FA-RARBMA AEBY BEEER KA
HEEROER ERRRH ABHAEED
EBREBEBREATE

B e
AABZELZKEHAMEFAEERRREE
2018512 A3 1B L FERZERD - BRAEINZEE
LXGFTAI BB AT AR A R BAI AR ERERN
2019F AT ARG HIRE NEVSIRERL & -
REESS

FE

Rk R

201943 H26H

2018 3% | FENKHEAREAR AR 63

\‘k




Corporate Governance Report

1R EIGHRAT




Corporate Governance Report

The Company has adopted the CG Code as its own code of corporate
governance. The Directors consider that during the year ended 31
December 2018, the Company has complied with the code provisions
under the CG Code except for code provisions A.4.1 and A.6.7.

Code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code stipulates that non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan, the non-executive Director, is not appointed for
a specific term. This constitutes a deviation from code provision A.4.1.
However, as Mr. Teh's appointment is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election by the Shareholders at the annual general meetings
of the Company in accordance with the Articles, in the opinion of the
Directors, this meets the objective of the CG Code.

Code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code stipulates that independent non-
executive directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views of
the Shareholders. Mr. Wu Wen did not attend the general meeting held
on 17 May 2018 due to other business commitments.

The Directors are committed to upholding the corporate governance of
the Company to ensure that formal and transparent procedures are in
place to protect and maximise the interests of the Shareholders.

Set out below is the detailed discussion of the corporate governance
practices adopted and observed by the Company during the year.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
for dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors. Having made
specific enquiry to all the Directors, all the Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard of dealings as set out in the
Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises a combination of executive Directors,
a non-executive Director and independent non-executive Directors.
At least one of the independent non-executive Directors possesses
appropriate professional qualifications (or accounting or related
financial management expertise) as required by the Listing Rules.
This provides a healthy professional relationship between the Board
and senior management in the process of formulating business
strategies for the Group. The Board is also supported by other key
committees to provide independent oversight of management. These
key committees are the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee and are made up of the majority of independent
non-executive Directors. As of the date of this annual report, the
composition and committees of the Board are as follows:

Board member

E=EHE

Non-executive Director
FHITES

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan (Chairman)
Bk R E (EF)

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping (Chief executive officer)
BREEE (BEEHTE)

Mr. Hao Xiemin (Financial controller)

T B (HHAAE)

Mr. Wang Hu

ElREE

Independent non-executive Directors
BAFHTES

Mr. Yu Haizong

REBREE

Mr. Liu Yi

BIRELE

Mr. Wu Wen

RXFTHE

Notes:

C: Chairman
M: Member
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Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the section
headed “Profile of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 35 to
40 of this annual report.

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping, an executive Director, entered into a new service
contract with the Company for a term of one year commencing
from 12 December 2018. Each of Mr. Hao Xiemin and Mr. Wang Hu,
an executive Director, entered into a new service contract with the
Company for a term of one year commencing from 1 January 2019.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
that all of the independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

The key roles of the Board are:

o to guide the overall development, corporate strategies and
directions of the Group, approve the Board policies, strategies
and financial objectives of the Group and monitor the
performance of management;

o to ensure effective management leadership of the highest
quality and integrity;

o to approve major funding proposals and investments; and
o to provide overall insight in the proper conduct of the Group's
business.
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The Board has delegated certain functions to the relevant Board
committees, details of which are disclosed below. Day-to-day
management of the Group’s business is delegated to the management
of the Company under the supervision of the executive Directors. The
functions and powers that are so delegated are reviewed periodically to
ensure that they remain appropriate.

During the year, the Company held four regular Board meetings for
reviewing and approving the financial and operating performance and
considering the overall strategies and policies of the Group. Sufficient
notice convening the Board meeting was dispatched to the Directors
setting out the matters to be discussed. All the Directors were given an
opportunity to include matters in the agenda for the Board meeting and
had access to the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) to ensure that all board procedures and all applicable rules
and regulations were followed. The Board also enabled the Directors
to seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense
in appropriate circumstances. At the meetings, the Directors were
provided with the relevant documents to be discussed and approved.
The Company Secretary was responsible for keeping minutes for the
Board meetings.

During the year, the Company held one general meeting on 17 May
2018. The following is the attendance record of the meetings held
by the Board, audit committee, remuneration committee, nomination
committee and the Shareholders for the year ended 31 December
2018:

EEgCERMOBETHERESTZE S F15
RIXEE - AEBEEBHNAEEESERTA
REEEE UYX¥WTEFEE -HHERNE
REMENEEIEMRIUBERERKEES

=

He

FR ARBERITORPITEESEH Ui
A RHEM B R EERR A RERNEEERE
KEEBR ARBEAEETHOMESTS S
RNEDBAN JRELEHTRNEE - SES
BARHEENMAEEEERHHEE YRR
AMARME ([ARAME]) B URREZHE
ZeRFREMERRENENEET -EFS
NEEFAEEEBATSRBLEERR &
RAEARARBAE - EFENGR L ERERIR
RHENEREXH ARNEREREFE TR
(CRER= Tt

FR-ARER2018F5/17HRIT—XEKX
g-EFT ERLEY FWEES REZE
LR REE2018F12A318H I FEERITH
FEMEFRENT

Number of meeting(s) attended/Number of meeting(s) held

EEEEREETEERY

Audit  Remuneration Nomination
Board committee committee committee General
Name of Director meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting
BN 3 RE
EEpL Ezges ZEEER ZEEER ZEEER BREAE
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan 4/4 - - 2/2 1”1
oKL E
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping 4/4 - 2/2 2/2 11
B REE
Mr. Hao Xiemin 4/4 - - - 0/1
WA G EE
Mr. Wang Hu 4/4 - - - 1”1
EREE
Mr. Yu Haizong 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 17
REREE
Mr. Liu Yi 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 ”n
Rk EE
Mr. Wu Wen 4/4 2/2 - 2/2 0/1
RXEHE
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contributions
to the board remain informed and relevant.

All the Directors have been provided with training on their duties and
responsibilities as a director of a listed company and the compliance
issues under the Listing Rules. The Company continuously updates the
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, to ensure their compliance
and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

All the Directors had provided the Company with their respective
training records pursuant to the CG Code. During the year, all the
Directors have participated in appropriate continuous professional
development by ways of attending training or reading materials relevant
to the Group's business or to Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

The individual training record of each Director during the year ended 31
December 2018 is set out below:—

Non-executive Director
BITES

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan (Chairman)
BioKRESLE (F/)

Executive Directors

HITES

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping (Chief executive officer)
BT EE (BEEHITE)

Mr. Hao Xiemin (Financial controller)

WAL (HFAE)

Mr. Wang Hu
FREEE

Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHITES

Mr. Yu Haizong

REREE

Mr. Liu Yi
BB E

Mr. Wu Wen
RN
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Notes:

(1) Reading relevant materials and updates relating to the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements and matters of relevance to the
Directors in the discharge of their duties; and

(2) Reading news, journals, magazines and/or other reading materials

regarding legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to the
Directors in the discharge of their duties.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The roles of the Company’s chairman and the chief executive are
segregated. Mr. Teh Wing Kwan is the chairman of the Board who
is chiefly responsible for managing the Board and acting in the best
interest of the Group and the Shareholders, while Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping
is the chief executive officer of the Company who takes charge of the
supervision of the execution of the policies determined by the Board.

The chairman chairs the Board meetings and briefs the Board members
on the issues discussed at the Board meetings. The chairman also
ensures that the Board members work together with the management
with the capability and authority to engage management in
constructive views on various matters, including strategic issues and
business planning processes.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF THE
DIRECTORS

According to the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-third
of the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation or, if the number
is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less
than one-third shall retire from the office and shall be eligible for re-
election. The Directors to be retired by rotation shall be those who have
been longest in office since their last appointment or re-election. Every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting
at least once every three years. Any other appointment, resignation,
removal or re-designation of Director will be timely disclosed
to the Shareholders by announcement and shall include in such
announcement, the reasons given by the Director for his resignation.

The Board selects and recommends candidates for directorship with
regard to the balance of skills and experience appropriate to the
Group's business.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The audit committee
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Yu
Haizong (Chairman), Mr. Liu Yi and Mr. Wu Wen.

The audit committee’s main functions are:

o to be responsible for the relationship with the Company’s
external auditor, including making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of its
resignation or dismissal,

o to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards and to develop and
implement policy on the engaging of an external auditor to
supply non-audit services;

o to monitor the integrity of the financial statements and annual/
interim reports and quarterly reports (if prepared for publication)
and to review significant financial reporting judgments
contained in them; and

o to oversee the Group’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control systems.
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During the year, the audit committee held two meetings and performed
the following major tasks:

o reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group and annual results announcement for the year ended
31 December 2017, and reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group and interim results announcement for
the six months ended 30 June 2018;

o reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed
their potential impacts on the financial statements;

° reviewed the Company’s external auditor’'s qualifications,
independence and performance;

o reviewed the Company’s external auditor’s statutory audit plan,
audit scope and engagement letters; and

o assisted the Board to evaluate on the adequacy and
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and financial reporting procedures.

The Group has established an independent internal audit function
directly reporting to the audit committee. The internal audit personnel
will attend the audit committee meetings and report on internal audit
matters annually. If there is any material internal control defect, the
internal audit personnel directly reports to the audit committee without
limitation. The audit committee assists the Board in monitoring the
risk exposures, design and operating effectiveness of the relevant risk
management and internal control systems. The audit committee will
report to the Board after properly reviewing the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the audit committee has
reviewed the risk management and internal control systems and the
effectiveness of the Company’'s internal audit function. Details of the
risk management and internal control of the Group are set out on
pages 79 to 85 of this report.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with CG Code. The remuneration
committee currently comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Liu Yi (Chairman) and Mr. Yu Haizong and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping.

The remuneration committee’s main functions are:

o to make recommendations to the Board on the Company's
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

o to review and approve performance-based remuneration with
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;

o to determine, with delegated responsibilities, the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors or senior
management, which should include benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, including any compensation
payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

o to consider the granting of share options to Directors, chief
executives, substantial Shareholders or employees of any
member of the Group and any person who has contributed or
will contribute to the development and growth of the Group
pursuant to the share option schemes adopted by the Company;

o to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration; and

o to review and approve the interim reports, annual reports,
announcements and circulars or any publication of the Company
regarding information on the remuneration and service contracts
of the Directors prior to approval by the Board.

During the year, the remuneration committee held two meetings, at
which the members of the remuneration committee reviewed the
remuneration packages of the Directors.
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The remuneration paid/payable to senior management (comprising REZE2018F12A31BILEFE BN ENEHR
Directors) for the year ended 31 December 2018 by band is set out BEREAE (BEES)NFMEEIIIAT
below:

Salaries,
allowances Pension
Remuneration Director's  and benefits Share scheme
Name of Director band fee in kind options  contributions Total
$e 2ER Bfe
ESpR FHEE FEk BENER R HE FHEMfR £
RMB % % % % %
ARHE
Chairman and non-executive Director
TRRFUTES
Mr. Teh Wing Kwan <1 100 - - - 100
WxERL
Executive Directors
BTES
Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping 200,000 - 300,000 53.0 41.3 - 5.7 100
ETig
Mr. Hao Xiemin 200,000 - 300,000 517 428 - 5.5 100
Mr. Wang Hu 200,000 - 300,000 51.7 428 - 5.5 100
TR%E
Independent non-executive Directors
BUEHTES
Mr. Yu Haizong 100,000 - 200,000 100 - - - 100
RAREE
Mr. Liu Yi 100,000 - 200,000 100 - - - 100
ElEiks
Mr. Wu Wen 100,000 - 200,000 100 - - - 100
RNEE
# Mr. Teh has voluntarily accepted a nominal Director's fee of HKD1 per # BELERMEFEES IR MERTESE
annum as the chairman of the Board and the non-executive Director. TERBEEZNEEF 1B
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The nomination
committee currently comprises the non-executive Director, Mr. Teh Wing
Kwan (Chairman), one executive Director, namely Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping,
and three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yu Haizong,
Mr. Liu Yi and Mr. Wu Wen.

The nomination committee’s main functions are:

o to review the structure, size, composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) and diversity (including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

o to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board
on the selection of individuals nomination for directorships
with due regard to the nomination policy (“Nomination Policy”)
and the board diversity policy (“Board Diversity Policy”) of the
Company and other factors which are relevant to the Company;

o to develop and formulate the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy for the Board’s consideration and approval;

o to discuss any revisions to the Nomination Policy and the
Board Diversity Policy that may be required, and recommend
such revisions to the Board for the Board’s consideration and
approval;

o to review, implement and monitor, as appropriate, the
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy;

o to review measurable objectives that the Board has set for
implementing any of the Nomination Policy and the Board
Diversity Policy, and monitor the progress on achieving such
objectives;

o to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors with reference to, inter alia, the factors set out in the
Listing Rules and any other factors deemed appropriate by the
nomination committee or the Board and assess their ability to
devote sufficient time to the Board and Board committees;

o to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of the Directors and succession planning for the
Directors, in particular the chairman and chief executive;
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o to develop the criteria for identifying and assessing the

qualifications of and evaluating candidates for directorship; and

o to keep under review the leadership needs of the organisation,
both executive and non-executive, with a view to ensuring the
continued ability of the organisation to compete effectively in
the market place.

The Board Diversity Policy is concerned with a view to achieving a
sustainable and balanced development and increasing diversity at the
Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. The Board Diversity
Policy has been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
the Board appointments will be based on merit and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board.

During the year, the nomination committee held two meetings, at
which the members of the nomination committee:

o reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Directors;

. assessed the skills, knowledge and experience of the new
Directors;

° evaluated the performance and contribution of the retiring
Directors;

. assessed the independence of the retiring Directors; and

° made recommendation to the Board for the adoption of

the revised terms of reference of the nomination committee
(including the Nomination Policy) in compliance with the CG
Code, effective from 1 January 2019. The Nomination Policy
is concerned with the nomination criteria and nomination
procedures for the selection and recommendation of candidates
for directorship.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate
governance function as set out below:

o to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance and legal and regulatory requirements;

. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the
Directors; and

o to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year, the Board held four meetings, at which the Board
reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and legal and regulatory compliance, training and
continuous professional development of the Directors, as well as the
Company's compliance with the CG Code.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the remuneration paid/payable
(excluding out-of-pocket expenses and value added tax) by the Group
to the Company’s external auditor, Ernst & Young, is set out below:
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND GOING
CONCERN STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements for each financial period, which give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flows for that period. The Company deploys appropriate and
sufficient resources to prepare audited accounts. Senior management
is required to present and explain the financial reporting and matters
that materially affect or may have material impact on the financial
performance and operations of the Group to the audit committee
and the Board and respond to the queries and concerns raised by the
audit committee and the Board to their satisfaction. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the IFRSs
and the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's financial position has been
continuously affected by a combination of factors, such as weak market
demand and selling price for low-grade iron products, low plants’
utilisation rates, escalated costs for operations including regulatory
and environmental compliance costs, etc. These conditions indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. As guided in the
section headed “Market and Strategy Overview"” under "Management
Discussion and Analysis" which can be found in 2018 interim report,
the Group has segregated its mines operations by (i) grades and (i)
geographic locations to facilitate strategic reviews, resources allocation
and operational management with a key objective to potentially expand
production capacity for the mines in the northern region of Sichuan as
its core mining assets while minimise future impairment losses for those
mines located mainly in the southern region of Sichuan. Subsequent to
various rounds of assessments and careful consideration, the Group has
had on 29 January 2019 entered into the SPA to dispose of the Disposal
Group which mainly produce and sell low-grade iron concentrates.
The proposed Disposal, upon completion, is expected to result in
positive financial effects on profit, net assets, cash flows and gearing
ratio of the Remaining Group. In preparing the consolidated financial
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statements for the year ended 31 December 2018, the Directors
have assessed the going concern status of the Group. As disclosed
in note 2.1 to financial statements of this annual report, taking into
account the measures the Group implemented or is in the process of
implementing, the Directors consider that the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operations and to pay its financial
obligations as and when they fall due. Accordingly, the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness. The
audit committee assists the Board in monitoring the risk exposures,
design and operating effectiveness of the relevant risk management
and internal control systems. The audit committee will report to the
Board after properly reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems.

The Group established an independent internal audit function directly
reporting to the audit committee. The internal audit personnel will
attend the audit committee meetings and report on internal audit
matters annually. If there is any material internal control defect, the
internal audit personnel directly reports to the audit committee without
limitation. Meanwhile, the Group appointed an international advisory
firm as an external advisor in November 2018 to provide internal
control services under a three-year rotation plan based on a risk-based
methodology.

Under the supervision of the Board, the management of the Group
is responsible for designing and implementing the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems. The Group has set up three
lines of defense for risk management. As the first line of defense, the
business units (e.g., sales department and production department) are
responsible for identifying and assessing business risks and developing
risk mitigation measures. As the second line of defense, the functional
departments (e.g., compliance department and finance department)
are responsible for assisting the business units to improve the risk
management and monitoring the effectiveness of risk management. As
the third line of defense, the internal audit function assists the Board
and the audit committee to review the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems.
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As and when required during the year, the management convened
meetings which were chaired by the senior management with
attendants including managers from subsidiaries and department
heads from the headquarters. The Group’s decisions on operations,
implementation of investment projects, financial issues, and the
updates on risk management and internal control were considered and
determined in these meetings. The management convened annual and
interim work meetings in order to assign and review works on a yearly
basis and half yearly basis, respectively. The meetings have facilitated
the organisation, co-ordination, communication and supervision on the
commencement and implementation of the Group's various operations,
as well as the risk management and internal control systems.

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the SFO and the
Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information should
be announced immediately when it is the subject of a decision. The
procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of
inside information include:

. the Company has established a sensitive information disclosure
policy, which specified the information disclosure process,
the confidentiality requirements of the undisclosed sensitive
information, the confidentiality obligations of the employees of
the Group, etc;

° the access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in
possession of inside information are fully conversant with their
obligations to preserve confidentiality;

° confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters
into significant negotiations;

. the executive Directors are designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external
parties such as the media, analysts or investors;
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o the service contracts of the Directors, senior management and
the employees of the Group specify the confidentiality clauses;
and

o the legal advisors of the Company regularly provide relevant

training to the Board and senior management.

Risk Management

The Board has established an enterprise risk management mechanism
according to the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission’s Enterprise Risk Management Framework. The
Board has established risk management policies and measures on the
procedures of risk identification, evaluation, reporting and mitigation.
The risk management mechanism covers the whole Group’s various
risks in the business operations and management. The functional
department of risk management is the compliance department of the
Group, which reports to the audit committee and is responsible for the
establishment and operations of the risk management system and co-
ordination of risk management, supervision and evaluation of the risk
management, as well as providing advice for material risk decisions.

The compliance department of the Group periodically collected risk
information and conducted risk evaluation through questionnaires,
workshops, management meetings, etc., which were reported to
senior management in a timely manner. In 2018, based on the Group's
production and business conditions, the compliance department
of the Group summarised a total of 75 risk factors, categorised as
strategic risk, operational risk, compliance risk and financial risk. The
management scored the risk factors based on their understanding,
production and operation experiences and determined the risk
mitigation and internal control measures to address the risks. The
identified top five risks and the related risk response measures were as
below:

o market conditions of iron ore industry are highly related to
the macroeconomic condition, which will affect the Group's
revenue. China is undergoing a major supply-side structural
reform. The issues of overcapacity in the steel industry remain
a serious concern and there is also limited opportunity to
export excess steel when global investments are subdued and
anti-dumping measures are already in place. In face of the
unfavourable operating environment, the Group has streamlined
its operations amidst challenging and highly volatile business
conditions. As part of the Group’s diversification plans, the
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management has commenced trading of steels and coals which
helped to expand revenue stream since 2016. As a result of the
Chinese government's environmental measures, market demand
and market price for high-grade iron ore which produces less
pollutant during the steel production process have increased,
in contrast to low-grade iron ore. The Group has planned to
expand the production of high-grade iron ore in North Sichuan
and lower the potential impairment loss of low-grade iron ore in
South Sichuan;

timely collection of trade receivables is important to the Group's
cash flow. Lack of proper credit management may lead to high
risk sales, while excessive trade receivables’ balance will affect
the Group’s financial performance. In 2018, the management
has strengthened the review and approval on the sales contracts
and sales orders; meanwhile, the sales and finance departments
have conducted periodical evaluation on the collection of trade
receivables and contractual performance of major customers,
and followed up on the overdue trade receivables;

raising funds to ensure the virtuous cycle of working capital
is vital. Given the moderating economic growth in China and
soaring debts at the macro level, many banks and financial
institutions in China, to a larger extent, have tightened their
lending policies and adopted more prudent measures in
approving and renewing loans. As the Group’s business falls
under the categories which have been extensively affected by
the conservative banking approaches, the Group is well aware
of the difficulties and uncertainties in obtaining long-term
banking facilities and potentially, at higher funding costs. For
the best interests of the Group, the management discussed
and negotiated with the banks for the interest rates and the
expiry dates upon the renewal of the bank loans. Meanwhile,
to actively implement the budget management, the Group held
regular monthly meetings to analyse the budget implementation
and the following month’s budget plan to ensure efficient and
rational use of funds;
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o as the smog pollution in China is worsening, the Chinese
government might enforce tougher environmental measures
that would place additional pressure on domestic steel
producers. In order to alleviate pressure on the environment,
the Group has started to sell the tailings to independent third
parties for further production, processing and reuse since
2016. The tailings water produced was recycled and sent to the
processing plant for reuse after proper treatment; moreover, the
Group has planned to produce more high-grade iron ore which
produces less pollutant; and

o Mine management is of great importance to ore producers.
The Group has adopted various ways to improve the safety and
orderliness of mine production, such as strengthened overhaul
towards the equipment, more frequent staff training, etc.
According to the risk evaluation, the management considered
the possibility of mine management failure to be low due to
the Group's continuous focus on mine management; however,
considering its huge implication if occurred, the management
took it as a major risk for the Group to pay continuous close
attention.

Internal Control

The audit committee supervises and inspects the comprehensiveness
and implementation of the internal control system of the Group,
and regularly discusses with the management on the system in order
to ensure that the management performs its duties to establish an
effective internal control framework.
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The internal control system has been designed to safeguard the assets
of the Group and maintain proper accounting records, execution
with appropriate authority and compliance of the relevant laws and
regulations. The Board has established and evaluated the relevant
internal control system across three spectrums covering the corporate
governance and system, business and accounting procedures and
information system control. The Group has developed the management
policy and procedures and exerted strict evaluation on personnel
performance. The Board has established internal control and risk
management mechanism according to the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission’s Internal Control
Integrated Framework. The main features of the framework are as
follows:

o control environment: including code of conduct and other
practices regarding acceptable business practice or expected
standards of ethical and moral behaviours, management of
conflict of interest, authority and responsibility, legal and
regulatory compliance, etc;

o risk assessment: including objective management, risk
assessment and management, compliance management, etc;

° control activities: including sales, trade receivables and
collection, procurement, trade payables and payment,
production and costing, human resources and payroll, assets
management, treasury, financial reporting, information
technology general controls, etc;

° information and communication: including forecasting and
budgeting, internal and external communication, confidentiality
and data protection; and

o monitoring activities: including internal audit function, reporting
of internal control defects, etc.
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In 2018, the internal audit function of the Group, with the assistance
of an international advisory firm, performed an annual review and self-
assessment on the above internal control system in order to monitor
its operations in a timely manner. The main work procedures included
policy review, interview with key process owners, sample testing, etc.
As a result of the self-assessment, the Group updated some policies
and procedures in accordance with the actual business operations and
practice of the Group. For the identified 22 issues, the Group requested
the relevant departments to take remediation action in a timely manner.
The internal audit function together with an international advisory firm
reported the self-assessment result to the audit committee. The Board,
through the audit committee, reviewed the work of the internal audit
function as well. After a follow-up review on the remediation status
of the identified issues, the Group believed that a proper internal
control system was established and executed, and no significant area of
concern which might affect the Shareholders was found.

The Board conducts review of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems at least once a year. The Group's risk
management and internal control systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. For the year ended 31 December
2018, the Board, through the audit committee, has reviewed the
effectiveness of the systems of risk management and internal control
(including financial, operational and compliance controls), and was
of the view that the Group complied with the relevant CG Code of
risk management and internal control and concluded that the risk
management and internal control systems were effective and adequate,
and such controls effectively mitigated the risks that might have impact
on the Group in achieving its strategic objectives.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Kong Chi Mo was appointed as the Company Secretary on 4
September 2009. According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, an
issuer's company secretary must take no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training in each financial year. During the year, Mr. Kong
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for convening an extraordinary
general meeting and putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, Shareholder(s) holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company (the “Requisitionist(s)”) may, by written requisition
(the "Requisition”) to the Board or the Company Secretary, require
an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in the Requisition. The Requisition shall be deposited at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong. The EGM
shall be held within two months after the deposit of the Requisition. In
the event that the Board fails to proceed to convene the EGM within
twenty-one days of the deposit of the Requisition, the Requisitionist(s)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for shareholders to put enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. In respect of other
enquiries, Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board through
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong which will
direct the enquiries to the Board for handling.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

In 2018, the Company continued to communicate with Shareholders,
investors and analysts in an honest manner through various channels.
Timely disclosure of corporate information and necessary data for
valuation purpose has been fully provided so as to help the capital
market understand the investment value of the Company. The main
communication channels with the Shareholders include:
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Annual general meetings

The annual general meeting is an important discussion platform for
the Shareholders to participate in, facilitating the communications
between the management of the Company and the Shareholders. The
annual general meeting is held once a year, being accessible to all the
Shareholders. The Directors answer any questions the Shareholders have
at the annual general meeting, being attended by the external auditor
and the Company Secretary. All matters proposed to the Shareholders
for approval shall be submitted in separate resolutions and resolved
by way of poll at the annual general meeting. The procedures of
conducting a poll will be explained in details to the Shareholders and
the voting results will be set out on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website.

Annual reports, interim reports, announcements
and circulars

The Company issues its annual reports and interim reports after
publishing the annual results and the interim results in March and
August every year, respectively, so as to periodically review the
development of the Group as well as to update its Shareholders
with its latest business information and market trends. In addition,
the Company will inform the Shareholders through announcements
regarding any major event or price sensitive information in a timely
manner. For any matter requiring the approval of the Shareholders, the
Company will hold an EGM according to the requirements of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange and issue a circular prior to the specific date of
the meeting, allowing the Shareholders to have sufficient time to learn
more about the matters for making voting decisions. All annual reports,
interim reports, announcements and circulars will be uploaded to the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange's website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company’s website.

The chairman of the Board also encourages Shareholders and investors
to write to him directly if they wish so. He has included his email
address in the section headed “Chairman’s Statement” on page 12 of
this annual report.
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The Company’s website

The Company’s website offers timely access to the Group's press
releases and other business information. Through its website, the
Company provides the Shareholders with electronic versions of the
financial reports, the latest slide presentations, as well as up-to-date
news about the Group’s business, announcements, general information,
etc. To make contributions to environmental protection and maintain
effective communication with the Shareholders, the Group encourages
all Shareholders to browse the Company’s corporate communication
files on the Company's website.

Investor contacts and enquiries

The Group has a dedicated team to maintain contact with investors and
handle Shareholders’ enquiries. Should investors have any enquiries,
please contact the Company’s external Investor Relations Consultant via
email at ir@chinavtmmining.com.

The Company will ensure that the information of the work on investor
relations is disclosed in a timely and accurate manner, and will react to
the capital market effectively and smoothly. This can help the capital
market to better understand its development strategies and operating
conditions.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

]
EY:

To the shareholders of
CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Central, Hong Kong

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 97 to 243, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Ernst & Young ZXREFTEIERR
22/F, CITIC Tower BEDIRREEIR
1 Tim Mei Avenue hiERE2218

B B

Tel EEFE: +852 2846 9888
Fax f8E: +852 2868 4432
ey.com
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

FARETER
RRETFESRERFNERAE  RAEHAN
PRAMBRERNEBEARA/EENFR -BLS
HREHGEVBHRREBETEFTLIRER
VES TNETREN RATHELEREHRE
BHEBER -BMAY T E - FREE T EWM
JEE BBt LA BB = o

BPCRETT T ARE [ZHOAFS BT
HEAAENEME FOBANEE BEEEE
SHEMAMNEE-BED RMOBFIESRE
HITREYHF AWM RRNERERR AR
SRR RMRTEAZEFNER B
HREHTREHEMNTORET  REENNERS
MEHBREREFTERRE T ER-
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Key audit matter

HEETEE

Impairment of non-current assets

B A ERE

In accordance with IFRSs, the Group assesses at the end of
each reporting period whether there are any indications of
impairment for its non-current assets. If such indications
of impairment exist, a formal estimate of the recoverable
amount is performed. The Group has material non-current
assets, including property, plant and equipment, mining
infrastructure, mining rights, and exploration rights and
assets. Based on the existing market conditions, impairment
indicators were identified for the Group’s main cash
generating units (“CGUs"), other pre-development stage
mining rights, and exploration rights and assets.

REBRMERELR BRERSHEHRTLEIER
BEEALGTMREDRR - WREFRFE BETER
WAl e eEEete EXEEEAEAERDEE BRFY
¥ HENKERE RBEEZE REEALBIREREE - RIE
BRINMZIER EBEXENFEReEAEN EMER
FENREEARDREREEFEREDTR -

Accordingly, management performed the impairment
assessment based on the discounted cash-flow model on
these non-current assets and the related cash generating
units. A total impairment loss on non-current assets of
RMB388,780,000 was recognised during the year. The
assessment of recoverable amounts involved significant
estimation uncertainty, subjective assumptions and
application of significant judgement, in relation to
recoverable reserves, commodity prices, discount rate,
budgeted gross margin and production volumes.

it BEEEERMRRGRERAHELERHEERS
R & E A EAOETRER - RFEERHIEREDEER
BHE B & A K 1388,780,0007T < ] Y Bl & R Y 51 9 )
BANMGIEEN ERTHMRIMEANAE P RATEK
#E EmER MRE BEEMNENES-

The Group's disclosures about impairment assessment for
these non-current assets are included in notes 10 and 13 to
financial statements.
EEEBANZEIFREE ERE N E ST U155 ® R
F10Kk13 -

Independent Auditor’s Report
8 MR BLAT 3R B

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZHRENEEHEREMNES P RN AR

Our audit procedures included the following:
BHPNBFREFEFBEATEE:

We tested the impairment model selected for each
CGU and class of assets based on our understanding
of their nature and checked its mathematical accuracy.
BMEREReEEEMNMEEBNMENERE AR
AREERSELBMNEGEEERENENRERE
Wigd HAME Py ERE -

We compared key market-derived estimates, including
commodity prices and interest rates, against external
data. We reviewed the sensitivity analysis of key
assumptions and estimates underlying the calculations
prepared by management.

FrEmmIS AR ERET (RERRER LN EX)
HPIAG H BN AR BURETH - BB BREREM G
HEH BRI RR GG EURIE DT -

We compared key operational estimates in the models
to source data and publicly available information,
including the forward market price of iron ore and
gypsum.

BT RR A A B A AR B O BE SR R 5t - BT L B B oK
REAAREGHESETHL  BEEBANAEER
HATISER -

We involved our valuation specialist to assist us in
evaluating the key valuation parameters such as
the discount rate calculation, the terminal growth
rate applied and the valuation model used in the
impairment assessment models.

P ENAHE RN AEREREERE AR
BERENSAEEPNEREESE RIABEA I
RBERZE - BB FAIETT AT

We also assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

BMTMEFAGaMBRERMNT LNEARERES R
40
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Key audit matter

HRETEE

Recoverability of trade receivables

JE AR 50 1 AT [B1 44 1%

The Group has material credit exposures in its portfolio
of trade receivables. As at 31 December 2018, the gross
balance of trade receivables was RMB480,338,000 of
which RMB327,263,000 was past due. As at 31 December
2018, a total provision for impairment of trade receivables
of RMB327,495,000 was recorded. The volatility of iron
ore and steel markets in 2018 increased the required
judgement in making the impairment assessment. The
assessment of impairment provision for trade receivables
involves significant management judgement including the
assessment of customers’ financial position, and expected
future cash flows from customers.
EEBRUERESFEEREERR 12018512431
H - AR SR ER FE s A R #5480,338,0007T - H 78 B &
W B k8288 B A R #327,263,0007T - #2018F 12 A31H -
HEWEBRFGTIR AR E R B AR AR %327,495,0000T ©
2018 HE A MME T IHHN T IBTE E R 2 ENLRERE
BrE - BERETERKEFAERERERNEXRAEH S
FAERPHNM BN RIEA KRR ERAIR IR -

The Group’s disclosures about impairment assessment for
trade receivables and the related credit risk are included in
notes 3, 20 and 39 to financial statements.

&5 B R B R FORE AT 14 R AB B = & R o) B BR & 5
R R FE3 ~ 20%39 ©

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ZHEENEEHEEMNES PR NMES K

Our audit procedures included the following:
BMOEAREFBEATEIE:

We assessed and tested the controls over the loss
allowance estimate process.

AR L A A B R EEATBENEE-

We checked the ageing analysis of trade receivables by
customer.

BFREREF 80 8 AR ARE DA -

We selected samples of trade receivables and assessed
management’s assumptions used in the calculation of
the expected credit losses (“ECLs”) by checking the
overdue balances, the customers’ historical payment
patterns and bank receipts for the payments received
subsequent to year end. We also checked evidence
for the latest progress in collecting the outstanding
amounts and the credit status of these significant
debtors by reviewing correspondence with the debtors
and by performing company search.
HERERERNHE FEEEBEAERAEH
BEAREANRER RETalER TRELERE
R E LB BRI IRITIE - RMITERERFEHEEE
B AR R4S AR &9 R4 R 15
MR ERBIE - WEITRRIEM -

We assessed the adequacy of disclosures regarding the
ECLs of trade receivables and the Group’s exposure to
credit risk in the consolidated financial statements.
HMHhEe T HRAkPERNEREFEDRERESX
M BEEEFMEYHEERRNEERESREM-
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Annual Report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
8 MR BLAT 3R B
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the Directors.

RBE R BET RS
MEE

MBHRREAE

BAPMER RYUGEAMBHRRBEEROIFE
BN IRFERER aéeﬂﬁ%?ﬂﬂ’ﬂéﬁﬁa RRAIMG AR
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EHERBRIELRS  FRIELASN RREL &
H A%k - HM T e ZBmRs AR [EM
Hi AL B EAEEMEE-
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

Independent Auditor’s Report
8 MR BLAT 3R B
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lai Chee Kong.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

MEeEEmkHMEZEKER
Year Ended 31 December 2018
HE2018F12A31HIEFE

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Impairment losses on property, plant
and equipment

Impairment losses on intangible assets

Reversal/(provision) of impairment
losses on trade receivables, net

Impairment losses on financial assets
included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets

Impairment losses on assets held for sale

Fair value losses on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Finance costs
Share of losses of an associate

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Income tax credit

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Loss for the year from Discontinued
Operations

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

2018 2017
20184 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
[{hg=3 ARE T AREFIT
(Re-presented)
(gE7)
BELSEER
PN 4,5 684,750 877,183
5 6 B AR (634,210) (861,611)
EF 50,540 15,572
H MU A R iz 5 602 1,353
HE RS AL (11,284) (15,123)
THAX (34,746) (15,931)
Hifx (2,256) (8,123)
ME - BEREERERRE
(1,071) -
mivEEREERE - (64,884)
U BR SRR E B 18

(BB 58 7 9,898 (10,521)
ETATEFR FRIE - H g U

FRIE R HAh & E R

CREERBERRE 7 (23) -
RIELEEERERE 7 (1,469) (4,525)
BEAFEFEMEEZSHT A

BEamMemEEN

NEEERE 7 - (109,617)
B 7 A AR (8,343) (5,282)
JEE—MEEE AR EE - (9,458)
BEKSEEBNHATFE,

(E5#8) 7 1,848 (226,539)
FrigBiE e 9 2,808 4,076
BESEEBENFERRE

(E’) 4,656 (222,463)
BRIEEEEK
ERIFEEEBNTFARNEIS

10 (453,907) (167,158)
FRNER (449,251) (389,621)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GeBRmRkEMEEERER

Year Ended 31 December 2018
HE2018F12A318IEFE

2018 2017
2018%F 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Pt 5 AREBT ARBTF T
(Re-presented)
(K&E3)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ Hit2mkE (FE):
(LOSS) :
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that ~ AJR{E& MR EH 248
may be reclassified to profit or loss in EEEMNEMEERE
subsequent periods: (B#8) :
Exchange differences on translation of BREGIINEBEED
foreign operations &N =R 989 (140)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FRAZHBEAR
FOR THE YEAR (448,262) (389,761)
Loss attributable to: EEEBER
Owners of the Company KRAREBA (443,969) (349,490)
Non-controlling interests FEfE AR M = (5,282) (40,131)
(449,251) (389,621)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: 2 HEEEEBRBR
Owners of the Company RRARGER A (443,161) (349,603)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR M AR (5.,101) (40,158)
(448,262) (389,761)
Earnings/(loss) per Share attributable to  $F B AR 7] E A%
ordinary equity holders of the Company: &+ B A BT R D
af/ (&)
Basic and diluted BEARRETE
— For loss for the year —FRNEE 12 RMB AR¥(0.20)T  RMB ARM(0.16)7T
— For profit/(loss) from Continuing —RHEREEB RN,
Operations (E#E) 12 RMB A R#0.00%  RMB AE(0.08)7T
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NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Other intangible asset

Prepaid land lease payments

Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Payments in advance

Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade and bills receivables

Prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

Due from related parties

Cash and cash equivalents

Assets classified as held for sale
Assets of a disposal group classified
as held for sale

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade and bills payables

Contract liabilities

Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank and other loans
Due to related parties

Tax payable

Dividend payable

Liabilities directly associated with
the assets classified as held for sale

Total current liabilities

FRBEE
BVEE
Hip\PEE
AN i E R

IR - A BRI R

HiEE
TBRFIR
EXERBEE

FRBEERE
RBEE

TE
FEW R B R IR

FER RO - E Al FE WK IR )

HiEE
e Wi e Bt 7 AR IR
RelREEEY

DERFIELENEE

NERFBELER
HEARNNEE

*

RBEEME

REBEME
R RRERE
BHEE

H A A 5RIA K B AT 5ROR

HERITREMER
JE 1 B Bk 77 3RIR

J& A B 3K

FET AR

BABEAREHEDN
BEEEABNAR

nREBAEEE

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A TR R &R

31 December 2018

2018412 A31H

2018 2017

20184 20174

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
M 3E AR¥ET T ARET T
13 159,203 630,898
14 737,526 1,349,971
15 7,525 8,440
16 = 33,015
17 1,172 7,347
= 156

18 17,601 70,269
923,027 2,100,096

19 23,627 174,637
20 105,229 373,707
17 21,222 71,387
22 = 637
23 33,696 13,286
183,774 633,654

24 41,169 302,125
10 1,297,877 -
1,522,820 935,779

25 54,235 175,871
26 5,811 -
27 77,878 554,906
28 84,645 596,205
22 9,805 11,220
9,154 3,254

= 1,801

241,528 1,343,257

10 1,291,490 -
1,533,018 1,343,257
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RE BRI &
31 December 2018
2018512 A31H

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Interest-bearing bank and other loans
Provision for rehabilitation

Other payables

Total non-current liabilities
Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Issued capital

Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Jiang Zhong Ping &+ ¥
Director &%
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RBEEFE

EERERRDEE

FRBEE
SFRRITREMER
EREE

H 8 5 3R
FRBEERE
BEEFE

B
EERAATES ANES

EEITHAR
ffé 8

IR ERE

EEAE

Hao Xiemin i & &
Director &%

Notes

B 5

2.1

28
29
27

30
32

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETF T
(10,198) (407,478)
912,829 1,692,618
16,149 311,106
1,833 11,400
1,151 25,007
19,133 347,513
893,696 1,345,105
197,889 197,889
376,848 823,018
574,737 1,020,907
318,959 324,198
893,696 1,345,105




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
RERESER

Year ended 31 December 2018

HE2018F12A31HIEFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
BRRELFHAA
Difference
arising from Retained
Safety acquisition earnings/
Share fund Share of non- Exchange (accumu- Non-
Issued premium Statutory surplus  Contributed option controlling Capital fluctuation lated controlling Total
capital account reserves reserve surplus reserve interests reserve reserves losses) Total interests equity
UBEER
Z2EE RiBE RHEE EXRD  @#ER/
BEIRE  BROEEE  EEORE BERE N1 8% HEE BRD0R B (ZHER) EH FERER EREE

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
AR¥TT  ARMTR  ARMTT  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  AR%TR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARKTR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR

note 30 note 32(2) note 32(b) note 32(d) note 32(c) note 31 note 32(f)
FriE30 W30 H3200) M3 W30 Wit M)
At 1 January 2017 #01751A18 182,787 1,840,253 220,176 134214 87,38 41,921 (852,820) 186,200 - (521,796) 1,318,173 353,782 1,671,955
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - - - - - - (113) (349,490) (349,603) (40,158) (389,761)
Equity-settled Shares option arrangement - - - - - (1,777) - - - 1777 - - -
Issue of new Shares 15,102 37,235 - - - - - - - - 52337 - 52,337
Establishment for safety fund
surplus reserve - - - 26,429 - - - - - (26,429) - - -
Acquisition of a subsidiary hE-BTL8 - - - - - - - - - - - 10,574 10,574
At 31 December 2017 20175128318 197,889 1,877,488* 220,176* 160,643% 87,238* 40,144% (852,820)% 186,200% (113 (895,938)* 1,020,907 324,198 1,345,105
At 1 January 2018 H2018F1A18 197,889 1,877,488 20,176 160,643 87,238 40,144 (852,820) 186,200 (113) (895,938) 1,020,907 324198 1,345,105
Effect of adoption of IFRS 9 (note 22)  REEREHHZ2H
S98HTE (M) = = = = = = = 0 - (3,009) (3,009) (138) (3,147)
At 1 January 2018 (restated) H018E1A18 (HE3)) 197,889 1,877,488 20,176 160,643 87,238 40,144 (852,820) 186,200 (113) (898,947) 1,017,898 324,060 1,341,958
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - - - - (443,969) (443,969) (5,.282) (449,251)
Other comprehensive loss for the year: ~ EAEt2EEE
Exchange differences on BENRRAEENERZE
translation of financial statements - - - - - - - - 808 - 808 181 989
Total comprehensive incomef(loss)
for the year - - - - - - - - 808 (443,969) (443,161) (5.101) (448,262)
Utilisation for safety fund surplus reserve - - - (5,649) - - - - - 5,649 - - -
Provision of safety fund surplus reserve - - - 21,833 - - - - - (21,833) - - -
At 31 December 2018 H018F12A318 197,889 1,877,488* 220,176* 176,827* 87,238* 40,144* (852,820) 186,200 695*  (1,359,100) 574,731 318,959 893,696
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZERBREOREGEAUBRAXRROES
RMB376,848,000 (2017: RMB823,018,000) in the consolidated # B AR 1376,848,0007T (20174 : AR
statement of financial position. 823,018,0007T) °
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. Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEEERER

Year ended 31 December 2018

HZ=E2018F12A31HIEFE
2018 2017
201845 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR¥ T ARBF T
(Re-presented)
(=E5))
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHHNEESRE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax: BATEF, (FE)
From Continuing Operations SEEEET 7 1,848 (226,539)
From Discontinued Operations ERIEEEER 10 (437,791) (188,351)
Adjustments for: T SEELHAR:
Finance costs B TEBCAR 6, 10 61,177 73,588
Bank interest income HRITHLE WA (50) 7)
Gain on debt restructuring BEBEAKE (4,093) -
Gain on disposal of items of property, HEME BER
plant and equipment HHIE B s (972) -
Reversal of inventory provision BETFERE - (35)
Write-down of inventory to net WREEE#EFE
realisable value 2,680 -
Fair value losses on financial assets BATEFEmMEE S
at fair value through profit or loss ATABGRNEREEN
NEERE 7 - 109,617
Impairment of items of property, plant M- BEREE
and equipment B RE 7,10 113,309 72,776
Provision/(reversal) of impairment loss e U AR FUR BB 1B
on trade receivables, net () F%8 7,10 (13,350) 10,521
Impairment loss on financial assets T ATERRIE - H A FE UK
included in prepayments, other RIERHEMEER
receivables and other assets EREERESIE 7,10 12,221 -
Impairment of items of EBREEHEBRE
intangible assets 7,10 266,630 76,129
Impairment loss on prepaid land TEf L E R EEE
lease payments 10 8,841 2,413
Impairment of assets held for sale FIELHENEERE 7,10 1,469 44,525
Depreciation e 13 53,591 47,597
Amortisation of intangible assets miEERH 14 5,618 7,960
Fair value loss on a previously held 2 BISE 9 25 W —
equity interest under the step FRBIMHERAE R
acquisition of a subsidiary AT EEBE - 633
Share of losses of an associate FE(E —EEE & A R EE - 9,458
Amortisation of other intangible asset Hih\mp EE#H 15 915 -
Amortisation of prepaid land TET £ 70 & R 8
lease payments 16 1,110 1,107
73,153 41,382
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEHSRER

Year ended 31 December 2018

HE2018F12A31HIEFE
2018 2017
20184 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
k=g AR¥ET ARETT
(Re-presented)
(gE50)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables  FEUWBEZOR 4~ (4& ) 231,118 (54,035)
Decrease in inventories FERD 102,736 120,406
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TR FRIE - H Ath FE YR IE R
other receivables and other assets Hu&EERD, (M) (93,102) 21,984
Decrease in amounts due from JiE Wt B B 75 SR IBR
related parties 610 9,750
Decrease in trade payables and bill FEATBR R R BB R
payables (2,075) (19,687)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables H R R8I B AT
and accruals FIEE I, CRd) (109,305) 7,119
Decrease in contract liabilities EHEaER D 5,811 -
Increase in amounts due to JE 1< BB B 75 FRIE 8 0
related parties = (4,545)
Cash from operations KEELXNRS 208,946 122,374
Interest paid EAFE - (55,080)
Interest received B B 50 17
Income tax paid 2 AT RS (779) (356)
Net cash flows from KEEHEENERS
operating activities mEHE 208,217 66,955
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHNWRERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of items of property, BEWE BENMKREHEAR
plant and equipment (137,273) (71,692)
Purchase of intangible assets BEEEEE (82) (1,258)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME BENERE
property, plant and equipment BB ERE 321 35
Consideration paid for previously BAEREFARNENARE
acquired subsidiaries = (20,850)
Acquisition of a subsidiary I B8 — R R A - 4,197
Acquisition of an associate U g — M EE & A7) (1,560) (2,835)
Net cash flows used in KEEEFRANES
investing activities mEFEE (138,594) (92,403)

2018 3} | TEINHKHEHABEEERAF 103

\‘



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= s =
?-"vT\ /EI\ IE ﬁ /ﬁ =28 435
Year ended 31 December 2018
HE2018F12A318IEFE

CASH FLOWS FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from bank loans and other loans

Repayment of bank loans and other loans

Interest paid
Decrease in an amount due to
a related party

Net cash flows from/(used in)
financing activities

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances

Cash and cash equivalent as stated in the

consolidated statement of
financial position

Cash and bank balances attributable to
Discontinued Operations

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in
the statement of cash flows
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METHNRERE

RITERREMER

P S 30 IR
BERTERREMER
EAHE

JEA — R B R 77 SRR

MEFBEEL (£R)
BIR & n 8%
RERASEEYEMN
(RD)ZE
FUONRERRASEEY

EXBEHFEFR

FROBRERBLEEN

RERBRESENEHRON

BE MIRTTHE S
A MBI R H
ReMETFEY

FENERLEGERHTN
B RIRTTHEE

BemERMINNRE &
ReEED

Notes

B RE

23

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARETT
(Re-presented)

(=E5))

153,479 24,842
(173,011) (5,621)
(32,272) -
(966) -
(52,770) 19,221
16,853 (6,227)
13,286 19,740
3,632 (227)
33,771 13,286
33,696 13,286
33,696 13,286
75 -
33,771 13,286




Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 28 April 2008
under the Companies Law. The registered office address of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong is located at Unit A,
4th Floor, E168, Nos. 166-168 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong
Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group was
principally engaged in the following principal activities:

° mining and ore processing

o sale of self-produced products

o trading of coals and steels

° management of strategic investments

o rendering of specialised mining services

In the opinion of the Directors, Trisonic International, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong, is the parent and the ultimate
holding company of the Company.

Bt 35 R R M &

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

RAREEER

AN BIFR2008F4 A28 HIEHE SRR
REEFEMK LA —HEREERET
A E] o AR B FE % SR bl A Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands ° ZNA BRI B A £ E & E B R
BB EEIETR166-1685E168 K E4IEA

=
Z= o

REE2018F 128318 IEFER K&
BTrEREUTIBER:

. PRUE M s AR

. HEBEEM

. BiR K 8 8 B B

. RES R EE IR

. RHEFXFARRSE

EERR AABK (—RRNEBEMK

TMRE)BARANE D REKIER
R
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 R Ak B &

31 December 2018
2018512 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows:

Company name

DEEB

Directly held:

BERA:

Powerside Holdings Limited
7 A IR A R

First China Limited

=RERRAT

Sure Prime Limited (“Sure Prime”)

Sure Prime Limited ([Sure Prime |)

Mancala Holdings®

GES-R il

Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd.

Singapore VTM Mining Pte. Ltd.

Indirectly held:

EERFE -

Simply Rise Holdings Limited
HEERAR QT

Sichuan Mancala®

mJI & RA

Huili Caitong®@”e

© I8 Bf g ee

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business

HEMAL
S E 3L

BVI
RERXES
Hong Kong
)

BVI
RERUES
BVI
REERZES
Singapore

b

Hong Kong
=N
PRC

i

PRC

HE

1. 2AREEER (@)

FRFLANER

RABEFRANFBOT

Issued ordinary/
registered

share capital
25 £y
EBRE
ERLTES

usb1
17T
HKD2
28T
usD1
E
HKD1
1787
SGD1

1IN T

HKD1
18T
RMB 10,000,000

ARE
10,000,0007T

RMB610,520,000

ARE
610,520,0007T

106 CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2018 ANNUAL REPORT

Percentage

of equity
attributable to
the Company

BERAAXT
WESZEDL
%

100

100

100

81

100

100

60

100

Principal
activities

TEEH

Investment
holding
REER

Investment
holding
REER

Investment
holding
BAEER

Investment
holding
REER

Investment
holding
REER

Investment
holding
REER

Investment
holding
BAEER

I[ron ore mining,
iron ore
beneficiation
and sale of
self-produced
products
HEARK-
HEEAEE R
HEBEEM



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Company name

DNEEE

Sichuan Lingyu®

Luplipeg-l

Xiushuihe Mining@/e

7 JK5A] ﬁ}% % (©)/(e)

Aba Mining®©

P g A 5 ©

Akuang Trading®®

fiEE 50

Sichuan Xinglian©@

7o 1| S

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business

33
SRR i B

PRC

B

PRC

thE

PRC

PRC

th

PRC

b

Notes to Financial Statements

Rt 75 R R B

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

1. 2AEAREEER (@)

EBFARNESR (&)

Percentage

Issued ordinary/ of equity
registered attributable to Principal
share capital the Company activities

28T

TEBRE BEREQR
ERUYIEN WEZBDL TEER

%
HKD770,000,000 100 Product trading
and
investment
holding
770,000,0007%8 7T EmEENR
&R
RMB200,000,000 95 Iron ore mining,
iron ore
beneficiation
and sale of
self-produced
products
AR BEARK-
200,000,0007T HEALER
HEBREEM
RMB20,000,000 100 I[ron ore mining,
iron ore
beneficiation
and sale of
self-produced
products
AR BREARRK-
20,000,0007T HIEALER
HEBEEM
RMB20,000,000 100 I[ron ore
beneficiation
and sale of
iron concentrates
AR HEAEE R
20,000,0007T & A
RMB1,000,000 100 Mining
and
construction
consulting
AR R T2

1,000,0007T
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 R Ak B &

31 December 2018
2018512 A31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Company name

DEEB

Panzhihua Yixingda®@"

Sichuan Haoyuan®©

Mg EY

Xinjin Mining®

BEWHEC

MHPL®

& RAER
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Place of
incorporation/
registration
and business

HEMAL,
U E SR

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

PRC

HE

Australia

1. 2AREEER (@)

EBFARMNESR (&)

Percentage

Issued ordinary/ of equity
registered attributable to Principal
share capital the Company activities

BT

@A BERARQTF
=R A WEZE I TEEK

%
RMB1,000,000 100 Iron ore mining,
iron ore
beneficiation
and sale of
self-produced
products
AR BEA R
1,000,0007T HEAEER
HEBEEM
RMB20,000,000 51 Gypsum ore
beneficiation
and sale of
self-produced
products
AR AEBEAKER
20,000,0007T HEBEEM
RMB1,150,000 51 Gypsum ore
mining, gypsum
ore beneficiation
and sale of
self-produced
products
AR ABBAREK-
1,150,0007T AERALER
HEBEEM
AUD298,817 81 Contract
mining and
specialised
mining services
298,81727T ARRER
HERBERSE



1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

@ Huili Caitong was converted from a domestic limited company to
a foreign investment enterprise on 22 September 2006.

® Sichuan Lingyu is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned
enterprise under PRC law.

© These subsidiaries are registered as domestic enterprises under
PRC law.
@ Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or other member firm

of the Ernst & Young global network.

@ Pursuant to the announcement on 29 January 2019, the
Company has entered into the SPA with Chengyu Vanadium
Titano. (the “Purchaser”) on the same date in respect of the
disposal of Huili Caitong, Xiushuihe Mining and Panzhihua
Yixingda (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Disposal
Group”) (the "Disposal”). Refer to note 10 to the financial
statements for further details of the Disposal.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Notes to Financial Statements

Rt 75 R R B

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

REAIREBEHR (&)

EBTLARNER (&)

@ 21BN 2006F9 A22HMIRANAE
RETQREHAINERLE-

o IR IR & P BUA R EM RINEE
Bz

© LEFREARBEFEAREMAEA

b
@ WHMEBRKLRKDRBENE
R B RAEEZ -

@ RIEN2019F 1 B29B M AE - ANAF]
RRBEBCMIIA ([EF)FIIES
W NREREEREVE £
BWERBRESHEE (TXHBHE
£E]) (HERE]) AHELEESRE
WE—SHE BFLHUVBERERMT
10 °

ERIENARBFRADESEARE
BYEFANEEXABRAEEFEEN
ERWBHE -EFR/RHEMT AR
ABEEEREBN IR
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 R Ak B &

31 December 2018
2018512 A31H

2.1

110

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs"),
which comprise standards and interpretations approved by
the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB"),
and International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Standing
Interpretations Committee interpretations approved by the
International Accounting Standards Committee that remain
in effect and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss which have been measured at fair
value. Assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale and
assets classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of their
carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell as further
explained in note 10 and note 24. These financial statements
are presented in RMB and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Going concern basis

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
incurred a consolidated net loss of RMB449,251,000 (2017:
RMB389,621,000). As at 31 December 2018, the Group had net
current liabilities of RMB10,198,000 (2017: RMB407,478,000).

2.1

fim S EL
A BRETIIRRERM B RE LR (B
e

FEER S EREES MU EN LT
AlkRE AREREFENZESIE

MAERTBEREFEIREFEREZE
GRE)NEE (RRED) WEERTE
e -l N FEFEMEZE S ABR
MEREERAFENEIN REBRE
THRIBE L R AEPIRE - DB AFIEL
EMNHEANNEERDBRAIFELE
B8 ERIRE £ 58 8 AP ER B &SRR
MEMEREER E—PEEBERME0
KfiE24 - Br R BEEBEIN RUB MK
NAREZY) A RCHBERE
M) TRLB

REZE2018F12A31HILFE A& H
EEiRE FEBE ARMA449,251,0007T
(20174 : AR #389,621,0007T) ° A
2018F12A31H AEEHE B R AR
SEEE AR #10,198,0007T (20174 AR
#407,478,0007T) °
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Going concern basis (Continued)
In view of these circumstances, the Directors have given
consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the

Group and its available sources of finance in assessing whether

the Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue as
a going concern. In order to improve the Group's liquidity and
cash flows to sustain the Group as a going concern, the Group
implemented or is in the process of implementing the following
measures:

(a)

As at 31 December 2018, other than the borrowings
of the Disposal Group, the Group’s total borrowings
amounted to RMB100,794,000, of which RMB84,645,000
will be due within twelve months from 31 December
2018. The Group has not experienced any significant
difficulties in renewing its short-term bank loans upon
their maturities and there is no indication that the banks
will not renew the existing bank loans if the Group applies
for renewal. The Group will actively negotiate with the
banks for the renewal of its borrowings when they fall due
to secure necessary facilities to meet the Group’s working
capital and financial requirements in 2019. The Directors
have evaluated all the relevant facts available to them and
are of the opinion that they have a good track record or
relationship with the banks so that the bank loans will be
renewed upon maturity.

As mentioned in note 1, the Company has entered
into the SPA with the Purchaser on 29 January 2019
in respect of the Disposal for the consideration of
RMB550,000,000. The Disposal is expected to be
completed before the end of the first half of 2019.

The Group is actively following up with its customers
on overdue trade receivables with an aim of agreeing a
repayment schedule with each of them.

The Group is proactively implementing various strategic
plans to streamline its operations to improve profitability
and initiate plans to rationalise assets. These include
initiatives to scale back capacity, reduce headcounts, trim
operating expenses and reduce capital expenditure.

Notes to Financial Statements

Rt 75 R R B

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

2.1 REEE (@)

BEREREE (&)

BEAL EECTEALESTABE
WHBERABECLHDEEAEE
FIRE B I R &I DA R AT A B BOR
BoAREAEENTHMERES RN
B REEDCHEERTUTE
i

(a) M2018F12831H BRHEEE
MEEIN AEBMEEREAA
R #100,794,00070 H A R
84,645,0007T 15 1 FR20185 12 A
MR+ —EAREEH  AEE
REBRTERIERNESRT®
WHEERNRNE  NEFRERRET
RAEERBFEHASTIERRE
IRITERE D - A E S IE G E IR
TERAEIHEEER  U#R
REBRESVEREMT2019F
HEEEeHRERMBHRE-EF
EEMEMENSHEEEE  RAEXR
EEA AL MR ITEERL
E LRI TE G A A B BRRS B HA -

(b) 0 B FE P AL - AN A ®1FR2019
F1A29B M EEFTHEEE S
AVEEmE REAARKE
550,000,0007T ° H & == I8 78 Bf 7
20194 ¥ F AT ©

(0) A& E ETER AR P R a
JEU AR AR - 15 Sk 1% 55 % 05 1p 4%
?ﬁ’\ﬁ;r BIE-S

(d) AEBERREEZERE ML
2 BB IARTT B ARE NI RR
BEERLFE ETEEREME
IERE  IBRIAT  HUREERX
KR EARRX -
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Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2018
2018512 A31H

2.1

112

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

The Directors have reviewed the Group’s cash flow forecast
prepared by management which covers a period of twelve
months from the end of the reporting period. They are of the
opinion that, taking into account the above-mentioned plans
and measures, the Group will have sufficient working capital
to finance its operations and meet its financial obligations as
and when they fall due in the foreseeable future. Accordingly,
the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2018 on a going concern basis.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate,
adjustments may have to be made to reflect the situation that
assets may need to be realised at the amounts other than which
they are currently recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position. In addition, the Group may have to provide
for further liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and
current liabilities. The effect of these adjustment has not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 December 2018. A subsidiary is an entity, directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

2.1

MBEE &)
BFEKEEE (&)
EECEMNEREMRERELAEEH
WESHRES T _EARMNESRTE
B ZBEER AR Rk Litat 8l RiEMEE
NEEBAGBRLHNEBES UBGE
EEMERRA RERBTEHNIE
EX Al EERBEFTERKLEER
BIAREBEE2018F12A31BILFEN
BRAMEBRRABRE-

s B L RRL T8 AR geRME
AR URBREEANERZRER N
HAaPBRAKRATEE TANSREE
BB - b Sh - AL B IR A] BE AL AT BE
EERE-TBEREME LRI
MBEEMERDABEFSIBARD
BEMRBDEE ZEHBENFEHRRN
FAEMBmR R

FmEANREXE
RAEMBRERBEEARARE REFREE
£2018F12A3 1B IEFEMNH B HE -
FRAAARREESHEZEFNERE-
EAEBEALELETEENEBLmMAE
B ERESAZE®R WEKENBBY
HEEBOEN (AR TAEE B AER
REERABTIMNENNRERER)
BZEOHME  NEBEBERIEHIE -
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2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(o) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(i) the fair value of any investments retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES
The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for
the first time for the current year's financial statements.

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions

Amendments to IFRS 2

Amendments to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with IFRS 4

Insurance Contracts

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers

Amendments to IFRS 15 Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers

Amendments to IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

Annual Improvements Amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28

2014-2016 Cycle

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of IFRS 9,
IFRS 15 and the amendments to IFRS 15, the adoption of the
above new and revised standards has had no significant financial
effect on these financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)
Further information about IFRS 15 and IFRS 9 applied by the
Group is described below:

(a)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, bringing
together all three aspects of the accounting for financial
instruments: classification and measurement, impairment
and hedge accounting.

With the exception of hedge accounting, which
the Group has applied prospectively, the Group has
recognised the transition adjustments against the
applicable opening balances in equity at 1 January 2018.
Therefore, the comparative information was not restated
and continues to be reported under IAS 39.

Classification and measurement
The following information sets out the impacts of
adopting IFRS 9 on the statement of financial position,
including the effect of replacing IAS 39's incurred credit
loss calculations with IFRS 9's ECLs.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND 2.2 B HEREENEE @)
DISCLOSURES (continued)
(@)  (Continued) (a) (%)
Classification and measurement (Continued) DERE (&)
A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under RIEBIBR &5t 2RI E395% B AR E
IAS 39 and the balances reported under IFRS 9 as at 1 SEE2018F 1 A1 8 R IE R A
January 2018 is as follows: TR EERFE R MM LR L
BRI :
1AS 39 IFRS 9
measurement measurement
B E 2R H39% B BB BREEREISHTE
Re-
Note Category Amount  classification ECL Amount Category
i3 B8Rl k] EXNSE BHEABEX k2 E5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T
Financial assets SREE
Trade and bills receivables BYERRRE (i) L&R! 373,707 - (3,096) 370,611 AC?
Financial assets included in st ATEAZR7E -
prepayments, other H ot YA R
receivables and other assets  E A AEH)
SREE (i) L&R 10,974 - (51) 10,923 AC
Due from related parties e B 7 SR L&R 637 - - 637 AC
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEED L&R 13,286 - - 13,286 AC
398,604 - (3,147) 395,457
Other assets HtEE
Deferred tax assets EERBEE 70,269 - - 70,269
Total assets AESE 468,873 - (3,147) 465,726
Financial liabilities tRER
Trade and bills payables ENEARER AC 175,871 - - 175,871 AC
Financial liabilities included in 5T A E o 1 308 |k
other payables and accruals ~ JEZTIEH)
SREE AC 295,609 - - 295,609 AC
Interest-bearing bank and FERTR
other loans Hib &R AC 907,311 - - 907,311 AC
Due to related parties FE S B 7 S AC 11,220 - - 11,220 AC
Dividend payables ERRE AC 1,801 - - 1,801 AC
Total liabilities aELE -

116

T L&R: Loans and receivables

2 AC: Financial assets or financial liabilities at amortised cost

1,391,812
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

Notes to Financial Statements

2.2

DISCLOSURES (continued)

(a)

(Continued)
Classification and measurement (Continued)
Note:

(i) The Group has remeasured the carrying amount of
the trade receivables and financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets based
on the ECL allowance.

Impairment

The following table reconciles the aggregate opening
impairment allowances under IAS 39 to the ECL
allowances under IFRS 9. Further details are disclosed in
notes 17 and 20 to the financial statements.

Rt 75 R R B

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

S BERBENEE @)

(a)

(%)
pERTE (F)
MEE

(i) AEBEERERERELE
HEF T BREERIUARGTA
TEN BOR - A b EAGRIA R E
MEENSREENERT S
B

B

TRARIZEER G ERE39R
B 4 1R (B 455 15 40 RR B AR IR B IR
M mEERFESRNERERE
REENEER - E—THBERPH

REMFE17 208 5 -

Impairment ECL

allowances allowances

under IAS 39 under IFRS 9

at 31 December at 1 January

2017 Re-measurement 2018

20174 A20184

12A31H 1A1H

REBEBRES 1R 925 B B B 75

EERIE395E W HEARERIEIRMN

WERE ENE RBEGEABXRHEE

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETT ARETFTT AREBTT

Trade receivables JE Y BR 3k 340,748 3,096 343,844

Financial assets included &F ATEFRIE - E
in prepayments, other ~ EWFIB R H & E
receivables and other MerEE

assets - 51 51

340,748 3,147 343,895
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)
(a) (Continued)
Impact on reserves

The impact of transition to IFRS 9 on reserves is as follows:

Accumulated reserves attributable to owners of

the Company
Balance as at 31 December 2017 under IAS 39

Recognition of expected credit losses for trade
receivables under IFRS 9

Recognition of expected credit losses for
financial assets included in prepayments,

other receivables and other assets under IFRS 9

Balance as at 1 January 2018 under IFRS 9

Accumulated reserves attributable to non-
controlling interests
Balance as at 31 December 2017 under IAS 39

Recognition of expected credit losses for trade
receivables under IFRS 9

Balance as at 1 January 2018 under IFRS 9

118

22 B BEXERBEENEE @)

(a) (%)
HRENEE
EEERRY SRS AEREIRY
BENZENT:
Reserves
B
RMB’000
ARBET T
BEBRARRERANRTHE
R2017F12 31 B RBEEE &
AE BI| 53955 1) 45 &2 1,020,907
R A5 B R B 75 3R 5 E BRI SE 95 1 7R
FEUBR R TEHAE iR & (2,958)
BRI B R B 75 3R 5 E BIB9Sk #E 7R
FFATERRIE B R RIB &
EMmEENSREENTEHREAEX (51)
R2018F1 A1 B IREBBR KRS
AR SEITR M & 8 1,017,898
FBRIEEREREN RATFEE
R2017F12A31ERERE &
ZE BI| 553955 1Y 4% #4 324,198
1R 1% B R B 75 3R 5 E BIB9Sk HE 7R
JEUBR A TBHAE AR (138)
R2018F 1 A1BIRIEBEB BB HRE
JE BI| 5595 MY 45 324,060
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

IFRS 15 and its amendments replace IAS 11 Construction
Contracts, 1AS 18 Revenue and related interpretations
and it applies, with limited exceptions, to all revenue
arising from contracts with customers. IFRS 15
establishes a five-step model to account for revenue
arising from contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15,
revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which an entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring goods or services to a
customer. The principles in IFRS 15 provide a more
structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements,
including disaggregation of total revenue, information
about performance obligations, changes in contract asset
and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The disclosures are included
in note 5 to the financial statements. As a result of
the application of IFRS 15, the Group has changed the
accounting policy with respect to revenue recognition in
note 2.4 to the financial statements.

The Group has adopted IFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption. Under this method,
the standard can be applied either to all contracts at the
date of initial application or only to contracts that are
not completed at this date. The Group has elected to
apply the standard to contracts that are not completed
as at 1 January 2018.

The cumulative effect of the initial application of IFRS
15 was recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of accumulated losses as at 1 January 2018.
Therefore, the comparative information was not restated
and continues to be reported under IAS 11, IAS 18 and
related interpretations.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

120

(b)

(Continued)

Before the adoption of IFRS 15, the Group recognised
consideration received from customers in advances from
customers as other payables and accruals. Under IFRS 15,
the amount is classified as contract liabilities. Therefore,
upon the adoption of IFRS 15, the Group reclassified
RMB1,955,000 from other payables and accruals to
contract liabilities as at 1 January 2018 in relation to the
consideration received from customers in advances. As at
31 December 2018, under IFRS 15, RMB5,811,000 was
reclassified from other payables and accruals to contract
liabilities in relation to the consideration received from
customers in advance for the sale of goods.

Other than the reclassification explained above, the
adoption of IFRS 15 has had no impact on the Group's
profit or loss and other comprehensive income or on the
Group's operating, investing and financing cash flows.

22 B BEXERBEENEE @)

(b)
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial

statements.

Amendments to IFRS 3

Amendments to IFRS 9

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

IFRS 16

IFRS 17

Amendments to IAS 1

and IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 19

Amendments to IAS 28

IFRIC 23

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Definition of a Business?
Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation’
Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?
Leases’

Insurance Contracts®

Definition of Material’

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement’

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures’

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments’

Amendments to IFRS 3, IFRS 11,
IAS 12 and IAS 23’
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2.3

122

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to IFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance
on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that
for an integrated set of activities and assets to be considered
a business, it must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create output. A business can exist without including
all of the inputs and processes needed to create outputs.
The amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of acquiring the business and continue
to produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The amendments
have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on goods
or services provided to customers, investment income or other
income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an acquired process is
substantive and introduce an optional fair value concentration
test to permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

(Continued)

IFRS 16, replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases — Incentives
and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the
Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the
recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases
and requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for most
leases. The standard includes two elective recognition exemptions
for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term leases.
At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a
liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an
asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during
the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset
is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the
definition of investment property in IAS 40, or relates to a class of
property, plant and equipment to which the revaluation model is
applied. The lease liability is subsequently increased to reflect the
interest on the lease liability and reduced for the lease payments.
Lessees will be required to separately recognise the interest expense
on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-
of-use asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease
liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as change in
the lease term and change in future lease payments resulting from
a change in an index or rate used to determine those payments.
Lessees will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement
of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from
the accounting under IAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all
leases using the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and
distinguish between operating leases and finance leases. IFRS 16
requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than
under IAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either
a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The Group
will adopt IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. The Group plans to adopt
the transitional provisions in IFRS 16 to recognise the cumulative
effect of initial adoption as an adjustment to the opening balance
of retained earnings at 1 January 2019 and will not restate the
comparatives. In addition, the Group plans to apply the new
requirements to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying IAS 17 and measure the lease liability at the present value
of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the Group's
incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application. The
right-of-use asset will be measured at the amount of the lease
liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the lease recognised in the statement of
financial position immediately before the date of initial application.
The Group plans to use the exemptions allowed by the standard on
lease contracts whose lease terms end within 12 months as of the
date of initial application. During 2018, the Group has performed
a detailed assessment on the impact of adoption of IFRS 16. The
Group has estimated that right-of-use assets of RMB4,594,000 and
lease liabilities of RMB3,504,000 will be recognised at 1 January
2019.
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2.3

124

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of
general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. The amendments clarify that materiality
will depend on the nature or magnitude of information. A
misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions made by the primary users. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
January 2020. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

IFRIC 23, addresses the accounting for income taxes (current
and deferred) when tax treatments involve uncertainty that
affects the application of IAS 12 (often referred to as “uncertain
tax positions”). The interpretation does not apply to taxes
or levies outside the scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically
include requirements relating to interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation
specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers uncertain
tax treatments separately; (i) the assumptions an entity makes
about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities;
(iii) how an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax
bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and
(iv) how an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.
The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively, either fully
retrospectively without the use of hindsight or retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of application as an adjustment to
the opening equity at the date of initial application, without
the restatement of comparative information. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation from 1 January 2019. The
interpretation is not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations not under common control are accounted
for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
is measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of
net assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are measured at
fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwiill
(Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the (a) consideration transferred, (b) the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests; and (c) any fair value
of the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition
date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether
other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those
units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a part of a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part
of the operation within the unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the
gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative value of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating
unit retained.

2.4

FTESHBERE @)
EXCHREE (#/)

BEBYFLAAE  Bl@@EBEKE:
(b)EFERIFEER SR R(OAKE T
AR P BE A R B M I AR s A (1 )
R EREN - BT R B EEF
BRAER B AEFENERE WX
REREAMIE R EMERKEEEF
BERRFE ARETERIER 28
ERERERAR/RBRENRE-

RN FERIR - BB AR 1 REHA
BEEFE -HEASFHERENN &
BEEMHREUBANERTREEE
BER - Bl EATMETAIR - AEE
RI2ANBETHEFERENR  HE
TREAS AXHaHFEMBANEES
WERHER S EERRATRAHESE
MipRARE T EENAKREREAREE
AEUSRBEESEGHER MERAE
BEMEEXBERAE I RERFTE
(VAR S vA R

BESBBAYHENEAHENASES
B (RLELBMARN)WAKE SRR
Er-mAeELEN (ReEELSEUE
AMA RO RERNEESE g
REERE - BB EREN
ERARRARRED -

HEERSRERCELEM (KRS E
HEMAR) B0 MxELOED %
BEEL MAEETEHEREIBER
HEHEXBHBNHESHAZED
METSE EZBATHENEESE
RELEXBERSELEUNRED
A EEETHE

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2018 ANNUAL REPORT



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwiill
(Continued)

When the acquisition of subsidiaries does not represent a
business, it is accounted for as an acquisition of a group of
assets and liabilities. The cost of the acquisition is allocated to
the assets and liabilities acquired based upon their relative fair
values, and no goodwill or deferred tax is recognised.

Merger accounting for business combination under
common control

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the combining entities or businesses in which
the common control combination occurs as if they had been
consolidated from the date when the combining entities or
businesses first came under the control of the controlling
parties.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

128

POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets and non-current
assets classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use ("VIU") and its fair
value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of
assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing VIU,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is @ member of the key management personnel of

the Group or of a parent of the Group;
or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;
(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the

other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b) (Continued)

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and in accordance with IFRS 5, as further explained in the
accounting policy for “Non-current assets held for sale”. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the
asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Notes to Financial Statements

Rt 75 R R B

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

24 FESTHTHEHE (&)

Bt (&)
by (&)

v ZERBR/RAEERELRE
@ﬁ?ﬁ@ﬂ’]“‘m A =3l
AR N7 BB 1R 1R N T

@

i&t
i

a)PﬁE%kEJ}\:HI
i

(vi)

£ o
o0 M
=

2

(vii)

)
ey
B
=
>_
Rt
B L
)wﬁ
Nt
il g
i ot

o
H.|,

o
St
Y
s

\;
’

émf
R E@r;g

'm

SRR

i
=
TE]
0

\
/

s PR & B
ﬂﬁﬂi‘ﬁ@&ﬂ&

(viii)

e I =T
5
kel
i*
FH
pai
Hl]

> B S

m = m &R

\
A
pmna}
<Fd
S
o

ME BERREEFTE

WX BERRE(EZITRRINIRK
KRB TEREMBEERAR -9
X BELRBEERDBABELE
H#*?ﬁﬁ”lfiﬂﬁﬁxiﬁi/ﬁﬁll%%ﬁ ERCRE!
TEFE E—THEBER [FEHENE
mé)ﬁé?‘ﬂﬂ’\]aaﬂﬂl W B KR
BRENKABEREABEBRERNESR
B BURUE R B ARAOR R B B
J& ST BB AN

ME BELREBREBRABHERELN
X Pl RERS  —RRELH
B EEEG - ME2ERRE MEKX
BENHAXENEERASRTEANL
EREBHR -HMATHMBERME BEER
BOEERD  MAREE KRS H®
RBAFENEMBFHNERNEE A&t
R -

2018 3} | TEINHKHEHABEEERAF 131

\‘




Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 R Ak B &

31 December 2018
2018512 A31H

2.4

132

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment, other
than mining infrastructure, is calculated on the straight-line
basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as

follows:

Buildings 7-40 years
Plant and machinery 2-20 years
Office equipment 3-10 years
Motor vehicles 2-10 years

Depreciation of mining infrastructure is calculated using the
units-of-production (“UOP”) method to depreciate the cost of
the assets in proportion to the extraction of the proved and
probable mineral reserves. The remaining estimated useful
lives of the mining infrastructure at the end of the reporting
period ranging from 2.5 years to 19.7 years are determined in
accordance with the production plans of the entities concerned
and the proved and probable reserves of mines using the UOP
method.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the

carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Construction in progress represents items of property, plant
and equipment under construction, which is stated at cost less
any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing costs
on related borrowing funds during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held
for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must be
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only
to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such assets
or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable. All
assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group
are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after
the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than financial
assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets classified as held for
sale are not depreciated or amortised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

134

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Brand name

Brand name is stated at cost less any impairment losses and is
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life
of 10 years.

Mining rights

Mining rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any impairment losses. Mining rights include the cost
of acquiring mining licences, exploration and evaluation
costs transferred from exploration rights and assets upon
determination that an exploration property is capable of
commercial production, and the cost of acquiring interests in the
mining reserves of existing mining properties. The mining rights
are amortised over the estimated useful lives of the mines, in
accordance with the production plans of the entities concerned
and the proved and probable reserves of the mines using the
UOP method. Mining rights are written off to profit or loss if the
mining property is abandoned.

Exploration rights and assets

Exploration rights are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses, and exploration assets
are stated at cost less any impairment losses. Exploration rights
and assets include the cost of acquiring exploration rights,
topographical and geological surveys, exploratory drilling,
sampling and trenching and activities in relation to commercial
and technical feasibility studies, and deferred amortisation and
depreciation charges in respect of assets consumed during the
exploration activities.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Exploration rights and assets (Continued)

Exploration rights are amortised over the term of rights.
Equipment used in exploration is depreciated over its useful life,
or, if dedicated to a particular exploration project, over the life
of the project on the straight-line basis, whichever is shorter.
Amortisation and depreciation are included, in the first instance,
in exploration rights and assets and are transferred to mining
rights when it can be reasonably ascertained that an exploration
property is capable of commercial production.

Exploration and evaluation costs include expenditure incurred
to secure further mineralisation in existing ore bodies as well as
in new areas of interest. Expenditure incurred prior to acquiring
legal rights to explore an area is written off as incurred.

Exploration rights and assets shall be assessed for impairment
when facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may exceed its recoverable amount. An impairment test is
performed if any of the following indicators are present:

(a) the period for which the entity has the right to explore
in the specific area has expired during the period or
will expire in the near future, and is not expected to be
renewed;

(b) substantial expenditure on further exploration for and
evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area is
neither budgeted nor planned;

(c) exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources
in the specific area have not led to the discovery of
commercially viable quantities of mineral resources and
the entity has decided to discontinue such activities in
the specific area; or

(d) sufficient data exist to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area is likely to proceed,
the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation
asset is unlikely to be recovered in full from successful
development or by sale.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

136

POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
(Continued)

Exploration rights and assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
exploration rights and assets’ carrying amount exceeds their
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of
the exploration rights and assets’ fair value less costs of disposal
and their VIU. For the purpose of assessing impairment, the
exploration rights and assets subject to testing are grouped
with existing cash-generating units of production fields that are
located in the same geographical region.

When it can be reasonably ascertained that an exploration
property is capable of commercial production, exploration and
evaluation costs capitalised are transferred to either mining
infrastructure or mining rights and depreciated/amortised using
the UOP method based on the proved and probable mineral
reserves. Exploration rights and assets are written off to profit or
loss if the exploration property is abandoned.

Stripping (waste removal) costs

As part of its mining operations, the Group incurs stripping
(waste removal) costs both during the development phase and
production phase of its operations. Stripping costs incurred in
the development phase of a mine, before the production phase
commences (development stripping), are capitalised as part of
the cost of constructing the mine and subsequently amortised
over its useful life using the UOP method. The capitalisation of
development stripping costs ceases when the mine/component
is commissioned and ready for use as intended by management.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Stripping (waste removal) costs (Continued)
Stripping costs incurred during the production phase are
generally considered to create two benefits, being either the
production of inventory or improved access to the ore to be
mined in the future. Where the benefits are realised in the form
of inventory produced in the period, the production stripping
costs are accounted for as part of the cost of producing those
inventories. Where the benefits are realised in the form of
improved access to ore to be mined in the future, the costs are
recognised as a non-current asset, referred to as a stripping
activity asset, if the following criteria are met:

a) Future economic benefits (being improved access to the
ore body) are probable;

b) The component of the ore body for which access will be
improved can be accurately identified; and

Q) The costs associated with the improved access can be
reliably measured.

If all of the criteria are not met, the production stripping costs
are charged to profit or loss as operating costs as they are
incurred.

In identifying components of the ore body, the Group works
closely with the mining operation personnel for each mining
operation to analyse each of the mine plans. Generally, a
component will be a subset of the total ore body, and a mine
may have several components. The mine plans, and therefore
the identification of components, can vary between mines for
a number of reasons. These include, but are not limited to: the
type of commodity, the geological characteristics of the ore
body, the geographical location, and/or financial considerations.
Given the nature of the Group's operations, components are
generally either major pushbacks or phases.

The stripping activity asset is accounted for as an addition to, or
an enhancement of, an existing asset, being the mine asset, and
is presented as part of “Intangible assets” in the statement of
financial position. This forms part of the total investment in the
relevant cash-generating unit, which is reviewed for impairment
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may not be recoverable.
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2.4

138

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Stripping (waste removal) costs (Continued)

The stripping activity asset is initially measured at cost, which
is the accumulation of costs directly incurred to perform
the stripping activity that improves access to the identified
component of ore, plus an allocation of directly attributable
overhead costs. If incidental operations are occurring at the
same time as the production stripping activity, but are not
necessary for the production stripping activity to continue as
planned, these costs are not included in the cost of the stripping
activity asset.

The stripping activity asset is subsequently amortised using
the UOP method over the life of the identified component of
the ore body that has become more accessible as a result of
the stripping activity. Economically recoverable reserves, which
comprise proven and probable reserves, are used to determine
the expected useful life of the identified component of the ore
body. The stripping activity asset is then carried at cost less
depreciation and any impairment losses.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current assets, and
rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to
profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating
leases net of any incentives received from the lessor are charged
to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing
nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated
over their estimated useful lives.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(policies under IFRS 9 applicable from 1
January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value through
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable from 1 January
2018)" below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(policies under IFRS 9 applicable from 1
January 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of
the following conditions are met:

o The financial asset is held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows.

° The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(policies under IFRS 9 applicable from 1
January 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss,
or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at
fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if
they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets
with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and
interest are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the
criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost or
at fair value through other comprehensive income, as described
above, debt instruments may be designated at fair value through
profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets at
fair value profit or loss are also recognised as other income in
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established,
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(policies under IAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables
and available-for-sale financial investments, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as
appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially,
they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except in
the case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit
or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss represent
financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale
in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments as defined by IAS
39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with positive net
changes in fair value presented as other income and gains and
negative net changes in fair value presented as finance costs in
profit or loss. These net fair value changes do not include any
interest earned on these financial assets, which is recognised
in accordance with the policy set out for “Revenue recognition
(applicable before 1 January 2018)" below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(policies under IAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria in IAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in in other income and gains in profit
or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in profit
or loss in finance costs for loans and in other expenses for
receivables.

Derecognition of financial assets (policies
under IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018
and policies under IAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primary
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
J the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (policies
under IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018
and policies under IAS 39 applicable before 1
January 2018) (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group's continuing involvement in the asset. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of
the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies

under IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies

under IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component and lease receivables, the
Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
IAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (policies under
IAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually significant,
or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective evidence
of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that
are individually assessed for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not been incurred). The present value of the
estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly
or through the use of an allowance account and the loss is
recognised in profit or loss. Interest income continues to be
accrued on the reduced carrying amount using the rate of
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose
of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off when
there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral
has been realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or decreased by
adjusting the allowance amount. If a write-off is later recovered,
the recovery is credited to other expenses in profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
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POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (policies under IFRS 9
applicable from 1 January 2018 and IAS 39
applicable before 1 January 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and bills payable,
other payables, amounts due to related parties and interest-
bearing bank and other loans.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of loans and borrowings is as
follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other loans
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies
under IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018
and IAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities (policies
under IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018
and IAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)
(Continued)

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments (policies
under IFRS 9 applicable from 1 January 2018
and IAS 39 applicable before 1 January 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and,
in the case of finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct
labour and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable
overhead costs, including depreciation and amortisation incurred
in converting materials into finished goods, based on the
normal production capacity. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short-term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to
use.
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150

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in statement of profit or loss.

Provisions for the Group’s obligations for rehabilitation are
based on estimates of required expenditure at the mines in
accordance with the rules and regulations of the PRC. The
obligation generally arises when the asset is installed or the
ground environment is disturbed at the production location.
The Group estimates its liabilities for final rehabilitation and
mine closure based upon detailed calculations of the amount
and timing of the future cash expenditure to perform the
required work. Spending estimates are escalated for inflation,
then discounted at a discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability such that the amount of provision reflects the
present value of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. When the liability is initially recognised, the
present value of the estimated cost is capitalised by increasing
the carrying amount of the related mining infrastructure.

Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the change in
the present value based on the appropriate discount rate. The
periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised within finance
costs in profit or loss. The asset is depreciated using the UOP
method over its expected life and the liability is accreted to the
projected expenditure date. Additional disturbances or changes
in estimates (such as mine plan revisions, changes in estimated
costs, or changes in timing of the performance of reclamation
activities) will be recognised as additions or charges to the
corresponding assets and rehabilitation liabilities when they
occur at the appropriate discount rate.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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152

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or
loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1
January 2018)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which the
Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or
services to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated
at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

154

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable from 1
January 2018) (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group a
significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in
time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on delivery of the goods.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (applicable before 1
January 2018) (Continued)

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred to
the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither
managerial involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership, nor effective control over the goods
sold;

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset; and

() from the rendering of services, when the service has
been rendered.

Contract liabilities (applicable from 1 January
2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received a
consideration (or an amount of consideration that is due) from
the customer. If a customer pays the consideration before the
Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract
liability is recognised when the payment is made or the payment
is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract.

Contracts for services (applicable before 1
January 2018)

Contract revenue on the rendering of services comprises the
agreed contract amount. Costs of rendering services comprise
labour and other costs of personnel directly engaged in
providing the services and attributable overheads.
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2.4

156

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Contracts for services (applicable before 1
January 2018) (Continued)

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised based
on the percentage of completion of the transaction, provided
that the revenue, the costs incurred and the estimated costs
to completion can be measured reliably. The percentage of
completion is established by reference to the costs incurred
to date as compared to the total costs to be incurred under
the transaction. Where the outcome of a contract cannot be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent that
the expenses incurred are eligible to be recovered.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are
anticipated by management. Where contract costs incurred
to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed
progress billings, the surplus is treated as an amount due from
contract customers. Where progress billings exceed contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
losses, the surplus is treated as an amount due to contract
customers.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the note to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’'s memorandum and articles of association
grant the Directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including Directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value
is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model,
further details of which are given in note 31 to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which service conditions
are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.
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2.4
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value.
Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award
unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition
is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if
it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it
is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they
were a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The employees of the subsidiaries in Mainland China are
required to participate in a defined central pension scheme
managed by the local municipal government of the areas in
Mainland China in which they operate. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of the relevant part
of the payroll of these employees to the central pension scheme.
The Group has no obligation for the payment of retirement
benefits beyond the annual contributions. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

In addition to the above, the Group also participates in a
defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the MPF Scheme for
its employee in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on
a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund.

Housing fund

Contributions to a defined contribution housing fund
administered by the Public Accumulation Funds Administration
Centre in Mainland China are charged to profit or loss as
incurred.
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2.4

160

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
functional currency of the Company. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their profit or loss are translated into RMB
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities,
and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below:

(a) Provision for expected losses on trade receivables
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments
that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and
rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic
products) are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are updated
and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Provision for expected losses on trade receivables
(Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's
trade receivables is disclosed in note 20 to the financial
statements.

PRC corporate income tax (“PRC CIT")

The Group's operating subsidiaries in Mainland China are
subject to PRC CIT. As a result of the fact that certain
matters relating to PRC CIT have not been confirmed
by the relevant local tax authorities, objective estimates
based on currently enacted tax laws, regulations and
other related policies are required in determining the
provision for PRC CIT to be made. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
originally recorded, the differences will impact the
income tax expense and tax provision in the period
in which the differences realise. The carrying amount
of PRC CIT payable as at 31 December 2018 was
RMB9,154,000 (2017: RMB3,254,000).

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group estimates useful lives and related depreciation
charges for its items of property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of items of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. It could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations
and actions of its competitors. Management will increase
the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated, or it will record an impairment
provision for technically obsolete assets that have
been abandoned. The carrying amount of property,
plant and equipment as at 31 December 2018 was
RMB159,203,000 (2017: RMB630,898,000). Further
details are given in note 13 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 3. EBEKRgrtds

(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued) T T ABEE (&)

(d)  Mine reserves (d) BEEE
Engineering estimates of the Group’s mine reserves are ERGRREASEESHE RN
inherently imprecise and represent only approximate HEPREEHE - ELERFE
amounts because of the significant judgements involved BB TEENE WEBREEH
in developing such information. There are authoritative Bt HErBER[F
guidelines regarding the engineering criteria that BEIRIMBI#E 2 KA
have to be met before estimated mine reserves can be FEERETAARMRENE
designated as “proved” and “probable”. Proved and BIEFES] - BERBMBESFEEN
probable mine reserve estimates are updated at regular hETEAE R - W E RS ERES &
intervals taking into account recent production and A E RERAMTE R o btoh - R
technical information about each mine. In addition, BREKAKFEEFEE Bt
as prices and cost levels change from year to year, the BELEBRBESHEENMGTTE
estimate of proved and probable mine reserves also HIREH -AFHBANTE  ZF
changes. This change is considered a change in estimates BERAGTEE  WEAKEA
for accounting purposes and is reflected on a prospective ERBRAERRBIREE ST E
basis in both depreciation and amortisation rates AESHOTE REHEL R KA
calculated on the UOP method and the time period for RIERBBOREF - BHHS MG
discounting the rehabilitation provision. Changes in the TR B IR A RS EENR
estimate of mine reserves are also taken into account in (EERER

impairment assessments of non-current assets.

(e)  Exploration rights and assets (e) BIERBREE

The application of the Group's accounting policy for REHHREREERALEEDN
exploration right and assets requires estimation in GETBERR - B ZE AR R AR
determining whether it is likely that future economic B A AR R RS M 23 - 3
benefits will result either from future exploitation or HEERORAREINRUNERESE
sale or whether activities have not reached a stage ERHEELSETENEENE
which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence BRREELR G - BERISHEE
of reserves. The determination of mine reserves is REBIAMEETIRR BT8R
itself an estimation process with varying degrees of iM% & AR E #) T BREA R & - fin
uncertainty depending on sub-classification. Estimates BSFHER - BIPTIE R eV {5 R R
and assumptions made may change if new information RATRE N o AR B R ERIE
becomes available. If, after expenditure is capitalised, BSAMBETRAS TR D -
information becomes available suggesting that the AR ERANSEREGTER
recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the amount HA 89 18 %5 R 8 0 5420184012
capitalised is written off in profit or loss in the period A31H HHREREENRE S
when the new information becomes available. The A AR65,991,0007T (2017
carrying amount of exploration rights and assets as & AR%320,414,0007T) © #E—
at 31 December 2018 was RMB65,991,000 (2017: FRBEHN B REM 14 -

RMB320,414,000). Further details are given in note 14 to
the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(f)

(9)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
cost to be incurred to completion and disposal. These
estimates are based on the current market condition
and the historical experience of selling products of a
similar nature. It could change significantly as a result
of changes in downstream industries that consume
the Group's products. Management reassesses these
estimates at the end of each reporting period. The
carrying amount of inventories as at 31 December 2018
was RMB23,627,000 (2017: RMB174,637,000). Further
details are given in note 19 to the financial statements.

Provision for rehabilitation

Provision for rehabilitation is based on estimates
of future expenditures incurred by management to
undertake rehabilitation and restoration work which
were discounted at a rate of 6.35% as at 31 December
2018 (2017: 6.35%) reflecting the term and nature
of the obligations to their present values. Significant
estimates and assumptions are made in determining
the provision for rehabilitation as there are numerous
factors that will affect the ultimate liability payable.
These factors include estimates of the extent and costs
of rehabilitation activities, technological changes,
regulatory changes, cost increases and changes in the
discount rate. Those uncertainties may result in future
actual expenditure differing from the amounts currently
provided. The provision at the end of the reporting
period represents management’s best estimate of the
present value of the future rehabilitation costs required.
Changes to estimated future costs are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position by adjusting
the rehabilitation asset and liability. The carrying amount
of provision for rehabilitation as at 31 December
2018 was RMB1,833,000 (2017: RMB11,400,000).
Further details are contained in note 29 to the financial
statements.

3.

BEXEGEE (&)
EEtTHBEE (&)

(f)

(9)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 3. EBEKRgrtds

(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued) T TABEE (&)

(h)  Deferred tax assets (h) EBEHALZE
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible AEERPAARIREREZER
temporary differences and unused tax losses to the AYABBEEERRAELETIEE
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be E - BENEERERTANEAS A
available against which the deductible temporary AR R R R B IR B UAE
differences and the tax losses can be utilised. Estimates HIHRMR o RRERTWA B AT
of future taxable income are based on forecast cash DHENBENEIRERERS
flows from operations and the application of existing AEREMNREBEEAEL-
tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future IR PRI & = R U A B
cash flows and taxable income differ significantly M EERER  AIREEFRN
from estimates, the ability of the Group to realise HERRFENELERIBEER
the deferred tax assets recorded at the end of the BENEXIBFE -MN2018F12H
reporting period could be impacted. The gross amount 31 - ERRRERIEEERER
of deferred tax assets recognised as at 31 December AR #17,601,0007T (20174 ¢
2018 was RMB17,601,000 (2017: RMB70,269,000). The AR#70,269,0007T) ° 720184
amounts of unrecognised tax losses and unrecognised 12A31BH AR BRBIEEE KK
deductible temporary differences as at 31 December BRAUNNEREZHESBED B A
2018 were RMB32,971,000 (2017: RMB887,978,000) AR #32,971,0007T (20174 :
and RMB127,269,000 (2017: RMB1,683,365,000), A R #887,978,0007T) o A R #
respectively. Further details are contained in note 18 to 127,269,0007T (20174 : AR ¥
the financial statements. 1,683,365,0007T) < # — F ¥ 18

NG MRM 18 -

Additionally, future changes in tax laws and regulations BEAN - AN E BT R Al A R
in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates could B BRI AR R RO B AR R & & ]
limit the ability of the Group to obtain tax deductions on PR i) 7N &= [ 74 oK 2 Bf Fl ot pE AR A
taxable income in future periods. e A 15 T TR R S 1O R

(i) Valuation of financial assets at fair value through (i) BAFETEMEZE A Az
profit or loss HEBEEN1EE
The Group's Exchangeable Notes are designated upon REBW AT ERBEN VG ER
initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss RIEERAZRATHEFEMHEE
and re-measured to fair value through profit or loss FTABRITREEREREHG
in subsequent reporting periods. The fair value of the EERNFEMEZEG T ABm-
Exchangeable Notes was estimated by management and AEBRERNATEHERER
the estimation included some assumptions not supported A RRARARBENENE
by observable market prices or rates and hence they EXHEHNETRSR Bt Z5R
are subject to uncertainty. Favourable or unfavourable BEETHARER - ZSBRENE
changes to these assumptions would result in significant MR EB BRI ERER
changes in the fair value of the Exchangeable Notes and AT ELRRERES  WEHKIE
the corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain mPEWRNKEEESBIED
or loss reported in profit or loss. The fair value of the FEE T - 1A2018F 124318 -
Exchangeable Notes at 31 December 2018 was nil (2017: AEHBEENAFEEAT (2017
Nil). F:E)e
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

() Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Definite life non-financial assets
are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. Based on
the existing market conditions, impairment indicators
were identified for the Group’s main mining cash
generating units, other pre-development stage mining
rights, and exploration rights and assets. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is
the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its VIU.
The calculation of the fair value less costs to sell is based
on available data from binding sales transactions in an
arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When VIU calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The accumulated impairment
amounts for property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets and prepaid land lease payments at 31 December
2018 were RMB8,527,000 (2017: RMB683,188,000),
RMB113,722,000 (2017: RMB311,884,000), and RMB1
(2017: RMB2,413,000) respectively. Further details
are contained in notes 10 and 13 to the financial

statements.

3.

BEREFEE (@)
BT THBREZE (&)

17
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their services and products and has four (2017:
two) reportable operating segments as follows:

(a) the high-Fe mining operation segment comprises the
operation of sale of self-produced high-grade iron
concentrates within the range of 65% TFe to 72% TFe;

(b) the trading segment comprises the operation of sale of
traded products;

(o) the specialised mining services segment comprises the
provision of specialised mining services, which include
raise boring, shaft excavation, engineering services, and
other mining services; and

(d) the corporate and others segment covers the non-
operating activities supporting the Group which includes
the central functions such as the functional costs that
have not been allocated to the other segments.

During 2017, the Directors concluded that there were two
separate reporting segments, after the acquisition of Mancala
Holdings and its subsidiaries, which principally engages in
the business of providing specialised mining services. During
2018, following operational and strategic reviews, the Directors
monitored the results of the Group's operating segments
separately into four segments. Following a change in the
composition of the Group's reporting segments, the Group has
restated the operating segment information for the year ended
31 December 2017.

The Directors monitors the results of the Group's operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax from
Continuing Operations. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before tax
except that other income, other expenses, finance costs and fair
value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are excluded from such measurement.

4.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets and cash and cash
equivalents as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, tax payable and dividend payables as these liabilities
are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference
to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the
then prevailing market prices.

Year ended 31 December 2018

Segment revenue

Sales to external
customer

Intersegment sales

Reconciliation:
Elimination of
intersegment sales

Revenue from Continuing
Operations

Segment results
Reconciliation:
Other income
Other expense
Finance costs

Profit before tax from
Continuing Operations

Segment assets
Reconciliation:
Elimination of
intersegment
receivables
Deferred tax assets
Cash and cash
equivalents
Assets related to
Discontinued
Operations

Total assets

168

2 EBUWRA
RSN P
EH A E

DEBEHE

ESr
gD MBEHE

FEIEEEBIRA

D ERHE
E)

H g A
Hh 32
B IS AR

SRR X
T A F)E

DEEE

R
580 B
& U R0

BREBIAEE
e MNASFEY

FHEDRIE
REEBNEE

BERE

4. RETHEH (@)
HRBELHBEEEARRERRGEE
MIREEEEER WO BEELTE
BHREEE-

BRET BRI REMEE  BRBRIAR
ENRETDREBEELEER HHMBEE
TrBeiEzEaE:.
DEEHEHE REED2RBRER BT
BRAF=ZSFLHEEMANEER S
BZE2018F12A31ALFEE
High-Fe Specialised
mining mining Corporate
operation Trading services and others Total
= Fe 5
3 E S EH BERY OLERHEM as
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT AR®BTRT AR®BTT AR¥TR AR®BT:R
81,744 517,915 85,091 - 684,750
8,113 = 2,000 646 10,759
89,857 517,915 87,091 646 695,509
(10,759)
684,750
17,927 12,890 (12,273) (6,699) 11,845
602
(2,256)
(8,343)
1,848
341,335 132,419 120,141 7,300,117 7,894,012
(6,797,339)
17,601
33,696
1,297,877
2,445,847
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REDWER (@)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2018 (Continued) B Z2018F12A31B L FE (£&)
High-Fe Specialised
mining mining Corporate
operation Trading services and others Total
=Fe 5
PR 7% =4 BRI OEREM &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR%ETr AR%ETr AR%ETrx AR%®Tx
Segment liabilities SHERE 235,640 103,825 91,325 4,194,882 4,625,672
Reconciliation: #hk -
Elimination of Eakisban: i
intersegment payables FEAF FRE (4,474,959)
Interest-bearing bank and 5t B iR1T &%
other loans H i E R 100,794
Tax payable FET R 9,154
Liabilities related BHEBERIE
to Discontinued WEEBNWARE
Operations 1,291,490
Total liabilities BEEE 1,552,151
Other segment HihpHER
information
Reversal of impairment [ fE AR K
losses on trade BEEEFE
receivables, net (Ff#£20)
(note 20) (8,737) (1,161) - - (9,898)
Impairment losses FTATER RIE -
on financial H b e W RIA R
assets included in EMmEENS R
prepayments, other AERERE
receivables and other (FF3%E17)
assets (note 17) 23 - - - 23
Impairment losses on W BER
property plant and BB EEE
equipment (note 13) (BF3E13) = = 1,071 = 1,071
Impairment losses on DERFIELE
assets classified as held WEEREESE
for sale (note 7) (HI5E7) - - 1,469 = 1,469
Depreciation and e R
amortisation (PFfEE13 14K
(notes 13, 14 and 15) 15) 11,882 - 6,420 - 18,302
Capital expenditure* BRI
(note 13) (FMt5E13) 20,411 22 1,360 239 22,032
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BARSBIEREWME  BEREEI

equipment and intangible assets.

MEVEE-
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2017

Segment revenue

Reconciliation:

Elimination of
intersegment sales

Revenue from
Continuing
Operations

Segment results
Reconciliation:
Other income
Other expense
Finance costs

Loss before tax
from Continuing
Operations

Segment assets
Reconciliation:
Elimination of
intersegment
receivables
Deferred tax assets
Cash and cash
equivalents
Assets related to
Discontinued
Operations

Total assets

Segment liabilities
Reconciliation:
Elimination of
intersegment
payables
Interest-bearing bank
and other loans
Tax payable
Liabilities related
to Discontinued
Operations

Total liabilities

2 EUA
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D BREHEE

KEEEET
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D EBEE
HAb YA
H A F 2
B 75 A AR

FRECEXT
TR ET 18
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JE A< B 70

BEEKLLE
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o

\
g
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—
o
B
cRb
i

High-Fe
mining
operation
=Fe
RUEED
RMB’000
AREFTTT

67,690

(12,687)

323,274

246,958

Trading

BEE
RMB’000
ARBTT

805,918

1,228

490,809

425,049

Specialised
mining
services

25

B 4% PR 75
RMB’000
AR¥ETT

3,575

(12,992)

118,452

45,322
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HZ2017F12A318ILFE

Corporate
and others

EREHAM
RMB’000
ARBTT

(189,638)

4,939,718

1,887,709

Total

A=
[==N=]

RMB’000
ARBTT

877,183

877,183

(214,089)

1,353
(8,521)
(5,282)

(226,539)
5,872,253

(4,267,146)
1,224

13,211
1,416,333
3,035,875

2,605,038

(2,420,586)

94,211
10,075

1,402,032

1,690,770
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, RBEQIER (@)

(Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2017 (Continued) HZE2017FE12A318ILEE (£)

High-Fe Specialised
mining mining Corporate
operation Trading services  and others Total
= Fe HH
RIEZET BE FERIRTE  (ERHA &t

RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFIT AREBFT AREBTFT AREBFTT AREBTT

Other segment Hith o &R

information
Impairment losses on mZEERIE

intangible assets 518 - - - 64,884 64,884
Impairment losses on DERFBIELE

assets classified as HEERE

held for sale 718 - - 4,525 - 4,525
Impairment losses on JE U5 R FRORL (B

trade receivables 518 - 8,843 1,678 - 10,521
Depreciation and e R

amortisation 9,852 - 741 103 10,696
Capital expenditure* BEARRZ* 9,660 - 45,747 - 55,407
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BAREBIEREYE  BERBEIN

equipment and intangible assets, including assets from the LEREAE PREE-BTFRARNE

acquisition of a subsidiary. e
Entity-wide disclosures EREREE
Geographical information 1 17 B R

The following table sets out information about the geographical
locations of the Group's revenue from external customers
during the year. The geographical locations of customers are
determined based on the locations designated by the customers
at which the goods were delivered or services were rendered.

Domestic — Mainland China B A — R B A i
Overseas — Australia 8 9N — BN

At the end of the reporting period, except for certain property,
plant and equipment located in Australia with the total net
carrying amount of RMB40,326,000 (2017: RMB48,822,000), all
of the Group’s non-current assets were located in the PRC, the
place of domicile of the Group's operating entities.

TREINFAREB KB EFPBA
HH IR E R - BEP A I ER TP S
ERXNEmIIRHRB M B EE -

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBEF T
599,659 873,608
85,091 3,575
684,750 877,183

RBEEHR BREAFEAEAR
#40,326,0007C (20175 : AR ¥
48,822,0007T) ~ i AR N EY & F ¥ % -
BEREHEN REEBRBIERBEE
R PR (REELE B A
2h) o
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
Entity-wide disclosures (Continued)
Information about major customers
Revenue from each of the major customers, which amounted to
10% or more of the total revenue, is set out below:

KEeHIER (&)

EREREE @)

EEEFAN
REEBMATI0%H N LR EBEF
B A BRI -

2018 2017
20185 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® Tt ARET T
Customer A EFPR 528,863 805,254
Customer B ®PZ 80,434 67,791
5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS WA HE AR WS
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADHIT -
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 % RMB'000 %
ARET R AREFIT
Revenue from contracts Z/F & ATHA
with customers
Sales of goods: HESm:
High-grade iron SELIVE=§ 1
concentrates 81,744 12.0 67,690 7.7
Trading of coals HEREE 271,416 39.6 449,907 51.3
Trading of steels MiZE & 246,499 36.0 356,011 40.6
Rendering of specialised #E it & 2 F R
mining services 85,091 12.4 3,575 0.4
684,750 100.0 877,183 100.0
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Type of goods or
services
High-grade iron
concentrates
Trading of coals
Trading of steels
Rendering of
specialised
mining services

Geographical
markets

Mainland China

Australia

Time of revenue
recognition

Goods transferred at

a point in time
Services transferred
over time

EmBREER
= o i S BT
RxEE

RHEER
R R 75

HiE T 5

o B 7Y i
M

WA R

AR — B e 2h
EENEM

B B R 88 2 0 AR 75
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2018412 A31H

5. WA -HMARKE (&)

EEEHWA
(i) EHFFTHUAEH
B £20185F 128318 L E

High-Fe Specialised
mining mining  Corporate
operation Trading services and others Total
= Fe gx
3 E S BEE BRI SEREM A&t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARB®TR AR¥TRT AR®TR AR¥Tx
81,744 - - - 81,744
- 271,416 - - 271,416
- 246,499 - - 246,499
- - 85,091 - 85,091
81,744 517,915 85,091 - 684,750
81,744 517,915 - - 599,659
- - 85,091 - 85,091
81,744 517,915 85,091 = 684,750
81,744 517,915 - - 599,659
- - 85,091 - 85,091
81,744 517,915 85,091 - 684,750
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

174

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in

segment information:

For the year ended 31 December 2018

Revenue from BEEASKHRA
contracts
with customers

External customers =

Intersegment sales S ERS S

Intersegment S ERRI R
adjustments and Wt s
eliminations 15

Total revenue from % B A 4 A 4858

contracts with
customers

WA -EMRARKZE &)
BEEEHWA (&)

(i) EHFDURAEH (F)

TXHINEFPEHRAED FHE
HARENSENEER:

B ZE2018F 128318 L FE

High-Fe Specialised
mining mining  Corporate

operation Trading services and others Total

= Fe ¥
BRE R '5E BERRYE LERHEAM &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR¥TR AR®TR AR®BTRT AR%¥T:R
81,744 517,915 85,091 - 684,750
8,113 - 2,000 646 10,759
89,857 517,915 87,091 646 695,509
(8,113) - (2,000) (646) (10,759)
81,744 517,915 85,091 - 684,750
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:

Notes to Financial Statements

Rt 75 R R B

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

WA -HEMBARWKE &)
BEEEHWA (&)
() EHFEHUAEH (&)

TRETARSHAERT AR
THNEHBENRAZRRE:

2018
20184
RMB’000
AR%¥ T
Revenue recognised that was included FrigsR et AsRE Ei 40
in contract liabilities at the beginning of EHEBENRASEE:
the reporting period:
Sale of goods from REREXEBHEER (MFE26)
Continuing Operations (note 26) 1,526
Sale of goods from BRI EEBIHE S m (Mizh26)
Discontinued Operations (note 26) 429
1,955

(i) Performance obligations
Information about the Group’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

Sales of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
the concentrates and payment is generally due within 30
to 90 days from delivery.

Specialised mining services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and a proportional payment in
advance is normally required. Payment is generally
due upon completion of processing and customer
acceptance.

(i) BHYELF
FRANEEEQETHER L
LUNNE

HEEm

MR IEER (B RR BN
FERT30Z 90K N EH) BN B 4Y
T

HRARRE

B BTN IRIGIR (L 05 BE s B
EK — RIBIR L BITASBIRIR < 5K
H—RRINTREPRKTHKIEZ
B
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

(Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations (Continued)
An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

Bank interest income
Government grants*
Miscellaneous

Total other income and gains

RITH B A
LI #75 BY *
Hit

H A Y A B e a5 4 R

* There were no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies

relating to these grants.

6. FINANCE COSTS

An analysis of finance costs from Continuing Operations is as

follows:

Interest on bank and other loans

Interest on discounted bills receivable

Interest on hire purchase arrangements

Unwinding of discount on provision
(note 29)

Others

RITREMEROFE

JE Uk BL IR AR A FI 2,

TAEZ N F B

BRI E R
(FF7E29)

HAl

5.

WA -HmARWE #)

EEEHNWA (&)

(i) BHYEF (&)

H WA RSO DT

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
49 16

86 80

467 1,257

602 1,353

* 14 7 B R4 5 1 B B R A1
GREESELIEREE

5t %5 A AN

SEEEEBUHBR AT :

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARBTF T
7,906 5,216

= 5

320 -

117 110
8,343 5,331
- (49)

8,343 5,282
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31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

HEKEXBBAFE
(Ei])

ARE O SEGEEHBAFE (B
B)EMB GEA) FAIEE:

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM 7.
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

The Group’s profit/(loss) before tax from Continuing Operations

was arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2018 2017
20184 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
{ig=d AR T ARBEFTT
Cost of inventories sold BEEHTFERAR 560,747 855,206
Cost of services rendered 2R KA 73,463 6,405
Employee benefit expenses (including EEBAMMAZ (B1E
Directors’ and chief executive's BEEZRmERI{THAR
remuneration (note 8)): o (PFEE8) )
Wages and salaries TERH® 22,207 11,988
Welfare and other benefits &) R H M A 2= 841 878
Pension scheme contributions RRS B
— Defined contribution fund - REHFES 3,781 1,290
Housing fund FERAES
- Defined contribution fund —REMFKES 161 195
Total employee benefit expenses EERAM &R 26,990 14,351
Depreciation e 13 16,443 9,679
Amortisation of intangible assets mE EEH 14 944 772
Amortisation of other Hihfmp & =g
intangible assets 15 915 -
Depreciation and amortisation expenses ¥ & & & §5 5 & 18,302 10,451
Impairment losses recognised on: FATIEE R
WEEE:
Intangible assets mVEE 14 - 64,884
Assets classified as held for sale DERFIELERN
BE 1,469 4,525
Property, plant and equipment WE - WEREE 13 1,071 -
Financial assets included in AR IR - B A
prepayments, other receivables and JE W k1B Ko E A
other assets BEENERMEE 17 23 -
Provision/(reversal) of impairment losses & U BR 50 R (B /&5 18 7 18
on trade receivables, net S (BEE )58 20 (9,898) 10,521
Total provision/(reversal) of impairment A g {EE BB #,
losses, net (f&[O) F58 (7,335) 79,930
Operating lease rentals wEHERS 1,371 395
Fair value loss on a previously held equity 2 Al 5t 5 2 U B — &
interest under the step acquisition of a ~ F 2R & I A#E
subsidiary BAFEESR - 633
Auditor’s remuneration 2% 2R B & 1,050 637
Fair value losses on financial assets at fair & A F{Et & M HE &
value through profit or loss AFABEENeREE
AT EER 21 - 109,617
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31 December 2018

201812 A31H

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EENERFITEFMUR
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID BEeEFMmNERES
EMPLOYEES
Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, RIEEBEAZ ([BRA])EFESHLTH

disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (“HKSE"),
section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies

B« FBERQBIEHIZE383(1)a) (b)~(c) F(f)
BARRR (BEESFZER) BHE
DBEEAFEEST N ERERNITE A B

Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of PN
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:
2018 2017
20185 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T ARET T
Fees e 900 600
Other emoluments: H i< -
Salaries, allowances and He EMIREDH S
benefits in kind 365 424
Pension scheme contributions IRRESFT IR
— Defined contribution fund - REHRFES 48 32
413 456
1,313 1,056
(a) Independent non-executive Directors (a) BAFEHITEE
The fees paid to independent non-executive Directors FAENBIFNTEZTNBES
during the year were as follows: W
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Mr. Yu Haizong REBREE 150 120
Mr. Liu Yi Bl k& 150 120
Mr. Wu Wen RXEE 150 120
450 360

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive Directors during the year

(2017: Nil).
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31 December 2018
2018F12H31H
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERBEEITEFMUR
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID BEEFEMNERES @)
EMPLOYEES (continued)
(b) Executive Directors, non-executive (b) HMITEEZE -FHITEER
Directors and the chief executive BEEHITE
Salaries,
allowances
and Pension
benefits scheme
Fees in kind  contributions Total
Fe EER BiKE
ue BEMA = ST Bl &5t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARET T ARETT ARET T
2018 20184

Executive Directors #TESE
Mr. Jiang Zhong PR RS el

Ping® 150 117 16 283
Mr. Hao Xiemin® B &k £ W 150 124 16 290
Mr. Wang Hu® FTREEW 150 124 16 290
450 365 48 863
Non-executive EBITES
Director
Mr. Teh Wing LIPS el
Kwan(i - - - -

450 365 48 863
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31 December 2018
2018512 A31H

180

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EZENEBFEITEFMUR
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EEFMMERESR (&)
EMPLOYEES (continued) . .

(b) Executive Directors, non-executive (b) ﬁf'fﬁ%jliiﬂ TEER
Directors and the chief executive BEEHITE (&)
(Continued)

Salaries,
allowances
and Pension
benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
e 2R Bire
ks B = FTEIE R =
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFTT ARBTF T AREFT ARBTF T
2017 20174
Executive Directors H{TEE
Mr. Jiang Zhong ~ EHFILE
Ping 120 209 16 345
Mr. Zheng BERSTED
Zhiquan® 120 215 16 351
240 424 32 696
Non-executive FNTES
Director
Mr. Teh Wing BoxExE
Kwan - - -
240 424 32 696
Notes: B EE

(U]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Mr. Jiang Zhong Ping was re-designated from the
chairman of the Board and the acting chief executive
officer to the chief executive officer on 12 October
2017.

Mr. Zheng Zhiquan resigned as an executive Director and
a financial controller on 1 January 2018.

Mr. Teh Wing Kwan was appointed as a non-executive
Director and the chairman of the Board on 26 July 2017
and 12 October 2017, respectively, with an annual
remuneration of HKD1.

Mr. Hao Xiemin and Mr. Wang Hu were appointed
as executive Directors on 1 January 2018, and their
share options were then reclassified from the category
“employees” to the category “Executive Directors”.
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(iii)

(iv)

B A R2017910812
BREESFSXIRAREEEHR
TEATEFRHITE

B RS ER2018F1A1H
BIERTES RV BEE -

oK i A R20179F7 A268
BZERBIUFNITES U
MR2017F10A12BEZ T A
EFSXR FHEARIET

NHABREEREIREER
2018F1A1REZE BT
EF HENERECAMmMSH
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Notes to Financial Statements

BRIt
31 December 2018
2018412 A31A
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERHEHNTEFMUR
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID BEFMHNEEES @)
EMPLOYEES (continued)
(c) Five highest paid employees () BREFMMETEES
The five highest paid employees during the year didn’t FAZR MO AEREETERE
include any Directors (included the chief executive officer EF (BEMARRARNITESH
who is also the executive Director of the Company) BEBITE) (Q017F WA) -
(2017: two), details of whose remuneration are set out BEOHMEFIESEIIN L3 RNF
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the EES®RASRZ (2017F: =R ) IE
remaining five (2017: three) highest paid employees BEENEARAIERITBRAEN
who are neither a Director nor chief executive of the ERFTMEENFBBET
Company are as follows:
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARB T ARBF T
Salaries, allowances and e RMREDH &S
benefits in kind 5,353 1,300
Pension scheme contributions RRSEEMHK 453 31
5,806 1,331
The number of non-director and non-chief executive FNEA T BE AN &S5 E
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within 8 GFEERIERTHRAB)DN
the following bands is as follows: HEWMT:
Number of employees
EE®E
2018 2017
20184 20174
Nil to HKD 1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ 7T Nil £ 2
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7L & 1,500,0007% 7T 4 1
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,001% 7t 2,000,000/ 7T 1 Nil &
5 3

—
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31 December 2018
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9. INCOME TAX
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the BVI, the Group was not subject to any income tax in
the Cayman lIslands and the BVI during the two years ended 31
December 2018 and 2017.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group had no assessable profits derived from or earned in Hong
Kong during the two years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017.

The provision for PRC CIT is based on the respective PRC CIT
rates applicable to the subsidiaries located in Mainland China as
determined in accordance with the relevant income tax rules and
regulations of Mainland China for the year.

All subsidiaries domiciled in the PRC (the “PRC subsidiaries”)
were subject to the PRC CIT rate of 25% during the year
ended 31 December 2018. Pursuant to the income tax rules
and regulations in Australia, the Group’s subsidiaries located
in Australia are liable to Australia corporate income tax at a
rate of 30% on the assessable profits generated for the year.
Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations in Singapore,
the Group's subsidiary located in Singapore is liable to Singapore
corporate income tax at a rate of 17% on the assessable profits
generated for the year.

The major components of income tax credit are as follows:

Deferred (note 18) IRAE (FTFE18)
Exchange realignment ME W
Total tax credit for the year from B EEBFN
Continuing Operations HIEH e
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year from B & IHEEEBFERN
Discontinued Operations (note 10) BExH (Ee)aE
(K3E10)

P18
BEREHEREBREZHESHHRAIK
O B E20184F K2017F 128318 1
MEFERN  AEBEEBRANHASHEES R
EBRZHSEE -

AAANEBREZ2018F X2017F12A
BMTELEMEFELEREREELREE
BRSO ERFE  MARBRBEBFER
TEH B -

AP B EMEHRELBREREAR
FEP BN EBASER R RARE
ERE AR B A A 7 E R 5
CEMERREEE -

FrEHRBEFMFAR ([FEFAE])R
HZE2018F12A31B I FERAL25%
B AR B 1 TS R R AN B o AR BRI A
FTR AR A IR A REBAA RN T
R EIATE NE SRR FEIZ30%
B0 B SR AN BN 1 ZEFT 1S B o AR BT AN
B BT 1S B 48 Al R A8 1)+ 25 55 Bz 7 38 AN 3
WTRRIBRFRNEENBRRABIZ
17% BB RGN N B ERBR -

FaREEN T BARBIMT

2018 2017

20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBETF T

(2,666) (4,076)

(142) -
(2,808) (4,076)
16,116 (21,193)
13,308 (25,269)
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INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax charge/(credit) applicable to profit/
(loss) before tax at the applicable tax rate for the companies
within the Group to the tax charge/(credit) at the effective tax

rate is as follows:

Profit before tax from
Continuing Operations

Loss before tax from
Discontinued Operations

Tax at the applicable tax rate
of 25%
Expenses not deductible for tax
Tax effect of tax losses
not recognised
Tax effect of deductible temporary
differences not recognised
Effect on opening deferred tax due
to change in tax rate
Income not subject to tax
Tax losses utilised from the
prior year

Tax charge/(credit) at the Group's
effective tax rate

Tax credit from Continuing
Operations at the effective
tax rate

Tax charge/(credit) from
Discontinued Operations at
the effective tax rate

SR E XA

BRI E E T RIS B

1225%H) i B 1 K
ETERTR
AT B X
KERMIEEBEBH
MswE
K W 52 B H0 R B
EENBBEE
mr“@g¢m
BRI TE M & 2
EERTUWA

PHBEFEMNHEEIE

BAREERBETER
BEXH,/ (ER)

MERREFER

8

RERREFENDLL
REEBRBEIH

(#E%)

REXBGHIAR R

Notes to Financial Statements

Rt 75 R R B

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

9. MEH @
Ela) SN S NS Bl
BBATAE, (R MBEX (R
%) RIRERBEFEOBESL S (I

%) ERINT :
2018 2017
20184 20174
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AR¥ET T ARET T
1,848 (226,539)
(437,791) (188,351)
(435,943) (414,890)
(108,986) (103,723)
(a) 4,385 27,404
40,829 4,732
79,853 76,838
(b) - (26,378)
3) (4,142)
(2,770) -
13,308 (25,269)
(2,808) (4,076)
16,116 (21,193)
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31 December 2018
2018512 A31H

9.

184

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Expenses not deductible for tax for the year ended 31 December
2018 mainly consist of administrative expenses incurred by
offshore companies. Expenses not deductible for tax for the year
ended 31 December 2017 mainly consist of fair value losses on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, impairment
loss and administrative expenses incurred by offshore companies.
These expenses are not expected to be deductible for tax.

Pursuant to the Circular on Issues Concerning Tax Policies for In-
depth Implementation of Western Development Strategies of
the State Administration of Taxation, the Ministry of Finance and
General Administration of Customs (Cai Shui [2011] No. 58), the
tax preferential treatments for the Western Region Development
are valid until 2020. According to the Circular, “from 1 January
2011 to 31 December 2020, corporate income tax may be
levied at a reduced tax rate of 15% for enterprises established
in the western region and engaged in encouraged industries.
The above-mentioned industries shall refer to enterprises whose
principal businesses are the industrial projects prescribed in the
Catalogue of Encouraged Industries in the Western Region (the
"Catalogue”), the income of which accounts for more than
70% of the total income of such enterprises. The Catalogue
of Encouraged Industries in the Western Region shall be issued
separately.” At present, the Catalogue of Encouraged Industries
in the Western Region has been approved by the State Council,
and was implemented as of 1 October 2014.

Huili Caitong, Aba Mining and Xiushuihe Mining enjoyed
the preferential corporate income tax rate of 15% for the
year ended 31 December 2016 according to the “Western
Development Policy”. The Catalogue of Encouraged industries
in the Western Region (revised 2017) (the “Revised Catalogue”)
has been introduced and implemented since 28 July 2017, the
principal businesses of Huili Caitong, Aba Mining and Xiushuihe
Mining was not included in the Revised Catalogue, therefore,
the provision for income tax expense of Huili Caitong, Aba
Mining and Xiushuihe Mining during the year were calculated at
the CIT rate of 25% (2017: 25%).

Frig

(a)
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BEE  REBB IR AR EENTT
BB o It E AT A AT

REBRRRERR B R E
ERMH (BAREANEEADAME
B AMRRBREENBD) (M
[20111585%3) « [FEEPRFAEHEBR] &9
BRI EBRERE R E2020F - %@
METAA - [E20118 1818 220204
12A318 - # &1 78 # i = ) B B A8
EELFERIZ15%0 B R DA
1BF - Rl BB A ER B (A
EHEEEERE ([BHDFRTE
WEXEEATEXEE BEXEE
UG ZE WA BEETO% A £ 1
E (TR EMBEXB ) 51T
| - B AT (FREbh s EiEEE S
8%) BEEB AL E - B 52014510
A1ARERR-

IRV (PRSP RFABIRCR | - SIREHE -
B R FKTEEREE2016512
A3MBLEFEZHIS%EELEMS
B E - RIEE201767 A28B B
WE M (FHEiihm e B E % B i
(20175 1&85]) ) ([#&BETE ))&
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10.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

The Disposal Group is mainly engaged in mining and
ore processing and sale of self-produced low-grade iron
concentrates and titanium concentrates products mainly in
southern region of Sichuan. Pursuant to a Board resolution
dated 8 October 2018, the Group has decided to dispose of
the Disposal Group because it plans to focus its resources on its
high-Fe mining operation mainly in northern region of Sichuan.
In October 2018, the Company entered into the memorandum
of understanding in respect of the Disposal with the Purchaser.
On 29 January 2019, the Company has entered into the SPA in
respect of the Disposal with the Purchaser, particulars of the SPA
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 29 January
2019. As at 31 December 2018, management had reasonably
expected that the Disposal would be highly probable completed
within one year. As such, management believes that the results
and cash flows of the Disposal Group should be presented
as discontinued operations for the year ended 31 December
2018 in accordance with IFRS 5. With the Disposal Group
being classified as a discontinued operation, the low-grade iron
concentrates and titanium concentrates businesses are no longer
included in the note 4 for operating segment information.

10.

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

BARIEREEK
HEEETENMN)IE IR ER
BREALENREE A ERRUERE
BRIKIBREEM - BIEBHHA2018F 10 A
SHMEEFEAZR BHRAZEFEE
B R BAPE AL 3B i [ & E 7Y = Fefk
R HURELELESE - R2018F
108 ARE|EE H gt EEE L F
BTk 2019F 18298 AR AIHEE
FREEREIVEERGZE EEHEN
FIEENARTIHHA2019F1H298 4]
NEFR2018F12A310  BEEEAEI
TEHLEEFERAEUEMFRTK - E
I ERERGHESENEERE SR
EREERBEYBRELEFSTEN A
HE2018F12A31MHIEEFEMNE K IEK
EEB -BELHESESBEABRIERLE
¥ KRR AERE LI BRES T BT
ABIFEAME & D E R
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10.

186

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

The results of the Disposal Group for the year are presented

below:

REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Write-down of inventories to
net realisable value

Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment (note 13)

Impairment losses on intangible
assets (note 14)

Impairment losses on prepaid land
lease payments (note 16)

Reversal of impairment losses

on trade receivables, net (note 20)
Impairment losses on financial assets

included in prepayments, other
receivables and other assets
(note 17)
Impairment losses on assets
classified as held for sale
Finance costs

Loss before tax from
Discontinued Operations
Income tax credit/(charge)

LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM THE
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

L'ON
#HE AR

£
eI ON A€
WERHBEH
TREE

R

WA 8 A R BUFE

ME - BERZERE
&8 (M&13)

‘R EERAERIE
(M3E14)

BN AETRE
518 (MIsE16)

[0 FE R BR FUR B 5 1B
F 88 (fF7E20)

STATERN FRIE - E AR UK
FIE R H A E E R
SREEREEIS
(FF3E17)

DEABIELEDN
BEEREES

B 35 AR

BRI REXBBAEE

FrisBiE e,/ ()

ERILEEREXBFRBIE

10. CRIEREEE &)
HEEEMENEESIIMT

2018 2017

20184 20174

Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR¥T T ARBTF T
457,221 440,296
(381,862) (328,348)

75,359 111,948

121,396 182
(73,103) (54,078)
(83,453) (51,629)

(26,021) (34)

(2,680) -
(a) (112,238) (72,776)
(a) (266,630) (11,245)
(a) (8,841) (2,413)
3,452 -

(12,198) -

= (40,000)

(52,834) (68,306)

(437,791) (188,351)

(16,116) 21,193

(453,907) (167,158)
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

Note:

(a)

In accordance with the Group’s accounting policies, each asset
or CGU is evaluated annually at 31 December or biannually
at 30 June to determine whether there are any indications of
impairment. If any such indications of impairment exist, a formal
estimate of the recoverable amount is performed.

In assessing whether an impairment is required, the carrying
value of the asset or CGU is compared with its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the CGU'’s fair
value less costs of disposal and VIU. Management has performed
impairment assessment on all of the carrying amounts of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and
prepaid land lease payments. For the purpose of impairment
assessment, Baicao CGU (comprising the mining right to Baicao
Mine, stripping activity assets of Baicao Mine and Baicao
Processing Plant) and Xiushuihe CGU (comprising the mining
right to Xiushuihe Mine, land use right of Xiushuihe Mining,
Xiushuihe Processing Plant and Hailong Processing Plant) are
treated as separate CGUs. The recoverable amounts of Baicao
CGU, Xiushuihe CGU, the exploration right of Haibaodang
Mine and the mining right of Cizhuging Mine were estimated
based on their respective VIU determined by discounting the
future cash flows to be generated from the continuing use of
these assets. The recoverable amounts are determined based
on the calculation using cash flow projections according to
financial budgets covering periods ranging from 10 to 12 years
approved by management with pre-tax discount rates ranging
between 12.01% and 15.26% (31 December 2017: 13.18%
and 16.67%) depending on the nature of the CGU/asset. The
cash flows beyond the periods ranging from 10 to 12 years
are extrapolated using a zero growth rate until the end of the
respective asset useful lives.

Other key assumptions used in the estimation of VIU are as
follows:

Resources/reserves — These represent one of the key factors the
management has considered during the impairment testing,
which comprise resources (measured, indicated and inferred)
estimated, and/or reserves (proved and probable) where
appropriate, on the basis of appropriate geological evidence
and sampling, with reference to the resources and reserves
statements prepared by appropriate competent persons.
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10. CRIEREXER (&)

GEE

(a)

A R B B S R12A31
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

Note: (Continued)

188

(a)

(Continued)

Commodity prices — Forecast commodity prices are based on
management’s estimates and are derived from forward price
curves and long-term views of domestic supply and demand,
building on past experience of the industry and consistent
with external sources. These prices were adjusted to arrive
at appropriate consistent price assumptions for the different
qualities and type of commodities, or, where appropriate,
contracted prices were applied. These prices are reviewed at
least annually.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average
gross margin achieved in the recent years for Baicao CGU and
Xiushuihe CGU, adjusted for management’s expectations for
possible changes in the production costs and estimated market
prices.

Production volumes — Estimated production volumes are
based on the detailed life of mine plans and take into account
development plans of the mine agreed by management as part
of the long-term planning process.

Discount rate — The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant units.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent with
external information sources.

10. CRIEREEE &)

BfsE: (&)

(a)
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

Note: (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Based on the above-mentioned impairment assessment, the
recoverable amounts, carrying amounts as at 31 December 2018
and impairment provisions for the year ended 31 December

Notes to Financial Statements
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10. CRIEREXER (&)

s (&)

(a (%)
ER EaURERT 4 - 7R20185F12A
BNEMATKESE RESEREZE
201812 A3 HIEFE MR EREN

2018 are as follows: T

Recoverable Carrying Impairment

amount amount provision

EUEEE S ) IRESHE WERE

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBFT AREFTT ARBFT

Baicao CGU BERSELEMN 144,189 250,842 106,653

Xiushuihe CGU BB G EEBM 298,532 327,625 29,093
Exploration right of AR N 5 TR R R

Haibaodang Mine - 215,995 215,995
Mining right of SRS TR R R

Cizhuging Mine 85,611 121,579 35,968

387,709

The above impairment provisions as at 31 December 2018 have
been allocated to the following asset classes.

Impairment loss recognised on property, plant and
equipment

An impairment loss of RMB112,238,000 (note 13) (2017:
RMB72,776,000) was recognised during the year to write down
the carrying amounts of Baicao Processing Plant, Xiushuihe
Processing Plant and Hailong Processing Plant to their respective
recoverable amounts of RMB114,291,000, RMB217,384,000 and
RMB68,360,000 as at 31 December 2018.

201812 A3 BHRERED
DEENTEEER -

B ¥ - B E R R Y 6 B TR

FRNHERAOBREEBEEAARE
112,238,0007T (P 7E13) (20174 -
AR¥72,776,0007T) * EEREE M
IR 5 KO SRR TR K 0 BE R IR R
AR EESAR2018F12A8
3THAKESEARK 114,291,000
T AR#217,384,0007T &2 A R ¥
68,360,0007T °
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

Note: (Continued)

190

(a)

(Continued)

Impairment loss recognised on prepaid land lease
payments

An impairment loss of RMB8,841,000 (note 16) (2017:
RMB2,413,000) was recognised during the year to write down
the carrying amounts of prepaid land lease payments of Baicao
Mine and Xiushuihe Mine to their respective recoverable
amounts of RMB10,277,000 and RMB12,787,000 as at 31
December 2018.

Impairment loss recognised on intangible assets

An impairment loss of RMB266,630,000 (2017: RMB11,245,000)
was recognised during the year to write down the carrying
amounts of the mining right and stripping activity assets of
Baicao Mine, the exploration assets of Xiushuihe Mine, the
mining right of Cizhuging Mine and the exploration right of
Haibaodang Mine to their respective recoverable amounts of
RMB19,621,000, RMB1, RMB85,611,000 and RMB1 as at 31
December 2018.

In relation to Baicao CGU, Xiushuihe CGU, the exploration right
of Haibaodang Mine and the mining right of Cizhuging Mine
that were impaired during the year, any variation in the key
assumptions above would either result in further impairment or
lead to a reversal of impairment.

The impairment losses recognised for Baicao CGU, the
exploration right of Haibaodang Mine and the mining right of
Cizhuging Mine were primarily due to the following reasons:

Baicao CGU, Xiushuihe CGU and the mining right of Cizhuging
Mine - they were impaired as a result of forecasted low
commodity price and stringent environmental regulations
in recent years. The Group’s mining plan was adjusted
correspondingly with the increase of inevitable compliance cost
due to increasing regulations.

The exploration right of Haibaodang Mine — it was impaired as
a result of forecasted high production costs including regulation
and environmental compliance costs, low recovery rates and
low commodity price. The production costs were thus adjusted
correspondingly with the updated ore processing experiment
report prepared by the professionals (an independent third
party).

10. CRIEREEE &)

BfsE: (&)

(a)
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10.

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

The major classes of assets and liabilities of the Disposal Group
classified as held for sale as at 31 December 2018 are as

follows:

ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Prepaid land lease payments

Payments in advance

Deferred tax assets

Inventories

Trade and bills receivables

Prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

Due from related parties

Cash and cash equivalents

Assets classified as held for sale

Assets of a disposal group classified
as held for sale

LIABILITIES

Trade and bills payables

Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank and other loans
Due to related parties

Tax payable

Dividend payable

Provision for rehabilitation

Liabilities directly associated with the assets classified
as held for sale

Net assets directly associated with the Disposal Group

Notes to Financial Statements
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10. BERUEREEL @)
R2018F12A31B B ABELEN D
EEENIEEERAGENDT

2018
20184
RMB’000
AR% T
EE

M BEREE 403,423
BREE 340,666
FEft L ER 23,064
TES R IE 156
EERIBEE 39,218
T8 45,594
YRR R EIE 47,614

TE T FRIE -« H Ath fE U GRTE &

HEMhEE 138,040
JRE U A Bt 75 3R E 27
ReRBFEEZEY 75
PEARBELENEE 260,000
DEABELENDLE

HAMEE 1,297,877

&&
FEATBR 3 R R HR 119,561
H b FE A 5RIB K FEET FOE 364,055
FFERITREMER 802,098
JE <) B B 5 3R E 449
FE R (6,821)
FERR B 1,801
IR 10,347
HBAOBEARELHENEE

HEZEBNAE 1,291,490
HNESBEEEREANTEEE 6,387
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10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (continued)

The net cash flows incurred by the Disposal Group are as follow:

Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities

Net cash inflow

Loss per Share:
Basic and diluted, from the
Discontinued Operations

The calculations of basic and diluted loss per Share from the

RERH
BRERD
BMEED

RERMANFE

TR EE
ERIEEERD

ERREE

Discontinued Operations are based on:

Profit attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent from the
Discontinued Operations

Weighted average number of Shares
used in the basic and diluted earnin
per Share calculation
(note 30)

=) SN
B

RAREFFESRBROERNREE

gs BF R hnE T8
(Bf5E30)

BRRBERE AN

10. BERLEREXER (&)

HEEEELENREREFBUOT
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARET T
52,660 (223,379)
(105,150) (73,532)
52,490 296,913
= 2
RMB A R#(0.20)% RMB AR#(0.08)1L
EERIEEERERBROEARE

EEER A TYEE AER:

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB AR ¥ RMB AR
(449,658,000) 7 (162,158,000)7T
2,249,015,410 2,160,167,244
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11.

12.

DIVIDEND

At a meeting of the Directors held on 26 March 2019, the
Directors did not recommend a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of basic earnings per Share is based on the
loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company, and the weighted average number of Shares of
2,249,015,410 (2017: 2,160,167,244) in issue during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per Share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2017 in respect of a dilution as the exercise prices of the
Company’s outstanding share options were higher than the
average market prices for the Shares during the current and
prior years.

11.

12.
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

194

31 December 2018

Cost:

At 1 January 2018

Additions from Continuing Operations

Additions from Discontinued Operations

Transferred from CIP

Disposals

Transferred to held for sale

Cost included in Discontinued
Operations (note 10)

Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2018

Accumulated depreciation
and impairment:
At 1 January 2018
Provided for the year from
Continuing Operations
Provided for the year from
Discontinued Operations
Impairment recognised during the year
from Continuing Operations
Impairment recognised during the year
from Discontinued Operations
(note 10(a))
Disposals
Transferred to held for sale
Depreciation and impairment included in
Discontinued Operations (note 10)
Exchange realignment

At 31 December 2018

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2018

At 31 December 2018

2018512A318

BA:
201851718
BEGEEBAE
BRIGEEBAE
BEERIR

HeE

BERENE
FTABKIEEE
ERBMAA (HFE10)
EiBEE

@
W

20185125318

SHAERAE:

2018%1 718
BEOEEBER
SHREE
DRIHEEERER
SHREE

ERERNRELEEHAE

FREAMEERLES
£BAME (1)

HE

BERFLE
AARRIEEEZHH
FERBE (HE10)
ERHBE

2018124318

BEFE:
20181718

M2018%12A318
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] S
13. % BMERRE
Construction
Plant and Office Motor Mining in progress
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles infrastructure (“cIp”) Total
BT B R BAERE BHER RREE ERIR &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR
1,048,415 611,718 5,579 9,859 242,430 63,531 1,981,532
166 1,598 95 500 16,351 3322 22,032
11,581 23,464 318 1,018 - 43,691 80,072
3,194 13,340 - 275 - (16,809) =
- (1,646) - (559) - - (2,205)
- (9,419) - - - - (9,419)
(1,023,068) (568,803) (4,791) (8,557) (153,767) (62,318) (1,821,304)
- (2,566) (35) (13) - (266) (2,880)
40,288 67,686 1,166 2,523 105,014 31,151 247,828
704,943 481,815 4,780 8,847 148,093 2,156 1,350,634
2,023 7,453 132 56 6,779 - 16,443
13,953 17,451 14 162 5,468 - 37,148
- - - - - 1,071 1,07
84,959 16,653 53 432 - 10,141 112,238
- (1,369) - (516) - - (1,885)
- (8,906) - - - - (8,906)
(784,949) (495,202) (4,500) (6,927) (115,494) (10,809) (1,417,881)
- (199) (9) - - (29) (237)
20,929 17,696 570 2,054 44,846 2,530 88,625
343,472 129,903 799 1,012 94,337 61,375 630,898
19,359 49,990 596 469 60,168 28,621 159,203
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31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. % BERRE &)
(Continued)
Construction
Plant and Office Motor Mining in progress
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles infrastructure ("CIP) Total
&F TR R e WAERE HBER REER ERIR G
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETL ARETL ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETL

31 December 2017 20175128318

Cost: B!

At 1 January 2017 201741818 1,029,262 519,640 4,698 10,310 234,580 75,547 1,874,037

Additions NE 2,565 26,284 222 237 7,850 27,472 64,630

Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-BFAE - 36,720 647 - - 5,271 42,638

Transferred from CIP ERERTE 16,588 28,268 - - - (44,856) -

Disposals HE - - - (690) - - (690)

Exchange realignment EXAE - 806 12 2 - 97 917

At 31 December 2017 20174128318 1,048,415 611,718 5,579 9,859 242,430 63,531 1,981,532

Accumulated depreciation RHMERRE:

and impairment:

At 1 January 2017 #2017%1818 633,930 444,034 4,609 9,273 133,635 - 1,225,481

Provided for the year FREE 13,335 23,593 45 199 10,425 - 47,597

Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-HTAE - 5,229 102 - - - 5,331

Impairment recognised during FRRRNEE

the year (note 10(a)) (BizE106)) 57,678 8,855 2% 30 4,033 2,156 72,776

Disposals HeE - - - (655) - - (655)

Exchange realignment ERHE - 104 - - - - 104

At 31 December 2017 20178128318 704,943 481,815 4,780 8,847 148,093 2,156 1,350,634

Net carrying amount: REFE:

At 1 January 2017 201751818 395,332 75,606 89 1,037 100,945 75,547 648,556

At 31 December 2017 20178128318 343,472 129,903 799 1,012 94,337 61,375 630,898

(a) As at 31 December 2018, loans relating to the hire purchase (a) R2018F12A31H HELZHHEBE
arrangements were secured by the corresponding machineries FHUABRE 4% A RH535,0007T K #HFE
with an aggregate carrying amount of RMB535,000 (note 28(b)). #ESE A (M 7E28(b) ) ©

(b) In accordance with the Group's accounting policies, each asset (b) AREBZBESARETER12831
or CGU is evaluated annually at 31 December or biannually Ak ZFFR6A30BFHEEEENRR
at 30 June to determine whether there are any indications of SEL BN UEELE B ERED
impairment. If any such indications of impairment exist, a formal R MR ERBRRERR - AT
estimate of the recoverable amount is performed. TEF AT U Bl 5 Zafl &t o
During 2018, impairment loss of RMB1,071,000 was related to #2018 + AR #1,071,0007T AR (B
the write-down to current market value of property, plant and EE TN S RAIEIREETEE
equipment improvement of MHPL which is undergoing repair. B BREREBRERRZEZE RN

E-
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31 December 2018
2018512 A31H

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 December 2018

2018%12A31H

Cost: B

At 1 January 2018 2018 1H1H

Additions from BRIECEEBRE
Discontinued Operations

Cost included in FPN=EI
Discontinued Operations 4% & 2 7% KAk A
(note 10) (fEE10)

At 31 December 2018

7201812 A31H

Accumulated R BERREE:
amortisation and
impairment:

At 1 January 2018 2018 1H1H

Amortisation provided FRFRIFE
during the year from REEBHIHEE
Continuing Operations

Amortisation provided FRFTRMEKLE
during the year from REEBHHE
Discontinued Operations

Impairment recognised FARRHERLE
for the year from KL EBRE
Discontinued Operations  (Hf3£10(a))
(note 10(a))

Amortisation and AR IR EET
impairment included in B8 8 R B
Discontinued Operations ~ (Hf3£10)

(note 10)

At 31 December 2018

72018512 A31H

Net carrying amount: REFE:
At 1 January 2018 72018F1H1H

At 31 December 2018

2018512 A31H

14. BREE
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Stripping Exploration

Mining activity rights and
rights assets assets Total
REE HBITBEE KRBEREE &t
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARBTR AR®T T ARBTR
1,283,629 150,519 437,568 1,871,716
269 - 200 469
(483,603) (150,519) (371,777) (1,005,899)
800,295 - 65,991 866,286
266,925 137,666 117,154 521,745
944 - - 944
3,988 686 - 4,674
45,309 5,172 216,149 266,630
(188,406) (143,524) (333,303) (665,233)
128,760 - - 128,760
1,016,704 12,853 320,414 1,349,971
671,535 - 65,991 737,526



INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

31 December 2017

Cost:
At 1 January 2017
Additions

At 31 December 2017

Accumulated
amortisation and
impairment:

At 1 January 2017

Impairment recognised
for the year

Amortisation provided
during the year

At 31 December 2017

Net carrying amount:

At 1 January 2017

At 31 December 2017

20179128318

AR

R2017F 1818
NE
20178128318

R E o RRE

R2017F 1818
FAERNRE

FRFHRA BB

20178128318

BRI FEE
R2017F 1818

20179124318

Notes to Financial Statements

1,016,704

As at 31 December 2018, the mining rights of Maoling
Mine with a net carrying amount of RMB21,826,000 (2017:
RMB22,771,000) were pledged to secure the Group’s bank loans

(note 28(a)).

B R R R B A
31 December 2018
2018412 A31H
14. BREE (&)

Stripping Exploration

Mining activity rights and
rights assets assets Total
PRz HMEHEE - HREEREE CEi
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FTT ARBT T AREF T ARBF T
1,281,614 148,847 437,568 1,868,029
2,015 1,672 - 3,687
1,283,629 150,519 437,568 1,871,716
191,580 128,922 117,154 437,656
72,060 4,069 - 76,129
3,285 4,675 - 7,960
266,925 137,666 117,154 521,745
1,090,034 19,925 320,414 1,430,373

12,853

320,414 1,349,971

MR2018F12A31H BEEFEAA
R #21,826,0007T (2017F : AR ¥
22,771,00070) M EE W KB E 1
iR EAAREERTERNER (WiE
28(a)) °

—
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Br 15 ¥R R MY 5
31 December 2018
2018512 A31H

15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSET

31 December 2018

Cost:
At 1 January and 31 December 2018

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 January 2018
Amortisation provided during the year

At 31 December 2018

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2018

At 31 December 2018

31 December 2017

Cost:
At 1 January 2017
Acquisition of a subsidiary

At 31 December 2017

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2017

At 31 December 2017

15. HEREEE

2018%12H31H

R

H2018F1HA1H K&12A31H

E-5e R
H2018F1H81H

F T HEAY B
M20184%12H31H

PREER:
H2018F1H81H

M2018412H31H

2017512A31H

R
M2017F1A1H

W BE—RF 27
HR2017F12A31H

BREER:
M2017F 1818

M2017412H318
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Brand name
m A E
RMB'000

ARBTT

8,440

915

915

8,440

7,525

8,440

8,440

8,440



16.

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

Carrying amount at 1 January MATEBENEEE%E

Impairment recognised for FABABHNDRILEE
the year from Discontinued EBRE (FFFE10())
Operations (note 10(a))

Amortised during the year FAHBEERIEEEER
from Discontinued Operations

Assets included in Discontinued FTABKRIELE
Operations (note 10) EBHMEE (M:E10)

Carrying amount at 31 December R12A3MBNEm&E

Prepaid land lease payments represented costs of land use rights
in respect of the Group's leasehold land situated in Sichuan
Province, the PRC.

Notes to Financial Statements

Rt 75 R R B

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

16. M LHEER

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBEF T
33,015 36,535
(8,841) (2,413)
(1,110) (1,107)
(23,064) -

= 33,015

BN T E RN AN R E AR
M)A BEE T a) L RERA -

—
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17. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 17. EAARE HEMEKRRER

OTHER ASSETS Htt&EE
2018 2017
20184 20174
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
P 5E AR¥ T AR T T
Current portion: B E S -
Prepayments consisting of: B RIBBRTE:
Purchase of raw materials BERMK 8,725 4,826
Utilities NARY - 496
Prepayment for the use right B AERN A
of a road 47 45
Prepaid stripping and mining fees B I & FI R & (a) = 40,227
Prepaid transportation fees B EH B = 2,732
Other prepayments H 78 5/I18 1,572 12,087
Other receivables consisting of: EfhERRIERTE
Utilities N AR - 5,269
Other receivables H h fE R IE 10,911 5,705
21,255 71,387
Impairment allowance BEHE (b) (33) -
21,222 71,387
Non-current portion: FEREBE S
Prepayment for the use right B TR IR
of a road 636 694
Long-term environmental RIBEERRARSE
rehabilitation deposits - 6,653
Long-term deposit RHF® 536 -
1,172 7,347
22,394 78,734
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17.

PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(a) As at 31 December 2017, the balance represented prepaid
stripping and mining fees made to an independent third party
contractor for stripping and mining activities at Baicao Mine and
Xiushuihe Mine of the Disposal Group.

(b) The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of financial

assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets are as follows:

17.

At beginning of year
Effect of adoption of IFRS 9

At beginning of year (restated)
Impairment losses recognised from
Continuing Operations (note 7)

Impairment losses recognised
from Discontinued Operations
(note 10)

Impairment included in
Discontinued Operations

At end of year

Where applicable,

REH
11 7 B R B 75 S 2R )
T E

F1(EEH)

ERABELLE
B EE (KM FE7)

EHERERIEEERT
B EE (MFE10)

AR ZEEBORE

NS ES

impairment analysis is performed at each

reporting date by considering expected credit losses, which are

estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference to the

historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to

reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future economic

conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate applied for as at 31
December 2018 ranged from 0.0% to 100.0%.

Notes to Financial Statements

Rt 75 R R B

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

EARE HERE
thEE &)

W

RIE K H

(a) R2017F12A318  Z&BEREE
£ G B E R R KO # R 8 R B K
R ES BN BB U E=F AT
BB R B o

(b) FHATBNFOR - B R FOR R E M E
EMEREENREBEERZSN
T

2018
20184
RMB’000
AR TR

2017
20174
RMB’000
ARETT

51 -

51 -

12,198 -

(12,239) -

33 -

FEABR T A5SEEeREHRER
HEREREREABRETRED
-mERERERI2BASEN
FEELEBL S EREBEE R AMT-
REBEHBEBIRR  URBRE AR
J AR AR A AR R B9 TE ORI (Rns@ A ) o
M2018F12A31H  FiEAME B X
N F0.0%%E100.0% °
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31 December 2018
2018512 A31H

18.

202

DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as

follows:

18. IEERIIR
BREBIEAERFANBHOT -

Losses
available Excess tax
for depreciation
offsetting over book Unrealised
against value of Provision  profit from Provision
taxable fixed for  intragroup for
profits assets rehabilitation  transaction  impairment Others Total
EEEEMN
AR BRERE £BR
ERBAE EBHEEE AAERS
M8 WEH EREE WRERAE HERE Hity Ch
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTE ARETT ARBTT ARETR ARETT ARSTRT ARETR
At 1 January 2017 RW2017E€1818 28,918 1,876 2,451 54 - 6,268 39,567
Deferred tax credited/ (charged) — FRERBALK/ (k)

to profit or loss during the year HREH R 19,491 1,990 271 (54) - 3,571 25,269
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—mTFAF 5,433 - - - - - 5,433
Deferred tax assets at R20175128318 &

31 December 2017 and 2018F 1 A1H

1 January 2018 EERBEE 53,842 3,866 2,722 - - 9,839 70,269
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to ~ FAEBE AR/ (4N5)

profit or loss during the year from ~ HI3SBREE£%

Continuing Operations (note 9) EIERE (F1519) (30) 2,037 52 - 2,289 (1,682) 2,666
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to ~ FREBIE AR/ (408)

profit or loss during the year HERILEE £

from Discontinued Operations EERIE (H39)

(note 9) (18,115) (9,605) (1,950) - - 13,554 (16,116)
Deferred tax included in SABKRIEEEERH

Discontinued Operations BB (KE10)

(note 10) (27,509) 9,680 (416) - - (20,973) (39,218)
At 31 December 2018 #H2018F12A31H 8,188 5,978 408 - 2,289 738 17,601
Notes: BRE
(a) As at 31 December 2018, the Group has tax losses (a) MR2018F12A318B  AE@MABRAF

arising from Mainland China of RMB32,971,000 (2017:
RMB887,978,000) that would expire in three to five years and
other deductible temporary differences of RMB127,269,000
(2017: RMB1,683,365,000) that were available for offsetting
against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been

recognised in respect of these losses and deductible temporary

differences as it is not considered probable that taxable profits

will be available against which they can be utilised.

B A R =5 R FREI BT IEE
BAR32,971,0007T (20176 : AR
#887,978,0007T ) K H b AT H1 5 & B
ZE AR®127,269,0007T (20174 :
AR #1,683,365,0007T) © 7] A LAIK
AR ERTFE - AR AKBER AT
KAl BB FERTA ] A 85818
B8 - N AR L _E B 4E K AT R E R
EEBRELEREEE -
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18.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Deferred tax assets related to the PRC subsidiaries have been
provided at the enacted corporate income tax rate of 25%.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement has been effective from
1 January 2008 and applied to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is
a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of
the foreign investors. The withholding tax rate for the Group is
10%.

As at 31 December 2018, no deferred tax liability has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of
the Group's subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the
opinion of the Directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries
will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future. The
aggregate amount of temporary differences as associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately nil
(2017: RMB212,497,000).

Notes to Financial Statements

Rt 75 R R B

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

18. EEFIIE (@)

s (&)
(b) HAEFRARABEREMNEERAEE

ER25% 0 DR R EMEH R XA
2o

R 55 7 B B P AS B A 3R R I 1
HERFEFEANMKLHIINE D E
R SNET IR B 2 AR BB 10%H9 TR
M- ZMRE D A2008F1 1B AE
e A R2007F12A31BEME
F) o fiki AR B A b BN B 3% & & FTTE A
AR EFERERE  TREgE R
RENENHE - HAEEME - B
FHER10% ©

M2018F12A31H A AEERF
R B S 8 F A BIZB BN T I &0 K
BRBAMNE  HEEREZEEMNTE
MR EBNEEHBEAZR - EFRA-
ZEF AR TRAGERARERD IR
ZERBA -HBRFREAM T A RN
BHEMAMARERELER A BN TR
ERRBEHROAT 2017F: AR
212,497,0007T) °
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 R Ak B &

31 December 2018
2018512 A31H

19. INVENTORIES

Raw materials JR M

Spare parts and consumables BB KB R
Finished goods X &a

Others Hth

Inventory provision FERE

20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables JE LK BR 3R
Impairment A

Trade receivables, net of impairment [EUWEBEZ - 2B IRE
Bills receivable EWEE

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. Aba Mining’s trading terms for its customers normally
require payments in advance, except for major customers, where
Aba Mining granted a credit term of 2 years. During the year,
the Group other than Aba Mining granted a six-month credit
term to its customers for sale of self-produced products given
the market conditions remained weak and a six-month credit
term to its trading customers and customers for rendering
specialised mining services. Trade receivables are non-interest-
bearing and unsecured.

19. &E
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARET T
3,011 49,258
2,314 38,505
278 85,937
18,083 1,143
23,686 174,843
(59) (206)
23,627 174,637

200 ERERRRERE

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARET T
126,886 580,171
(21,657) (340,748)
105,229 239,423

= 134,284

105,229 373,707

AEEEEFNEZERETERBRERTY
X-MPBREEEFPHNESIEK—RAE
TBEHRE HEMSERERH2FERAH
MEEBEPBRIN - ERTRFEEE - K
S8 (FBEBREERINFARKRTEEEM
HENEPANEANGERY YL TES
EEREHREXARRBNTS @A
B 1E FHE - USRS R AT B R IR -
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20.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of

each reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss

allowance, is as follows:

Within 3 months
3 to 9 months

9 to 12 months
Over 1 year

31E AR
3E9EA
9& 121 A
HBB1F

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

At beginning of year
Effect of adoption of IFRS 9

At beginning of year (restated)
Impairment losses/(reversal), net
— From Continuing Operations
(note 7)
— From Discontinued Operations
(note 10)
Write-off of trade receivable
allowance
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Impairment included in
Discontinued Operations

At end of year

NS

R BB E 75 3kE E)

F95%

By 488
-2

REX (KEF)

MEER (BE)%EE
(FF5E7)
—BRIEEEER
(FFzE10)
i 85 FE U AR SRS 4K

WHE—MF A7
FRAR R IEE

77

=

EHBERE

Notes to Financial Statements

Rt 75 R R B

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

20. EWERFRKREE (&)
NEMEEFK EREREAREAHE
BB EEEEAOERSTNT

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREF T
103,751 226,646
14 5,321

= 217

1,464 7,239
105,229 239,423

FEMRFOR BB BFHERZEB M T

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARET T
340,748 328,906
3,096 -
343,844 328,906
(9,898) 10,521
(3,452) -
(2,999) -

= 1,321
(305,838) -
21,657 340,748
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 R Ak B &

31 December 2018

20186128318
20. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. BWRRRREE &)
Impairment under IFRS 9 for the year ended B Z2018F12A31BLLFEER
31 December 2018 15 B B B S R 5 % R BB 95R MORL
=l
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date REREDH AEBNARBEETS
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. TEHERBL LETRES T - BHEX
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings DERZEEEGEUSEEXNEFHE
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., HA (AR EPER RFTRE D )E’Jﬁﬁﬁ
by customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the REVETE - sFE 7 VAR R i 45
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and eEFEERNRE B RAES ﬁﬁﬁi@
reasonable and supportable information that is available at FEM - E RN RE R R E MR TE
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and A EEMABBIFHER  —RME -
forecasts of future economic conditions. Generally, trade FE U BR SR a0 8 B e T 52 98 R 1T VR B PR
receivables are written off if past due and are not subject to PR - Bl i 4H o
enforcement activity.
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure TXCEY N AR RS A& E K
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: ERESENEERRER:
Current Past due Total
B A e gt Mt
Expected credit loss rate TEHIERE L X 1.5% 100%
Gross carrying amount BREAEE
(RMB'000) (AR%ETIT)
From Continuing Operations — ##& & ¥ 7 105,376 21,510 126,886
From Discontinued Operations 2 #% [F48 & 27 47,699 305,753 353,452
Settlement subsequently Hiz#g
(RMB'000) (AR¥FT)
From Continuing Operations 5B L ET 95,570 - 95,570
From Discontinued Operations 4% |F 48 & 275 42,003 - 42,003
Carrying amount subject EREERR
to credit risk exposure I ERE 5
(RMB’000) (ANR®FT)
From Continuing Operations 1548 & & %7 9,806 21,510 31,316
From Discontinued Operations . #& |48 # ¥ 75 5,696 305,753 311,449
Expected credit losses TEEIERIBK
(RMB'000) (AR¥FT)
From Continuing Operations 3B 2 ¥ 75 147 21,510 21,657
From Discontinued Operations B #% |- 48 & 375 85 305,753 305,838
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20.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)
Impairment under IAS 39 for the year ended
31 December 2017

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables, which was measured based on incurred credit losses
under IAS 39, as at 31 December 2017 was a provision for
individually impaired trade receivables of RMB340,748,000 with
a carrying amount before provision of RMB580,171,000.

The individually impaired trade receivables as at 31 December
2017 related to certain customers that were in financial
difficulties, and the Group had stopped supplying goods to
these customers, and initiated discussions on repayment terms
and been in the midst of monitoring its repayment schedules.
Whilst the Group would continue to follow up closely on the
receivable status, the recoverability of part of the receivables
has specifically been affected by the weak market condition
and might be delayed by a longer-than-expected period, or
the receivables may not be recoverable. Despite such provision
and longer-than-expected repayment periods, the Group would
initiate necessary actions to recover these receivables in part or
in full.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at 31 December
2017 that were not individually nor collectively considered to be
impaired under IAS 39 is as follows:

20.

Notes to Financial Statements

Rt 75 R R B

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

BRERRERE @)

B Z2017F12A318 LEER

BEEETERE395E MR E

P RIBEER SR R FEIRERD E
EEFABXRFTEMNR2017F12A318 &
Wz B 3Rk B 48 485 B2 45 1 B R 1B A B MR PR
FH B 18 A R #5340,748,0007T A B 15
AIAYBR T € %8 & A R %580,171,0007T

M2017F12 A31H & & 515 B /Y FE W AR
FEETHAMBRENESEH mMA
SEEELRAZEREFEERENER
GR WEREFEET - BEAEEGE
B2 ) R 3 R WK TE 1B - B 30 FE UK
FXIE ) 1] Uk (o] 14 R BB 52 B K 2R 89 TR BT
T2 WHRFEERBHE A8

JE U SR TE R U ] o B 1 H 1 il B
EXURESHE  AEETSRMNSET
B) - LA 38 sk 2 B0 5 B e Uk GROE -

R2017%F12A8318 RIEBEER @ £ 8
F 399 I £ 30 18 A& A 51| 3k K FR B H e
W EE R BRI AT

2017

20174

RMB'000

ARBEFT

Neither past due nor impaired R 42 480 B U8 SRR (B 231,967
Amounts due and partially impaired, net of provision BB REE D RENSE

Bk EE
— 9 months to 3 years past due — @ BiofE A 2345 7,456
239,423

The Directors were of the opinion that no further provision for
impairment under IAS 39 was necessary in respect of above
balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are still considered fully or partially
recoverable.

EERA AR ERERTENERE
MESRNFR B 2EEE D YD
HREER S ERFEIREFH Lt
REERE — WRHIRBUE B -
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 R Ak B &

31 December 2018
2018512 A31H

20.

208

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued)
Transferred financial assets that are
derecognised in their entirely

As at 31 December 2018, the Group endorsed certain bills
receivable accepted by banks in the PRC to certain of its
suppliers in order to settle the trade payables to these suppliers
with a carrying amount in aggregate of RMB249,880,000
(2017: RMB259,954,000);
2018, the Group discounted certain bills receivable accepted

furthermore, as at 31 December

by banks in the PRC, with a carrying amount in aggregate
of RMB500,000 (2017: RMB200,000) (collectively referred
to as the “Derecognised Bills”). The Derecognised Bills have
a maturity term from three to six months at the end of the
reporting period.
Instruments in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills

have a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks

In accordance with the Law of Negotiable

default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards relating to the Derecognised Bills. Accordingly, it has
derecognised the full carrying amounts of the Derecognised Bills
and the associated advances on discounting and trade payables.
The maximum exposure to loss from the Group’s Continuing
Involvement in the Derecognised Bills and the undiscounted cash
flows to repurchase these Derecognised Bills is equal to their
face amounts. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of
the Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills
are not significant.

During the year, the Group has a recognised interest expense
of Nil (2017: RMB5,000) (note 6) on discounted bills receivable.
No gains or losses were recognised from the Continuing
Involvement, both during the year or cumulatively. The
endorsement and discount of bills receivable have been made

evenly throughout the year.

20.

EWERERRESE &)
BEAIIBIANCEHEZESREE

R2018F 128318 AEFMEH T
HEBMLFECPEMNBRTENDS
TRERUEE LWEEEELEAAR
#249,880,0007T (20176 : AR
259,954,00070) W BN i2 F B BR
HeBE M2018F12A31H A& H
BRI E TP EMIRTENMEREEL
%A AR¥500,0007T (201746 : AR
200,0007T) M FEULE IR (& T8 [4X ERER
TR RBEIR KRIERAERAH
:i/—dlﬂe?ﬁ,ﬁﬁqﬂ%ﬁa’%ii'ﬁﬂEPW
IRITEY B IBREEZEAGER
$¢lkﬁk;ﬂf% Esm]) -ER
m% AEBEE KR IEBERERNBAE
AR R EHRER - M2 BUB R LR
REWERARAE R R EMERRNEE
EHMeE AEEREK EERERNE
Z*Iiiu,\&lﬁﬁ@m—r%mﬁwﬂﬁm
AUBEEREMEATELNR
HEREMBE-EZRA- ZIKEEI;WXJL
BRAZENEEML2ENQFETA

ERNAEBBERANERCHEZEM
EEXNFBERI AT (2017F: AR
5,0007C) (Fi7E6) - WELFE D HE
RERNK Rt ESkEE - B A
AR REEATEHOEEL -
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21.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

The Group has Exchangeable Notes with an aggregate amount
of USD20,000,000 and USD10,000,000 subscribed by Sure
Prime on 2 May 2011 and 18 November 2011, respectively and
designated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
upon initial recognition. The Exchangeable Notes were issued by
the Issuer. The original maturity date of the Exchangeable Notes
was 25 November 2014.

As at 2 December 2014, Sure Prime did not receive any part
of the redemption amount payable by the Issuer under the
Exchangeable Notes, and there occurred an event of default
under the Exchangeable Notes. During 2015, Sure Prime
together with other noteholders waived the event of default
and the maturity of the Exchangeable Notes was extended from
25 November 2014 till 25 March 2015 and further extended
till 25 August 2015 pursuant to two separate default waiver
letters. In addition, the yield to maturity for the entire term of
the Exchangeable Notes and until the full redemption thereof
has been revised from 20% to 25% per annum and Sure Prime
shall be entitled to exchange all or any part of the Exchangeable
Notes at any time to shares in the target company owned by the
Issuer prior to the full redemption of the Exchangeable Notes
by a single or multiple presentations of exchange notice. Since
the previous extension on default waiver, the Group has not
received any part of the amount repayable by the Issuer from
the redemption of the Exchangeable Notes. As a result, as at 31
December 2018 and 2017, the Issuer was in default.

21.

Notes to Financial Statements

Rt 75 R R B

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

BEAFEFEmMEEZHTA
ERNEmEE

N £ ® B Sure Prime? BIHA201145A4
2HN2011F11R18HRBEREE A
20,000,000 7t }2.10,000,000% 7T * %))
IMERKIEER AT ETEmMEZEE
ANEZEMEREENTTERTER - 1R
EERBEITARIT  JEREEN R
H&2014511 8258 ¢

#H E2014%12 828 » Sure Prime & I
B BT ARIR T] 82 R IR PR M 36
DEC G SHBELENEREETMNE
)= 2 220154 - Sure Primesd 7 H 1
EBRRFEARRENSH  URERGHE
VHENRRE  BUEBRERNIIAA
20144911 A258 &% £201593 A 25
H Wi — FE®RZE2015F8 7250  Itt,
SN ATERERSHNEEEEHED A
IFEERHAWNZEE AEF20%EF A
F425%  MSure PrimeB HERN R EE @
MEHBERAEAREE —HZEMHER
BA BER I 2 EBRAEM I o A EHIRTE R
BN AEITAMESBERFMRM - /B
R EEIERE TR RH - BN B W &L
BB 1T A BLEE B AT 2 4R R 0K R S A AE AR
B FIE o [ It PA2018F 20178128
318 BITABELD-

2018 3% | FENKHEAREAR AR 209

\‘




Notes to Financial Statements

Bt 75 R Ak B &

31 December 2018
2018512 A31H

21.

210

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

The movements in the fair value of the Exchangeable Notes are

as follows:

Carrying amount at 1 January MTATEMERE S

Fair value losses recognised during ~ FAERH A FEEIE
the year (note 7) (FMF5E7)

Carrying amount at 31 December RI2A3MEBNEESE

The fair value of the Exchangeable Notes as at 31 December
2018 and 2017 was estimated by management based on the
estimated recoverable amount of the Exchangeable Notes
discounted with a risk-free interest rate. The following table lists
the key inputs:

Risk-free interest rate (Indonesia) mRE A= (HE)
(% per annum) (BF%)
Recovery rate (%) W=l = (%)

21.

N B LET TR
BENEREE (@)
THRES AT ENEBHIT

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARETF T
= 109,617

= (109,617)

Al B R IR FA20184F 201712 A31H
MAFEREEREENCERRF X
B R ERAT T RESEGE T
REVFB@GAE:

2018 2017
20184 20174
0.91 0.91

0 0
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22.

BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES

Due from related parties:
Non-trade in nature
— Trisonic International
— Minefair Pty Ltd.

Due to related parties:
Non-trade in nature
— Yanyuan Xiwei
— Longwei Hotel Management
Co., Ltd. (“Longwei Hotel")

— Chuanwei
— Mancala Resources Pty Ltd.
("Mancala Resources”)

— Kyne Family Trust

— Lannen Family Trust
— Trisonic International
— Akerman Family Trust

JEY B T 7R
FERRIEE
— & A
—Minefair Pty Ltd.

JE1TBF I 7 70 0E -
FERRFME
— ERPE R
— )l BE BB IS B 1R
AR AT
([BERBIE])
— I
—Mancala Resources
Pty Ltd. ([ Mancala
Resources | )
—Kyne Family Trust
—Lannen Family Trust
— & Bl R
—Akerman
Family Trust

Notes to Financial Statements

Rt 75 R R B

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

22. HEBEBLNES

2018 2017

20184 20174

Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
= ARET T ARBEF T
(a) - 537
(b) - 100
= 637

() 1,332 1,332
(d) 10 460
(e) 486 472
(f) 7,825 4,876
(9) = 1,712
(9) = 1,761
(a) 152 -
(9) - 607
9,805 11,220
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31 December 2018

2018512 A31H

22. BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES
(Continued)

212

Notes:

(a)

(d)

(9)

The balance due from Trisonic International as at 31 December
2017 represented miscellaneous expenses paid by the Group on

behalf of Trisonic International.

Minefair Pty Ltd. is a company owned by two directors and
one employee of MHPL. The balance as at 31 December 2017
represented an interest-free loan granted to Minefair Pty Ltd,

which is repayable on demand.

Yanyuan Xiwei is a company controlled by Chuanwei. Balances
due to Yanyuan Xiwei represented certain expenses paid by
Yanyuan Xiwei on behalf of Aba Mining.

Longwei Hotel and Trisonic International are ultimately
controlled by the same beneficial owners. Balances due to
Longwei Hotel represented a rental payable to Longwei Hotel for
the operating lease of office premises by the Group.

Chuanwei and Trisonic International are ultimately controlled by
the same beneficial owners. Balance due to Chuanwei mainly
comprised staff remuneration paid by Chuanwei on behalf of
Sichuan Lingyu and Aba Mining.

Mancala Resources is a company controlled by two directors
and one employee of MHPL. The balance as at 31 December
2018 still represented an interest-free loan granted by Mancala

Resources, which was repayable on demand.

These trusts are individually entrusted by each of two directors
and one employee of MHPL. The balances as at 31 December
2017 represented interest-bearing loans granted to MHPL,
which bore a fixed interest rate of 6.6% per annum and were

repayable on demand.

22, HBEBL NG &)

(d)

(9)

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2018 ANNUAL REPORT

R2017F12 A31 B EY A BB FE 1 45
BIERNEERRAAIBBR X H5E
FX e

Minefair Pty Ltd. /2 — SRR ZER
MEEER—REEHEENRF R
2017912 A318 1 & 82 48 M Minefair
Pty Ltd IR —EREER ARE

ERTAE A BIESINAE - EITEE
R P8 Y A R 4R R P B A R I
EXNMETH-

EABERAGBERBERNE SR
BARBEES] - BN BEEUEE AR E
AEERBAEMEELHERMTE
BOBEMEE o

NEREBIBEREERNEZEA A
AR - )| B AE R E BB EE) |
B E A RS EETNHE
T -

Mancala Resources/&— € R %
BREEER—GREREEHOQF R
20184 12 A31 H # # #4 15 fAMancala
ResourcestE it i) —E £ BB - AJE

EREE-

ZEEEDIBERNIERMEES
k—®%EBE®BZ -N2017F12A4
BTHMAERIER S R IERIEH/OG
BEF  REFEFFE6.6EE WA



23.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEY

The Group's cash and bank balances are denominated in RMB at
the end of each reporting period, except for the following:

Cash and bank balances T EBFAENRES R
denominated in: RITAE A

HKD BT

usD ETT

SGD ¥ T

VND HMEE

AUD BT

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods
of between three months and one year, and earn interest at the
respective deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

Notes to Financial Statements

Rt 75 R R B

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

23. RERBEEEY

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBEF T
33,696 13,286

AEENRE MRITERNEREHR
BIAANREEHE - HETHIRIAEBRIN

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBF T
20,953 2,359

56 37

302 -

764 -

2,828 4,359

ARBAT AR BREMER A
R B SME & TR AR 1) % 45 0 - B 1B R A
EEIRMRE  AEBEEH SR REREE
THOINERBHRITHEARB LM BEM

ROTGFFREREBERTERNEAE
HFBRIERG R - ERERNERR A=
BEAZ—F1% IR ANFERN X
B RITAERR K E B 50 IR AT HIE 4
BB BEEBAENRT
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24.

214

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 2, PEABELENEE
Non-recurring fair value measurements: EEEERNFEFE:
2018 2017
20185 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR¥T ARETTT
Heigutian Processing Plant RAHEEER (a) - 260,000
Unutilised fixed assets for FERRBRBAREA
specialised mining services & E B E (b) 41,169 42,125
41,169 302,125
Notes: B 5E -
(a) The balance as at 31 December 2017 represented the fair value (a) T2017F 12 A3 1 HE & #SIERAM %

less cost to sell of Heigutian Processing Plant. During the year,
Heigutian Processing Plant in its entirety as a part of the Disposal
Group had been decided by the Group to sell to the Purchaser.
Please refer to note 10 for more details.

(b) The balance as at 31 December 2017 and 2018 represented (b)
the fair value less cost to sell of assets held for sale, which
comprised part of plant and equipment of MHPL which would
not be utilised in the current operation.

BEH R FER D ERAR - FR - A%
BOAERE D 2HMEERAHEER
ERLEREN—HD BHESHF
5 F2HME10-

20179 &2018F 12 A31 HH & #riE
BIEHEEEN QA FERBSK A
EPaEe RHIERETERANER
EIEMIDME KR -

The non-recurring fair value measurement for assets held BLE2018F R2017F 12 A3 B L FE#
for sale was considered to be Level 2 for the years ended 31 EHEEENFLENE R FEFERE
December 2018 and 2017, as it is derived from quoted prices in RE2E RERHREIEE BTSN W
markets that are not active. BEH-

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2018 ANNUAL REPORT



25.

TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES

Trade payables FERTBR X
Bills payable JERT &

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables of the Group
as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date
or issuance date, where appropriate, is as follows:

Within 180 days 180K A
181 to 365 days 181E365K
1 to 2 years 15824

2 to 3 years 2E3F
Over 3 years HBiE3F

Trade payables of the Group are non-interest-bearing and are
normally settled within 180 days.

Notes to Financial Statements

Rt 75 R R B

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

25. ENRIFAEREE

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBEF T
54,235 175,273

= 598

54,235 175,871

RBERR AEBENEARZEER
HERHRBELAS (WMER)MREK S

Wranr
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBEF T
49,667 65,813
= 10,314
81 15,876
3,448 21,584
1,039 62,284
54,235 175,871

AEBEEMNER BT E BER180
RAKEE -
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26.

216

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The Group recognised the following revenue-related contract
liabilities, which represented the unsatisfied performance
obligation as at 31 December 2017 and 2018. The balance of
contract liabilities is expected to be recovered/settled within one
year.

Movements in the contract liabilities balances during the year
2018 are as follows:

26.

EHNEE
REBCDHERATRARBENEE:
520174 K2018F 12 A31H Y R EK
BHEM - AHNEBEEBTBERR—FR
Wl 5 (E o

BHEEERN2018FEANEBNT

RMB'000
ARBEF T
Carrying amount at 31 December 2017 M2017F12A31HMEE S5 -
Reclassification from other payables and accruals 10 B At JE A SRR K2
EEtRIBEFH DR 1,955
Carrying amount at 1 January 2018 2018F1A1THMERS 1,955
Revenue recognised during the year FRNERRFEL S
from Continuing Operations (note 5) EBWA (FF5E5) (1,526)
Revenue recognised during the year FHNERRERIELEEBERA
from Discontinued Operations (429)
Consideration received from customers, BlREFPRE T84
excluding amounts recognised as FRNEERB/BABFTIE
revenue during the year 5,811
Carrying amount at 31 December 2018 72018F 12 A31HMERE &5 5,811
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OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 27. HitENRIERETRIE
2018 2017
20184 20174
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5E AR® T ARBF T

Current portion: TBE 5 -

Advances from customers B - 1,955

Payables related to: RAR 5178 B B9 FRIA

Construction in progress fERITRE 8,135 128,452
Taxes other than income tax BRFTS BN B IR 25,702 142,546
Exploration and evaluation assets RERFHEE 10,329 20,398
Payroll and welfare payable JE 1~ 37 & & 48 A 8,607 94,575
Transportation expenses EHE - 3,242
Acquisition of subsidiaries g i /N

— Sichuan Xinglian — [0 )1 & B (a) 133 1,693

Consultancy and professional fees AN HEE 3,156 9,189

Deposits received [=RlEin 7 99

Land occupation compensation JEAT L i (kB ES(E

payables - 10,497

Accrued government surcharges FEETER AT BT hn 2 4,529 37,237

Accrued price adjustment fund FEETERAERE S = 7,991

Accrued interest expenses FEETF B X 100 86,851

Other payables H A FE A 5RIB 17,180 10,181

77,878 554,906

Non-current portion: FETBE 7

Loan from a third party —ZEZFTHER (b) - 23,794

Other payables Hfh FE A SRR 1,151 1,213

1,151 25,007
79,029 579,913

Notes: B 5

(a) Balances represented the remaining consideration payable to an (a) % E B RIS BRI )| & D Uk BE U ) 1] LB
independent third party in relation to the acquisition of a 45% A5% AR MER — BB LE=F
equity interest in Sichuan Xinglian by Sichuan Lingyu. SRR EEREE -

(b) The balance represented an interest-free loan granted by (b) ZEEBRERTPERR A A ([5
Sapphire Corporation Limited (“Sapphire”, a non-controlling ¥l e RuMFERRE)
shareholder of Mancala Holdings) to MHPL. The loan is BT rUERNEEER - ZEEK
unsecured and is due for repayment on or before 31 December AEMI B N2020F12A8318 8 2
2020. AU HAER -
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

LOANS

Bank loans — secured

Bank loans — unsecured

Hire purchase arrangements — secured
Other loans — unsecured

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Analysed into:
Bank loans repayable:
Within one year or on demand

In the second year
In the third to fifth years, inclusive

Hire purchase arrangements repayable:

Within one year
In the second year

Other loans repayable:

Within one year or on demand
In the second year
In the third to fifth years, inclusive

RITER—HEM
RITE R — EIE
HE L -EHA
H o B 5% — E K

it

mEAL

5

FRBEE

PHH:

JER TSI B 15 42 A
RITE -
—FRNLEER
FTF
FE-EFENF

(PIEEREWE)

JER TSI B 15 42 A
TErEZ -
—&F
FTF

JER TSI B ff7 15 42 A
BB :
—FRNLEER
EFF
FE-EFENF

(PIEEEWE)

28. FTERITREMERN

Notes

B =t

(a)

(b)
(@
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2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
83,979 523,400
= 232,725

96 9,558
16,719 141,628
100,794 907,311
(84,645) (596,205)
16,149 311,106
83,979 445,125
= 9,000

= 302,000
83,979 756,125
96 9,452

= 106

96 9,558

570 141,628
15,565 -
584 -
16,719 141,628
100,794 907,311




28.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
LOANS (cContinued)

Banks loans

Other loans

Hire purchase arrangements

Notes:

(a)

(b)

RITER
HE®
THEEZ

The Group's bank loans are secured by:

Mining rights of Xiushuihe Mine
and a 95% equity interest in
Xiushuihe Mining

Mining rights of Baicao Mine

Mining rights of Maoling Mine

5 71 ] S5 B O BR T A
75 7K 1 3 895 % A AN 2

B A SR AR
EE BT R

The Group acquired certain of its machinery and other fixed

assets through hire purchase arrangements, which were

classified as finance leases and have remaining lease terms

ranging from one to two years. As at 31 December 2018,

payable relating to the hire purchase arrangements was secured

by the corresponding assets with an aggregate carrying amount

of RMB535,000 (note 13).

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

28. FTEBITREMER (&)

2018 2017
2018%F 20174
(Effective interest rate)
(EBF*)

3.92%-8.82%
0.00%-8.40%
4.80%

3.92%-8.84%
0.00%-9.00%
4.80%-6.79%

HEE:

(a) AEBHIRITE AT H B A :

2018 2017

20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T R ARBFT
(Amount of bank loans)

(RITE#EE)

- 120,000

- 319,400

83,979 84,000

83,979 523,400

(b) AEESRABTHEASTHRER
HtEEEE S EARENR
& FHBAAN T —EMF - 120184
12A318 - B L HE 8 B B R IE A
BRI 48 %8 A R¥535,000c A &
YRR (BTEE13) o
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28.

220

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
LOANS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(Continued)

At 31 December 2018, the total future minimum lease payments

under hire purchase arrangements and their present values were

as follows:

Amounts payable:
Within one year
In the second year

Total minimum finance lease
payments

Future finance charges

Total net finance lease payables
Portion classified as current
liabilities

Non-current portion

ER THIHEEEN SR

—FR
FF

SERMEEENER

RIRE 2 H

ENRERERFHARE
DRB/RBEENE D

28. FTEBITREMER (@)

2018F 128310 AL H TAR

Wi ()

o ()
BEENNRERE
m -

Minimum lease

BN EBRE

Present value
of minimum

payments lease payments
2018 2018
BREER BEAERRE
20185 20185
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR AR T
97 93
97 93

(1)

96

(96)
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28.

29.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

LOANS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

() The balance mainly represented an interest-free loan granted by

Sapphire to MHPL. The loan is unsecured and due for repayment

on or before 31 December 2020.

As at 31 December 2018, except for the hire purchase
arrangements and other loans which were denominated in AUD,

all bank loans were denominated in RMB. As at 31 December

2017, except for the hire purchase arrangements which were

denominated in AUD, all bank loans and other loans were

denominated in RMB.

PROVISION FOR REHABILITATION

At the beginning of year
Unwinding of discount
— From Continuing Operations
(note 6)
— From Discontinued Operations
Provision included in Discontinued
Operations (note 10)

At the end of year

REA
Bh 3R B #

—BEREER
(KfzEe6)
—ERIERERR

HAB KL
(KF5E10)

NG S

o
re

E %0k 4

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

28. FTEBITREMER (&)
MsE: (48)

(© RERBTBRERECERTFE RN
RN eEEER - ZEERAEKE
#2020 12 A318 s 2 B B HA (&

M2018F 124310 BB HE R HA
BROURITEHEN 2R RITEFEUA
RUEESHE-2017F128318  BHEEL
PEOURITEHESN 2 RIT R EME RS
AAREEEHE -

29. EREE

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARET T
11,400 10,670

117 110

663 620
(10,347) -
1,833 11,400
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30. SHARE CAPITAL

Shares

Authorised:
10,000,000,000 (2017:
10,000,000,000)
Shares of HKDO.1 each

Issued and fully paid:
2,249,015,410 (2017:
2,249,015,410)
Shares of HKDO.1 each

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as

follows:

At 1 January 2018
Issue of new Shares

At 31 December 2018

&)

EIE
10,000,000,0000% (20174 :
10,000,000,0004%)
FRXEEO. 178 7T K B 17

ERITRAR:

2,249,015,4100% (20174 :
2,249,015,4100%)
FRMEENE TR HD

R2018F181H
BEITH RN

R2018F12A31H

g 7K

2018 2017
20185 20174
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T ARET T
880,890 880,890
197,889 197,889

ARTRABHHEMT -
Number of Issued
Shares in issue Capital
ERITRHAHKE ERITRA
RMB'000
ARETTT
2,249,015,410 197,889
2,249,015,410 197,889
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31.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On 4 September 2009, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Old Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Eligible participants of the Old Share Option Scheme include
the Directors, including non-executive Directors, and other
employees of the Group.

On 15 April 2010, the Company adopted a new share option
scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”), and simultaneously
terminated the operation of the Old Share Option Scheme (such
that, no further options shall thereafter be offered under the
Old Share Option Scheme but in all other respects the provisions
of the Old Share Option Scheme shall remain in force and
effect). Eligible participants of the New Share Option Scheme
include Directors, chief executives, substantial Shareholders
or employees (whether full time or part time) of any member
of the Group and any persons whom the Board considers, in
its sole discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the
development and growth of the Group. The New Share Option
Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from that date, unless
otherwise cancelled or amended.

The maximum number of the Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the New Share Option Scheme and any
other schemes of the Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed
207,500,000 Shares, being 10% of the total number of Shares
of the Company in issue on the adoption date of the New
Share Option Scheme. The maximum number of Shares issued
and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted and to be granted under the New Share Option Scheme
to each eligible participant in the New Share Option Scheme
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the Shares of
the Company in issue as at the date of grant. Any further grant
of share options in excess of this limit is subject to Shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

31.

Notes to Financial Statements

Rt 75 R R B

31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

f% £7 HA A& 51 &)

R2009F9 F4H « ANA B A—IERR D HA
T E ([ERMEAETE]) - FEASE
Ko [0 88 Y AN 52 [ Wy B DD 48 = VR HH B BA Y
AER2EAL ERDHBETENEGE
B2EATBREES (REINTES)
LEMAEEES -

R2010F4 8158 » KRB ERA— I H A
DHAREET B ([R5 BT 81)) IR
RIEMEITER D BT 8 (BUEEETH
RIRER () BT S L B4 - B ER D
HETENREEMBEM T EEER
ETRBMAORIER) - k5 BT EIM
AERSEATBEAEETWKER
ANESE RETHRAE FERRSE
Bl EBES ULRESS2HNERAE
BB SHAEENRE RS RED
BRI EMALT - BRIESITREBESIASET -
TR AR D HA R AT 21 A8 A R sZ B EBRT10
FRDARB -

IR IR IR BRRE AT 8 R A A RME M H AR 5T
SNEENBREESENROESHE A
5158 48207,500,0000% - BN A #7 A% (5
MRS M B A RR B EHITRME
HHI10% < IRIRFTAR (D EARERT & - RE
1218 A BRI AR D B RERT Bl T K& &
TR A TH M RAS L B B T TR b
EETRAUREETEITNRNESEE
PMERAE B AR BB BITRO 1%
RBPR o #E— TR HBIBZ LRI (0 B
AEBRRERARBRREARE L&
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31.

224

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

Share options granted to Directors, chief executives, substantial
Shareholders or any of their respective associates are subject to
approval by the independent non-executive Directors (excluding
the independent non-executive Directors who are the grantees
of the options). In addition, any grant of share options to
substantial Shareholders or independent non-executive Directors
or to any of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of
the Shares of the Company in issue on the date of offer with
an aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Shares
quoted on the HKSE at the date of grant) in excess of HKD5
million made within any 12-month period from the date of
grant (inclusive) would be subject to Shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HKD1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
Directors that no option may be exercised more than 10 years
from the date of grant.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the Board,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal value
of Shares of the Company; (ii) the average closing price of the
Shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the date
of grant of the share options; and (iii) the HKSE closing price of
the Shares on the date of grant of the share options.

31.

IR EAREST &8l ()

MEE ZETBRAB - FTERHEXFES
& BT ABE A SR B AT - BES
B ERITEE (REEBRRAE AN
BN IEENITES ) B - AN IR H
5 (BES R) A 1218 A BN E
FEERERB IR TESARES
B EEEANERRD BEBARS
HBEARRBEEITRMHA0.1% AKX
B1E (R R TR RIS A R
KB E) BRsE & T BIAERE
A FESIREHRE -

BRHEOHAZNEOREEHAHE
FT28 B A - AR A AR AR R
XNAEHRETHRBEARE - R ER
MHENTEHRESEE  EHERS
BRI A HRMI0FRITRE

B BENTEBRESERTE  HETE
ETRERTIHRHNERSE ()RR FRK
EME : (DA B AR Bk B A
A AER 5 B e FRHE : R>ikmmn
B S B R A (E
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 31. RO HESE ()

The following share options were outstanding under the Old TG AR B8 B AR 1 B 51 I KR AR 19 HA

Share Option Scheme and the New Share Option Scheme during R EI R ARITE AR M BT -

the year:

Weighted

average Number
exercise price of options
Note HKD per Share ‘000
AT EE ME"E
B 5 BRERAET Sk}

As at 1 January 2018 7K2018F1H1H
- 0Old Share Option Scheme —ER % ERERTE (a) 5.04 7,800
— New Share Option Scheme — AR fH ERRE T E (a) 2.01 27,100

Forfeited during the year FAEK

- 0Old Share Option Scheme —E R Bk sT & - -
— New Share Option Scheme — ¥R 1 B ke St & - =

As at 31 December 2018 201812 HA31H 2.68 34,900

Note: MfsE -

(a) The share options outstanding as at 1 January 2018 represented (a) R2018F1 A1 8 AT AR 15 B4
share options granted under the Old Share Option Scheme and 8 AN A A1 2009412 A29H ~ 20104
the New Share Option Scheme by the Company on 29 December 481H -20119F5H23H &2014F4A
2009, 1 April 2010, 23 May 2011 and 15 April 2014 at the 158 18 5 B AR 15 MR ST ) % 37 AR 19 2
exercise prices of HKD5.05, HKD4.99, HKD3.60 and HKD1.00 B E D IRITEEETIRIZMD5.0548
per Share, respectively. JC ~4.997 7 ~ 3.607%8 7T & 1.0078 T I

B AR () B o
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options
outstanding as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017

are as follows:
2018
Number of
options
HERE
‘000
T
3,000
3,400
700
700
10,500
8,250

4,175

4,175

34,900

Exercise
price per
Share
R B 5
TEE

4.99

4.99

3.60

1.00

1.00

1.00

31. REOHIESE (&)
2018 12 A31H &2017F12A31H
RITEORGDBAENTFEE RITFEHN
T

20184

Exercise period

1T

29 June 2012 to 28 December 2019
20126 H29H £2019512H28H
29 December 2014 to 28 December 2019
2014%12H29H £2019%12H28H

1 October 2012 to 31 March 2020
20126108 1H £2020%3A31H

1 April 2015 to 31 March 2020
201548 1H £2020F3A31H

23 May 2013 to 22 May 2021
201345823 H £2021%5H22H

15 October 2014 to 14 April 2024
2014108 15H £2024%F4 8141
15 April 2015 to 14 April 2024
20154A15H £2024F4814H

15 October 2015 to 14 April 2024
201510 H15H £2024%F4H14H
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued) 31. ROEEE (@)
2017 20174

Number of Exercise price per

options Share Exercise period
s1E4%)

B2 E TRE 1718 Bf
‘000 HKD
T4 BT

3,000 5.05 29 June 2012 to 28 December 2019

2012F6 H29H £2019F12 H28H

3,400 5.05 29 December 2014 to 28 December 2019

2014512298 £2019% 12 A28H

700 4.99 1 October 2012 to 31 March 2020

20129F10A1H 20203 H31H

700 4.99 1 April 2015 to 31 March 2020

201543 1HZ2020F3A31H

10,500 3.60 23 May 2013 to 22 May 2021

20134 5H23H £=202145H22H

8,250 1.00 15 October 2014 to 14 April 2024

2014108158 £2024%F4 148

4,175 1.00 15 April 2015 to 14 April 2024

20154158 220244 14H

4,175 1.00 15 October 2015 to 14 April 2024

2015510150 £2024F 4148

34,900

The Group has 34,900,000 share options exercisable as at 31 R2018F 128318 A5 EA

December 2018 (2017: 34,900,000) and the weighted average 34,900,00013 (20174 : 34,900,000153 )

exercise price was HKD2.68 per Share (2017: HKD2.68). A& 17 BA#E A] T 7756 - h ANAE F 91T (R (B
RHERRB2.68/ T (20174 - 2.68%
TT) e

The Group did not recognise share option expense during the FA-AEETEERRGOAERX

year (2017: Nil). (20174 < &) o
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31. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

The fair values of equity-settled share options granted were
estimated and valued by independent professional valuers as
at the dates of grant, using the binomial model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the major inputs to the model

used:

Dividend yield (%) I B (%)
Expected volatility (%) 8 HA B2 18 (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%) & F| % (%)

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not

necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into

the measurement of fair value.

At 31 December 2018, the Company had 7,800,000 share
options outstanding under the Old Share Option Scheme and
27,100,000 share options outstanding under the New Share
Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding share
options would, under the present capital structure of the
Company, result in the issue of 34,900,000 additional Shares
and additional share capital of HKD3,490,000 and share
premium of HKD90,216,000 (before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 34,900,000 share options outstanding, which
represented approximately 1.55% of the Shares in issue as at

that date.

IR EAREST &8l ()

B RS ER OB ATFED R
B AR T S EM L EER
(S REE B B e e
Rift e TRALZERFTAOTBHA
H:

Equity-settled share options granted on

RIS EBHARENRESTRGD

23 May 1 April 29 December
2011 2010 2009
20114 20104 20094
5H23H 4H1H 12H29H
2.07 1.36 1.41
62.40 66.40 68.56
2.430 2.788 2.652

8 HY R 08 [ R R SRR R T0 R SR iB B R 1R
MRE T ERBRGER-

AEATFERMESIERLBMENE
R E o

MR2018%F12A31H AR RIBIEE R
1 HA#E 5 8] ££ 57,800,00017 & & 17 &
B ERE - MBI FN AR D BRI S LA
27,100,00017 i A 77 {58 A 19 A © AR $% A
NEVRREARER  BEITE A ARITER
19 HARE 5 3B BB H1NEE 7734,900, 000 A% A% 17
Ko BE A 5B OMIR 7R 3,490,000 7T K AR 1) i
890,216,000 7T (ARINBRETHRZ) ©

RZEMGREREEZR AR A A
34,900,00017 i R1T{E B 15 BiRE - FHE R
ZHEHMEBEITRMNA1.55%
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32.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity in the financial
statements.

(a) Share premium account

The application of the share premium account
is governed by the Companies Law. Under the
constitutional documents and the Companies Law,
the share premium is distributable as dividend on the
condition that the Company is able to pay its debts when
they fall due in the ordinary course of business at the
time the proposed dividend is to be paid.

(b) Statutory reserve fund

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and the
respective articles of association of the PRC Subsidiaries,
each of the PRC Subsidiaries other than Sichuan Lingyu
is required to allocate 10% of its profits after tax,
as determined in accordance with the PRC Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (the “PRC GAAP"),
to the statutory surplus reserve (the “SSR") until such
reserve reaches 50% of its registered capital.

As Sichuan Lingyu is a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise,
according to the Rules for the Implementation of
Foreign-funded Enterprise Law of the PRC and the
articles of association of Sichuan Lingyu, Sichuan Lingyu
is required to allocate 10% of its profit after tax in
accordance with PRC GAAP to the statutory reserve
fund (the “SRF”) until such reserve reaches 50% of its
registered capital.

The SSR and the SRF are non-distributable except in the
event of liquidation and subject to certain restrictions set
out in the relevant PRC regulations. They can be used
to offset accumulated losses or capitalised as paid-up
capital.

32.
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i
AEERAFERBEFRNOFRSE
RESHRPBERRNGEREZB R

25

(a) Kt mfER
AP i E AR B R 2 AR B
RIFEB SR RATDE R
fHEURAR B8 - AN R FIBE S AL
B % 2153872 0 (I8 DI BIRS XX
(RS EENERT - B EET
ERRBH IR

(b) ZERES
BRFEARERFETARE
EHRREREN ERETAF
(P)IE 4B ON) A5 T E IR R
B2 52 % st IR A B 1 B4 U B
MI0%EEERBAES  HEX
AESEEHFMEARN50% 5
1Fe

RRImINEE A —MINEEE D
¥ BREBEPEIINECELEHEML
RENEMB B ZRMEA ™
NZEEBERRBHE ARG RA
AEEI10%BEFEEETE FH#
& EERREESESEFMER
K)50% & Lt °

BRBERIN EERBATRES KAE
RESH T BESR XXIE
THBETEDER ARG X E R
REE LOEERBE A AFELE
ZETEERWENCBBRER -
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32. RESERVES (continued)

230

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Contributed surplus

The contributed surplus represented the difference
between the nominal value of the Shares issued in
exchange of or consideration paid for subsidiaries
acquired and the aggregate amount of the nominal value
for the paid-up capital of these subsidiaries attributable
to the owners of the Company for business combinations
under common control.

Safety fund surplus reserve

Pursuant to a Notice regarding Safety Production
Expenditure jointly issued by the Ministry of Finance
and the State Administration of Work Safety of the PRC
in February 2012, the Group is required to establish a
safety fund surplus reserve based on volume of mineral
ore extracted. The safety fund can only be transferred to
retained earnings to offset safety related expenses as and
when they are incurred, including expenses related to
safety protection facilities and equipment improvement
and maintenance as well as safety production inspection,
appraisal, consultation and training.

Share option reserve

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised,
as further explained in the accounting policy for share-
based payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements.
The amount will either be transferred to the share
premium account when the related options are exercised,
or be transferred to retained earnings should the related
options expire or be forfeited.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve represented the Group’s capital
injection to subsidiaries by way of transfer from retained
earnings in 2012.

32. f#iE @)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

CHINA VANADIUM TITANO-MAGNETITE MINING COMPANY LIMITED | 2018 ANNUAL REPORT

BEARR

B SRS A D AR
BTARLALENREMET
WRAEERBER AR RS
AMZ ST AT LR T
EBAHMENPRAFEER
SEzMMmERE-

ZEESEHEHFE
BEPEYERBEBEREEEE
EEEERBRN2012F2 A AR
HR— AR EEBRNBA
AEBEBBEERFAREEN LR
2ESEHEFE -2 ESRAE
Rz HERYEEARERS
BIEAFAKIEEBERY 256
REZHEREERA REENR
ZEREERS - B RE
BN

R E
EhHgRERECRBEREKR
TR RN A FE E—F
[ BB 76 i R B 7E2. 478 B DA R
I RERER N A FETEER - %K
ERN A RETERERS
P i /B B - o fd 4L B A M P U =
BoRW - MIEBRERERTN -

= NN - |
BARRNEEAEER2012FEHB
REBEAEFMERMETABED
HTE



33.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH 33.

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material non-
controlling interests are set out below:

Percentage of equity interest
held by non-controlling interests:
Sichuan Haoyuan

Total comprehensive loss for
the year allocated to non-
controlling interests:
Sichuan Haoyuan

Accumulated balances of
non-controlling interests at
the reporting date:
Sichuan Haoyuan

FEYERR R 5 P IS R AN 2
WBEDL:
m)lE s

DEEFFZEBREED
FAZHBIEAR:

Mg E

RS B BR JEE X

R REH ek
m)IEE

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial

information of the above subsidiary.

Impairment on non-current assets
Other expenses

Loss and total comprehensive
loss for the year

Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities

Net cash flows from/(used in)
operating activities

Net cash flows from
financing activities

Net increase in cash and
cash equivalents

FERBEERE
H R

FABBRMEHEEREHE
MEBEE

FRBEE

mEBAaE

e ESmE, (ER)

MR & 8%
RELTHAEGNREREFHE

RBEPREEEMEINFE
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WA E A RN
2T D
BEERFEREZHAERF QA
FIEE T

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREF T
49% 49%
1,115 33,627
297,330 298,445

TERHEBA LT ARINOHERHER

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARET T
= (64,888)

(2,276) (3,738)
(2,276) (68,626)
4,555 3,383
652,093 651,864
(49,853) (46,176)
(3,498) 85
3,574 -

76 85
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34. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

232

(a)

(b)

Non-cash transaction

In 2017, part of the debts of Mancala Holdings
owing to Sapphire was offset with the refundable
deposits previously paid by the Group to Sapphire of

RMB9,483,000.

Changes in liabilities arising from

financing activities

At 1 January 2018

Changes from financing
cash flows

Non-cash changes:
Interest expense
Reclassification

Liabilities included in
Discontinued Operations

At 31 December 2018

At 1 January 2017

Changes from financing
cash flows

Non-cash changes:
Acquisition of a subsidiary
Interest expense

At 31 December 2017

7A2018F181H
MEREREE

FRLEH:
B
EH 5
HAB#ILE
MEEHNERE

#2018 12A31H

R2017F1 B1H
RERSRELT)

R E

Wb —falF A A
M BRI

M2017F12A31H

3. KEREREBRME

() ¥REXZF

R20175 ME S RUARREE
ENTIEHERAEECAD
MRt ERNAREZE ARE

9,483,000 7T 84 °

(b) METBHRELAEN
b0

Amount
Bank and Interest due to a
other loans payable related party
amount amount provision
B
RITREM FE A4 R 2 —EBRH S
ENEH &8 RIEEBE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®F T ARBTTT ARBET T
907,311 86,851 11,220
(19,532) (32,272) (966)
- 60,397 -
15,113 - -
(802,098) (114,876) (449)
100,794 100 9,805
874,111 69,133 2,244
19,221 - -
13,979 - 8,976
- 17,718 -
907,311 86,851 11,220
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35.

36.

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

As lessee

The Group entered into commercial leases on certain office
buildings based on the reason that it is not in the best interest
of the Group to purchase these assets. These leases have
average terms of one to five years.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group had total future

minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases falling due as follows:

Within one year —FR

In the second to fifth years, inclusive £ —EFHF (BIEEERF)

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of
the reporting period:

Contracted, but not provided for: 2 5T49 1B KRB

— Plant and machinery — B Ktk es
— Acquisition of mining rights — Uiy B R

35.

36.
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ReRERY

EREBEA
ARERETHANETUHEEE R
RABERSEEL AR RERER
HoRSHENTHERA - FELF-

REREMR  NEBERBECAIHHELE

HEARHEBEINHNRERERBEE
iR

2018 2017

20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET AREF T

846 479

1,207 179

2,053 658

BAEIE
ARERREPROERRRMT

2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET AREF T
= 321

1,736 870
1,736 1,191
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37.

38.

234

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances detailed elsewhere
in the financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year.

(@) Outstanding balances with related
parties
Details of the Group's balances with its related parties as
at the end of the reporting period are disclosed in note
22 to the financial statements.

(b) Compensation of key management
personnel of the Group
Details of Directors’ and the chief executive’'s
emoluments including key management personnel are
set out note 8 to the financial statements.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments
reasonably approximate to fair values are as explained below:

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade and bills receivables, financial assets included
in prepayments, other receivables and other assets, amounts due
from related parties, trade and bills payables, financial liabilities
included in other payables, interest-bearing bank and other
loans, amounts due to related parties and dividend payable
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s corporate finance team headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The corporate finance team reports directly to the
financial controller and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the corporate finance team analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved
by the chief financial officer. The valuation process and results
are discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim
and annual financial reporting.

37.

38.

Bt 5 R 5

R BREREMEEFHINNRZ S KRG
BRON - AR B PO F A AR EE T ETT LA T &2
5

(a) 7= R U =AY B2 BR B 75 45 B

A ¥R B OR 7S S 1) B HL R gk 5 4
B FBR M B RRM 228

3= o

(b) AEETEEEAEHN
i 1
ERESREETHAR (B
DERAR) ME 0 FERNAS
MRS -

EMIAQXFERLQFE
£
AEBSBIAMEASBRAFE
i ARE - BT

op

BEEFERS A ZEY BUER
RZEE - AANFR - R EER
HMEENDREE BB T 30E
ENEREEE SFARMBENRENS
BEE FERTREME BB
THRBARENBRENAFEIERRE
HAZI AT S H AR 2 AR AR

7N 55 R B 7 A B SR 8 RO 2 W B S [ B
BEREERIARTFEFAENEER
B ARV BEREZAMGRENE
BEZBEER ARMKEEERERER
Homem T AEEZS WREBEM
ERANIEHAE - HELCEFVBEER
BRI ARG E R EREZE Bl
PHRFEEM BB REFMR W GHE
FEREYNE
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38.

39.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit and
loss is based on valuation techniques. The model incorporates
unobservable inputs of the recovery rate. The carrying amount
of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss is the
same as its fair value.

The fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s financial
assets at fair value through profit and loss measured at fair
value required significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as
at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017. Increase in
recovery rate would result in the increase in the fair value of
Exchangeable Notes. The fair value measurement hierarchy of
the Group’s assets held for sale measured at fair value derived
from quoted prices in markets that were not active (Level 2) as
at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The financial assets of the Group mainly include cash and bank
balances, trade and bills receivables, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets and amounts due from
related parties, which arise directly from its operations. Financial
liabilities of the Group mainly include financial liabilities
included in other payables and accruals, trade and bills payables,
amounts due to related parties, dividend payable and interest-
bearing bank and other loans.

Risk management is carried out by the finance department
which is led by the Group's executive Directors. The Group's
finance department identifies and evaluates financial risks in
close co-operation with the Group’s operating units. The main
risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are liquidity
risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and foreign currency risk.

38.

39.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. MBEREEEFEREXK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (4&)
The Group’s financial risk management policy seeks to ensure AEBNYBRBREEBR S ERRE
that adequate resources are available to manage the above risks EMEREE LMER W AKRKAIE
and to create value for its Shareholders. The Directors regularly BE -ESTHRTZERR B
review these risks and they are summarised below. e
Liquidity risk B B
The Group monitors its exposure to a shortage of funds by AEEBRBEEAS rﬂ@% THMEE
considering the maturity of both its financial liabilities and WHIRMEASEMERENE BERE
financial assets and projected cash flows from operations. AHENESRRER -
As at 31 December 2018, the Group had net current liabilities of R2018F12A31B  AEBM R EE
RMB10,198,000. R A AR ®10,198,0007T °
Regarding 2018 and thereafter, the liquidity of the Group is P2018F R EE - AEBEMRB T EEE
primarily dependent on its ability to maintain adequate cash AR ERESNHEBEEFHEFEHNER
flows from operations and successfully renew its short-term S ARBEB KB R BIRITE R
bank loans to meet its debt obligations as they fall due. NEITEEHEHET-
The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities at the end RBERAR KEBSREBEENALR
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted BRI EARR A T
payments, is as follows:
2018
20184
Less than 3 to 1to 5
On demand 3 months 12 months years Total
RER DR3ME A 321218 A 1Z25F &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TR AR TR AR TR AR¥TR AR TR
Interest-bearing bank T B R1T K
and other loans HiEX 100 1,392 85,632 16,149 103,273
Trade and bills payables &1 BE 2 &% Z 15 - 39,132 10,535 4,568 54,235
Other payables and ~ H iR FIER
accruals FE &R IE 18,665 8,889 - 1,151 28,705
Due to related parties  F& 1< B 75 5008 9,805 - - - 9,805
28,570 49,413 96,167 21,868 196,018

236
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. MXEKREEEEREE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (#)
Liquidity risk (Continued) B R B ()
2017
20174
Less than 3 to 1to5
On demand 3 months 12 months years Total
mER LH3E A 3Z1218 A 18545 BE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETTE

Interest-bearing bank 5t 8RR

ARBTT ARBTE ARETT

and other loans Hth 3K 486,221 4,542 134,530 333,381 958,674
Trade and bills payables & BE 2 I Z 45 127,681 41,218 6,972 - 175,871
Other payables and ~ EfhERf 5B &

accruals JEET A 141,357 129,245 - 25,007 295,609
Dividend payable JETRR B 1,801 - - - 1,801
Due to related parties & B %t 5 508 11,489 - - - 11,489

768,549 175,005 141,502 358,388 1,443,444
Interest rate risk F =2 F e

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk relates primarily to the
Group's bank deposits, interest-bearing bank loans and other
loans and Exchangeable Notes (which are subject to fair value
interest rate risk). The interest rates and terms of repayment of
interest-bearing bank and other loans are disclosed in note 28
to the financial statements.

The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk exposure
arising from all of its interest-bearing loans through the use of
fixed rates. In addition, the Group has not used any interest rate
swaps to hedge against interest rate risk.

AEBHENMNXER T EHAEEHIR
TR FRBRITERREME R KT
BER(BAXRAFEMNEER)GRH-
FHERTT RE A B R EY N R I8 SRR K
A BF 7 R M ik 284 B

AEEMABREMNEEEE 2 EER
FREEMBR S MENKER I Ak
128 07 8 M) R ] ) o e 8 0 ) SR LB
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39.

238

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk

Substantial amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
and time deposits are held in major reputable financial
institutions located in Mainland China, Hong Kong and
Australia, which management believes are of high credit quality.
The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise trade and bills receivables, notes, other receivables
and amounts due from related parties, arises from default of the
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments. The Group has no other financial
assets which carry significant exposure to credit risk.

As disclosed in note 4, the Group sells most of the products to
a small number of customers. As a result, it faces a high level
of concentration of credit risk. The Group manages this risk by
offering a nine-month credit term to its customers for sale of
self-produced products given market conditions remained weak
and a three-month credit term to its trading customers. The
Group maintains strict control over its outstanding receivables
and senior management regularly reviews the overdue balances.
In addition, the Group’s exposure to credit risk is also influenced
by the individual characteristics of each customer and default
risk of the industry in which customers operate. During the year,
the Group generated its revenue mainly from the sales of iron
products and trading of steels and coals to the steels producers
and distributors that purchase the Group’s products and resell
them to steels producers. In addition, the Group also generated
revenue from sales of titanium products to other customers. In
this regard, the Group is exposed to the concentration of credit
risk in the steels and titanium industries.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31
December 2018

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 December 2018. The amounts
presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

39.
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MEBORRFATZE -FR AEEHUKRA
TERERMBEERUARBERAEE
EmiEETHHIERNDHEHEE
HEMNANEBEME R ERKR - LN KE
B A TR B R EME S HERKEmR -
B - NS EE 0SB R R R
SEINE

R2018F12A31A R EERR FE4
B
TRETENTEBEEBRNEELR
kEaEERE TZEREBHEH (B
FEMEREEANLEBZRANRE
HEER TER) - kR2018F12A31H
WFEEREDE I CHEASREE
BREAEE -
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31 December 2018
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 39. BIEEREEEERBEE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (&)
Credit risk (Continued) EEmE &)

Life time ECLs

2HERERBRA
12-month
ECLs Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
128 A EH
ERB%
P& ER1 P ER2 P ER3 LR (=7 et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT
Trade receivables* JFE LB - - - 126,886 126,886
Financial assets included f AFAf A -
in prepayments, other  E fth UK IE &
receivables and other ~ H A BEH
assets** EREE 11,447 - - - 11,447
Cash and cash RekBReZED
equivalents
— Not yet past due — R H 33,696 - - - 33,696
45,143 - - 126,886 172,029

* %

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified
approach for impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in note 20 to the financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the
credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be doubtful.

Foreign currency risk
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures

arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies

other than the units’ functional currencies. Approximately 13%
(2017: 0%) of the Group's sales were denominated in currencies
other than the functional currencies of the operating units

making the sale, whilst approximately 12% (2017: 0%) of costs

were denominated in the units’ functional currencies.

* B £ B R AR B L 7 R e R UROR
HME - ERBEEENERRT SR
K208 B o

*x BEFATAN TR - E b EUGTIR R E A
AENEREERDE BYE\EANE
TERMEENERERR BB ERA
RAIRIE NG - EREENERERW
BRAIER] BRIeREENEEREY
FHR KRR ©

Sh R B

AEBEERZEERAR DHREKEHE
UAHRNBEEEDIINEBEITHNEE - K
EEA13% (20175 : 0% ) K $5 & 5B A
R BN ETHENINREEE IINEY
SHE - MAEBAI12% (20174 0% ) HY
FRARABAIE I EHE FTE -
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39.

240

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group's foreign currency exposures arise primarily from the
exchange rate movement of foreign currencies, namely HKD,
UsD, AUD, SGD and VND, against the RMB. HKD, USD, AUD,
SGD and VND are the functional currencies of respective entities
within the Group.

The Group does not enter into any hedging transactions
to manage the potential fluctuation in foreign currencies.
Management monitors the Group’s foreign currency exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure
when the needs arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a 5.0%
change in RMB against HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND,
respectively. The 5.0% is the rate used when reporting currency
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in the foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analyses of the
Group's exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of each
reporting period have been determined based on the adjustment
of translation of the monetary assets and liabilities at the end of
each reporting period for a 5.0% change in RMB against HKD,
USD, AUD, SGD and VND, respectively, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s loss before tax for the year ended
31 December 2018 (due to changes in the fair value of cash and
cash equivalents and financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss denominated in HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND):

Increase/(decrease) in BAaEEgm Ofd)
loss before tax
If RMB strengthens against
HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND
If RMB weakens against

HKD, USD, AUD, SGD and VND

ST M B R R

T M B B 55

MARER BT Fx BT

i ARER BT Emx BT

39.

BREMEEEEREK
(#&)

SN B ()
AEEREEINERREBREINE (R
EIT 2T ORIT TN T R E ) K
ARBHERES) BT EL BT
METEBEEAAEEETSEER
N E -

REEIW EETEMETZHANERE
ERINER S - B EBEREAKBRINE
R RN EFEEREBLINERNI
M)—wuuo

TRIFFEARES B BT Em 8
TC RN T R E HER5.0% B &Y
BREE-50%hAMRAIEEEREABRE
HEERBEFRANLE TAEEEY
INBTE RSB RE B BT - WAE®
A E RS AR A SME BB ) U E AT
DERTEMBEMESEFTET BN
EREPRNEEREERAR HAE
B A Z=2018F12A318 It FE KT ATE
BEOARESRIEE T ETL BT
BT R A HIR5.0%E B R K
CRRIRBIL 70 BT N T &g

MEFENRE MRS EEMURIER

FEHAEMEZHTAESNEREE
RAFEEZS))EH:

2018 2017

20184 20174

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET ARET T

1,245 338

(1,245) (338)
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39.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The Group does not consider that it has any significant exposure
to the risk of fluctuation in the exchange rates between HKD/
USD/AUD/SGD/VND and RMB as a reasonable possible change
of 5% in RMB against HKD/USD/AUD/SGD/VND would have no
significant financial impact on the Group’s profit.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise Shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to Shareholders or raise new capital from its investors.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing financial risk during the year.

The Group will minimise the capital expenditure and renew or
extend its short-term loans as part of capital management. The
Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by total equity plus net debt. The Group's policy is to
keep the gearing ratio between 20% and 40% over the long
term. Net debt is defined as interest-bearing bank and other
loans, net of cash and cash equivalents and it excludes liabilities
incurred for working capital purposes. Equity includes equity
attributable to the owners of the Company and non-controlling
interests. As at 31 December 2018, the gearing ratio was 7.0%
(2017: 39.9%).

39.

Notes to Financial Statements

Rt 75 R R B
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2018412 A31H

BERREEREEEREEK
(&)
NS L B ()

MRARKEBIT XL/ BT/ H
BT/ MEENSIEAREES%E TR
HAREBNMNEBETAERYBHZE R
AEERRAEYERMBERNELET
SBITFNET BEELAREE
FORE AL o

EXERE

AEEEAEENIZEANRREARE
B ERCENENIRERRIFNERL
T PXFBEEBRRERSBREE.

AEBEEREENER TRELEIKR
BCHZRBIEL AR - REBRHRE
EARRE ARELEABRABRRIKATH
REHMEREEZENER - FALE
HEEVBRRN BT BRRIEFIFD
EmEH-

AEBEERERLEARAL W EH LT
RERHEFTIEREAREE —Hn - K&
EUEELRETEER  ZRBES
FHEBRUESAERNEEFE - A5E
NBREAEBEELRREEZN20%E
40% 2 M- B FHEWRE AT ERITR
HmEZR BRESRBESEEY B
TEEREEECHAERMEENAE -
HEERBRARRHE ANERSRIE
RS AE RS o FA20184E 12 A31 0 B &L X
A7.0% (20174 :39.9% ) °
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Br 15 ¥R R MY 5
31 December 2018
2018512 A31H

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

242

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Office equipment
Investments in subsidiaries

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS
Dividend receivable
Due from subsidiaries

Due from the holding company
Prepayments, other receivables and

other assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Due to subsidiaries

Due to the holding company
Other payables and accruals

Total current liabilities

NET CURRENT ASSETS

Net assets

EQUITY
Issued capital
Reserves (Note)

Total equity

FRDEE
BAZRE

RFRBHERE

FRBEERE

RBEE

JE W B B

JEM T R R FIA
JEWAE R A B IR
TR - H AR WA R
Hip&E
BeMREEEY

RBEEAE

RBEE

e F 2 B FRIR

JE& A #2 B B R

Ho b FE 5 3RIR K B 5T AR
REBREAR
RBEEFE

BEEFE

R

BEITIRA

s (MHaE)

A

40.

b NUNECTR: OV 3 S
R EHBRA QB BBk R B E R
T
2018 2017
20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETF T
6 6
475,734 114,530
475,740 114,536
17,157 17,157
137,852 931,075
— 566
85 9,483
424 446
155,518 958,727
51,022 49,550
152 -
5,347 2,806
56,521 52,356
98,997 906,371
574,737 1,020,907
197,889 197,889
376,848 823,018
574,737 1,020,907
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31 December 2018
2018412 A31H

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. R BRI BARR R (@)
THE COMPANY (continued)
Note: P&
The movements of the Company'’s reserves are as follows: RATREOEESNT
Share Share
premium option Accumulated
account reserve losses Total
ROEE
B0 % B B #E 2 ER &5t
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR¥TT AR¥ETT ARETT
At 1 January 2017 M2017F1A1H 1,840,253 41,921 (393,006) 1,489,168
Issue of new Shares BT 37,235 - - 37,235
Total comprehensive loss FRLEEBEE
for the year - - (703,385) (703,385)
Equity-settled share option B4 E % (5 HitE 2 BE
arrangements - (1,777) 1,777 -

At 31 December 2017 and 72017128318 &

1 January 2018 2018F1H1H 1,877,488 40,144 (1,094,614) 823,018
Total comprehensive loss FAZEEBRAE

for the year - - (446,170) (446,170)
At 31 December 2018 M2018F12H318 1,877,488 40,144 (1,540,784) 376,848
The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share R EEFEE SRR R BB RITED
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further R ERMERY A 1B - i — R R B R
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments KMt 2. 4ABBUARD AERONZN S
in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount will either HINE BN TR
be transferred to the share premium account when the related B2 M0 % B R - i A8 B8 BB #E & 2k 1
options are exercised, or be transferred to retained profits R Bl = B T AR -

should the related options expire or be forfeited.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 41. #EMBEHRK

STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue EESR2019%F3 H26H HEE & 15 )2
by the Board on 26 March 2019. B -
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Five-Year Financial Summary

EFEUBERE

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results, assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements, is set out below.

Results

CONTINUING OPERATIONS
REVENUE
Cost of sales

Gross profit/(loss)

Other income and gains
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses
Other expenses
Impairment losses on goodwill
Impairment losses on property,
plant and equipment
Impairment losses on
intangible assets
Impairment losses on
prepaid land lease payments
Reversal/(provision) of impairment losses
on trade receivables, net
Impairment losses on financial assets
included in prepayments,
other receivables and other assets
Impairment losses on assets held for sale
Fair value gains/(losses) on
financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss
Finance costs
Share of losses of an associate
Share of profits and losses of joint venture

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Income tax credit/(expense)

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONS

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Loss for the year from
Discontinued Operations

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

244

RRASERY
L'ON
HEMA

8/ (28)

A AR
HERDHERX
THAX

AfFx

BERESR

NE BERREREBSR

EVEEREER
BT REFRESE

[ ﬁ@%%
ﬁé@/ %) 358
%Aﬁﬁﬁ@‘ﬁ%%%%@&
HihBEH
EREEREER
BEHEEERERR
BATEFEMLZS
SARENEREEN
RPEKE/ (BE)
BEKAE
“ﬁ Bl =Nk} 53]
HEERENFIBRER

BESEEBBAMAE/
(E#])

FriEREs/ ()

BEEEEBERNE/
(E#8)

BRIEGEEY
ERIEBEEBFAER

FRER

MBENBE
TXHAAREBET AR BT ENEE &

E BENEERERBE DR E QM
RERIBRE -
E |
For the year ended 31 December
BENAMALEE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
20185 20174 20164 20158 20145
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000
AR®TR AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
(Re-presented)
(E7)
684,750 877,183 1,833,305 516,365 649,094
(634,210) (861,611) (1,790,858) (539,535) (661,920)
50,540 15,572 42,447 (23,170) (12,826)
602 1,353 1,442 23,971 52,051
(11,284) (15,123) (76,295) (53,789) (35,208)
(34,746) (15,931) (72,028) (197,698) (193,501)
(2,256) (8,123) (619) (74,563) (14,398)
- - - (15,318) -
(1,071) - (185,195) (258,270) (166,947)
- (64,884) (200,040) (35,715) -
9,898 (10,521) (64,865) (181,916) (82,125)
(23) - - - -
(1,469) (4,525) (78,334) (60,555) -
- (109,617) (111,555) (68,999) 14,861
(8,343) (5,282) (57,322) (64,465) (62,176)
- (9,458) - - -
_ _ . - (308)
1,848 (226,539) (802,364) (1,010,487) (500,577)
2,808 4,076 2,853 (102,704) 133,155
4,656 (222,463) (799,511) (1,113,191) (367,422)
(453,907) (167,158) - - -
(449,251) (389,621) (799,511) (1,113,191) (367,422)
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Five-Year Financial Summary

TFEUBRE

For the year ended 31 December

BENAMBLEE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
20184 20174 20164 20154 20144
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T T AREFT ARBFT AREFT AREFT
(Re-presented)
(w=3))
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Htt2EWE /(B8 :
INCOME/(LOSS):
Other comprehensive income/(loss) ARERBEENIER
that may be reclassified to profit or loss B MH b2 E Mz,
in subsequent periods: (B8):
Exchange differences on translation of BEBINEBELR
foreign operations ERES 989 (140) - - -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR FREEFRAR
THE YEAR (448,262) (389,761) (799,511) (1,113,191) (367,422)
Loss attributable to: BESBR:
Owners of the Company AAFEEA (443,969) (349,490) (773,742) (1,105,519) (366,381)
Non-controlling interests FERER (5,282) (40,131) (25,769) (7,672) (1,041)
(449,251) (389,621) (799,511) (1,113,191) (367,422)
Total comprehensive loss 2HBEAE
attributable to: FER:
Owners of the Company ARRHEEA (443,161) (349,603) (773,742) (1,105,519) (366,381)
Non-controlling interests iR (5,101) (40,158) (25,769) (7,672) (1,041)
(448,262) (389,761) (799,511) (1,113,191) (367,422)
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) GERARAZTRRRESEA
per Share attributable to HERBROERRBIRT/
ordinary equity holders (B#E): (A\R¥T)
of the Company: (RMB)
- Continuing Operations ~REREER - 0.08) (0.37) (0.53) (0.18)
- Discontinued Operations —BRIEBEER (0.20) 0.08) - - -
Total Fohy (0.20) (0.16) (0.37) (0.53) 0.18)
#* Less than RMBO.01 DR AR0.01T
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Five-Year Financial Summary

FENBREE

Assets, Liabilities and Non-controlling Interests EE BERFERES
As at 31 December
R12A318
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
20184 20175 20165 20155 20145
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Non-current assets B EE 923,027 2,100,096 2,162,708 2,588,298 3,031,590
Current assets REEE 1,522,820 935,779 1,118,448 1,449,690 1,832,463
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (19,133) (347,513) (11,924) (11,065) (35,048)
Current liabilities nBEE (1,533,018) (1,343,257) (1,597,277) (1,555,457) (1,601,477)
Total equity ERER 893,696 1,345,105 1,671,955 2,471,466 3,227,528
Non-controlling interests FHERER (318,959) (324,198) (353,782) (379,551) (31,733)
Equity attributable to owners of BENADRBER ARER

the Company 574,737 1,020,907 1,318,173 2,091,915 3,195,795
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“2010 AGM”
[2010F IR RAF K |

“2019 AGM”
[2019F IR RAF K |

"Aba Mining”

[ ] 435 9 2%

“Akuang Trading”

[FEE 5 ]

“Anhydrite”

[EKAOE ]

"Articles”

[ER248)]

"Australian dollars” or "AUD"
Bl

“Baicao Mine”

[ 35 6]

“Baicao Processing Plant”

[BERER

"Board”

B2

"BVI”
[RBELES]

Glossary
i
aA 52

the Shareholders’ annual general meeting held on 15 April 2010
R2010F4 15 A BT R RBEFRE

the Shareholders’ annual general meeting to be held on 19 June 2019

BR2019F6 19 RITHRBRBAF R

Aba Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the PRC on 27
February 2004 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

PR ERR AR —ER2004F2 278 EF BRI ERETAR  BARF
WiEEE2EFAF

Huili County Akuang Trading Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 13 June 2012 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

SEENEESHERAF —ER2012F6 13 EFRBRKINEREERR A
AABINEEE2EF AT

an anhydrous sulfate mineral with the chemical formula CaSO4

—TEEKIREAEETRY) (L2 R K Cas0s

the articles of association of the Company, adopted on 4 September 2009 and as
amended from time to time
RAFPR2009F9I B4R MMM A BRI K ARHE

the lawful currency of the Commonwealth of Australia
SRR DB EE G

the vanadium-bearing titano-magnetite mine located in Huili County, Sichuan and
operated by Huili Caitong, with a mining area of 1.88 sq.km.

BESRE — @A) SEFONRMERE ASEEge RIEmES1.88
FHRE

the ore processing plant located near the Baicao Mine and operated by Huili
Caitong
XA EHBEINBEASER ARy BRgE

the board of Directors

Ex¢2

the British Virgin Islands
KBRS
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Glossary
AR

“Chengyu Vanadium Titano”

[ A A 88K

"China” or "PRC"
[ B

“China VTM Mining”,

I

“Company”, “we" or “us”

(B sR]
[ARaE ] 3 [#A]

"Chuanwei”

1L

"“Cizhuging Mine”
R & 8%

“close associate(s)”

v YN
“Companies Law”
[REDhE]

"“connected person(s)”

[BgE AL

"Continuing Operations"
[ BT

Chengyu Vanadium Titano Technology Ltd.*, formerly known as Weiyuan Steel
Co., Ltd.*, a sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the PRC on 3 April
2001 and a connected person to the Group

BORSLEARH AR A7 (AT EEEMEARAR) - —HR2001F4H3R £ EAK
UG ERERE U RAKENBEEAL

the People’s Republic of China excluding, for the purpose of this annual report,
Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan
hEARKNE RAFHRTE  FOFEERE PEAPISHITHE LRSS

China Vanadium Titano-Magnetite Mining Company Limited ( 73 B §1 $4 i 8 1% %
BFRRAA]), alimited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 28
April 2008

PR EREER AT —ERN2008F4A28 M ERHETMAINAR

A7

Sichuan Chuanwei Group Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in the
PRC on 29 March 1998 and a connected person to the Group
WINENEERER AR —BR1998F3H298 EH B IHBRET AT &
REEMBEEAL

the vanadium-bearing titano-magnetite mine located in Huili County, Sichuan and
operated by Huili Caitong, with a mining area of 1.279 sqg.km.
— ARSI GFE AT BB RLE REEEA 27T9FFRE

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

B 7R B P B F e E

the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands
e EMIE28 RANE (196155013 - iR E RIEFT)

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules

B ETR AP T RRE

operations of the Remaining Group

REEENED
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"

"Controlling Shareholder(s)

[ R R

"

"Director(s)

[E=%]

"Discontinued Operations”
(B IEREER]

"Disposal”
[HEFEE]
"Disposal Group”

[HEEE]

“Exchangeable Note(s)”

[AEmRE]

“Exploration Result(s)"

u "

Fe

[Fe |

“FY2017"
[20179 B F [Z |

“FY2018"
[20185 BK F [Z |

Glossary
AR

Trisonic International, Kingston Grand, Messrs. Wang Jin, Shi Yinjun, Yang Xianlu,
Wu Wendong, Zhang Yuangui and Li Hesheng

A Al - Kingston Grand* £ %4 AIRB LA BEABLE BEXREE R
RERERTMBEE

director(s) of the Company or any one of them

RRARMEM—2HEZHRER

operations of the Disposal Group

HESENER

the proposed sale of the Disposal Group to Chengyu Vanadium Titano as
announced on 29 January 2019
FAA2019F 1 H29B IS EZFMBORAR L E HEEE

Huili Caitong and its subsidiaries, namely Xiushuihe Mining and Panzhihua
Yixingda
BEVBREFRASFIONERERBERIES ®HE

the exchangeable note(s) issued by the Issuer in accordance with the Secured
Exchangeable Note Purchase Agreement with its terms and conditions set out in
the Note Certificate

ETARBEEMATERRBEBEHZETOHRNERRE  HGER R GEEHR

BEE

SR

exploration result(s) include(s) data and information generated by mineral
exploration programmes that might be of use to investors but which do not form
part of a declaration of mineral resources or ore reserves
DEERBDEDRIMEPELDN AIHREEERENMEREESE RS NIEA
BEXBMEDBSHBIEFE L

chemical symbol of iron element

BT RN BRI

financial year ended and/or as at 31 December 2017
BZE2017F12A31 B IEFREFE K&, 520176F12831H

financial year ended and/or as at 31 December 2018
BZE2018F12A31H IEHEFE &S 720185F 12 A31H
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Glossary
AR

"Group”
[A&HE ]

"Gypsum”
[AE]

"Haibaodang Mine”

[ R I 8% |

“Hailong Processing Plant”
[ BE & MR

“Heigutian Processing Plant”
[EAHEER]

“High Fe Mines”
[ 8 o i 7835 |

“Hong Kong”
(&% ]

“Hong Kong dollars” or "HKD"
[l

“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”
[ & 8 B 22 P

“Huili Caitong”

[ 3% Bt i

the Company and its subsidiaries
RRFREF AT

a soft hydrous sulfate mineral with the chemical formula CaSOa ¢ 2H:0
—REHE KR EEY - L2 X R CasS04 ¢ 2H20

the vanadium-bearing titano-magnetite mine located in Renhe District, Panzhihua
City, Sichuan, with an exploration area of 26.2 sgq.km.

RN ER B - — AR A )| B AE T M@ e SR B - B EIER26.2°F
nE

the ore processing plant located near the Cizhuging Mine and operated by Huili
Caitong
R R ERBMINBELLER HERMEaLE

the ore processing plant located near the Yangqueqing Mine and owned by Huili
Caitong
URGEZEHBEMINBEALER HSEMAaRE

Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine and Maoling Processing Plant

EE-FRILEBEBRERTER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
H BB R BITT IR

the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BRETEH

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
EEBMARSMERADA

Huili County Caitong Iron and Titanium Co., Ltd.*, established in the PRC on
7 July 1998 and has been a foreign equity joint venture in the PRC since 29
December 2010, and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
SEGVBHKARTEEAR M1998F7A7HEFEMK Y - W H2010512729
HREKABFTENIEEGELEDLE  RARANHELZEFRAA
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“IFRSs”
I B % B 75 o 5 22 A i

“Inactive Mines”

[TE BRiES 15
“Indicated”

[ 2= il 15
“Inferred”

Eiid-l i}
“iron”

[ ] EC

Glossary
AR

International Financial Reporting Standards, which comprise standards and
interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Board and
the International Accounting Standards and Standing Interpretations Committee
interpretations approved by the International Accounting Standards Committee
that remain in effect

R BHREER BREESDAEVNAER ST LRSS RBHENRZE
UEBEERGTEEZEeRANBER e RAREERAELZEGRE

Cizhuging Mine, Yangqueqging Mine and Haibaodang Mine
R E R - 5 B R NS RINETE

part of a mineral resource for which quantity, grade (or quality), densities, shape
and physical characteristics are estimated with sufficient confidence to allow the
application of modifying factors in sufficient detail to support mine planning and
evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit

BEERTEHANE mi (HEE) BE FRAEERBSHHREERMGE NI
DAEERATEAFBNETEER XHBESNEERS METREREET
MERE A

part of a mineral resource for which quantity and grade (or quality) are estimated
on the basis of limited geological evidence and sampling. Geological evidence
is sufficient to imply but not verify geological and grade (or quality) continuity.
It is based on exploration, sampling and testing information gathered through
appropriate techniques from locations such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings
and drill holes

BEERTEBNENRL (LEE)AIREFRENBE B FEMREHENE
Do EFERARSR (BIFZE)ME kel (kE2)HEEN - ZEHEERE
EEE-EE B BEASERELSHEUEE RITRENENIE - Rk R
=REL

a silvery-white, lustrous, malleable, ductile, magnetic or magnetisable, metallic
element occurring abundantly in combined forms, notably in hematite, limonite,
magnetite, and taconite, and alloyed for use in a wide range of important
structural materials

—ERAEN - FX2 FHE LR - BHMUEXAIRELNEBETE  MEE
PWRAKREFE TEFFAEE BERE UHERAS EFZBEZHEBEMH
mREESH &
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"

“iron concentrate(s)

[ 157 ]
“iron ore”

[ A ]

“iron pellet(s)”
[k = 7% |

"

“lron Pelletising Plant
[ 3K 2] 15 o

“Issuer”

[T Al

“JORC Code (2004 Edition)”

[BETIRHEZESRA

(2004 i) |

concentrate(s) whose main mineral content (by value) is iron

T2EYAN (REE) RENERE

compounds of iron and oxygen (iron oxides) mixed with impurities (gangue); it is a
mineral which when heated in the presence of a reductant will yield metallic iron
RBeME (RA)MBHEIESY (BH) 2 —EHRERH —ENAKEKRA

a round hardened clump of iron-rich material suitable for application in blast
furnaces

ERRBENENRELCYR SHERS

the plant that produces iron pellets and is located in Huili County, Sichuan, which
is approximately 5.5 km from the Xiushuihe Mine and operated by Huili Caitong
A EEFREEREEN TR BRI @aes EMAIOTEHENSRE

Rui Tong Limited, a private company incorporated in the BVI with limited liability,
being the issuer of the Exchangeable Note under the Secured Exchangeable
Note Purchase Agreement and a third party independent of the Company and its
connected persons

HBERAG —HAREBRLZHEEMAIOMAGTRRAA  BEEMATER
FEBERRETNAEREBRETA BERARRRINAMEALINELE=F

the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and
Ore Reserves, prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the Australasian
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of Geoscientists and
Minerals Council of Australia in 1989 and revised and updated in 1992, 1996,
1999 and 2004 that sets out minimum standards, recommendations and
guidelines for public reporting

HARNATELRZE BNMEZERHEMRMNEYER ESMAKNE S AT
HEZEFMNI1989F A - WN 19924 » 19964 + 19994 R 20045 & 5] R B 3
BAMALBREMRER BEERERAIRFENRERA SRR RE
Wi = O &IEFRE  EERIES
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“JORC Code (2012 Edition)”

[BMAFRHEEZE SR
(20124 f) |

“Kingston Grand”

[Kingston Grand J

et
[ 1 |

“Ktpa”
[FWg, ]

“Listing Rules”

[ LAY

"Low Fe Mines”

[ME# 5n 0 3% 45 )

“Mancala Asia”

[&E2 R

Glossary
AR

the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and
Ore Reserves, prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the Australasian
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of Geoscientists and
Minerals Council of Australia in 1989 and revised and updated in 1992, 1996,
1999, 2004 and 2012, that sets out minimum standards, recommendations and
guidelines for public reporting

HREAFMADRAES RNEESZ2R e RMNEYWE B FFAEKNES AT &K
HEREZEEMN1989FHE - WH 19924 + 1996%F + 19994 » 20044F K 2012F (£ 5]
REFHNRAFNADEEDRER BEERELATREFSNRERL - S
A AR 5 N RERE - ZE NIES

Kingston Grand Limited, a company incorporated in the BVI on 20 February 2007,
holder of 40% of the issued share capital of Trisonic International

Kingston Grand Limited’ —f&/ 200742 A20 B £ R B R LB STMA AT
FASEIEERA0%M B BITRA

kilometre(s), a metric unit measure of distance
NE EEBEEMN T E B B

thousand tonnes

T WA

thousand tonnes per annum

BFETH

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

BEBIMES LR

Baicao Mine, Baicao Processing Plant, Xiushuihe Mine (including expansion),
Xiushuihe Processing Plant, Hailong Processing Plant, Heigutian Processing Plant
and Iron Pelletising Plant

AEHE BERER FIOTHE (BEERMER)  FAOULER BELE
TR~ B A R B R K TR B R

Mancala Asia Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong on 26
March 2013 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the Company indirectly
owns 81% equity interest

Mancala Asia Limited " —RI# 20136326 BEBFBFMAIHBER AR - AEARQ
AINFRR ARQFHEEEES %R AER
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AR

“Mancala Holdings”
[FAEE8RH] ¥

“Mancala Mining”

[8RABEE] ¥
“Mancala Pty"”
[€R$ ¥

“Mancala Services”

[ = RAREERY e

“Maoling Extended Exploration

Area”
[EETFYERE] =
“Maoling Mine”
[EsEEE] |

"

“Maoling Processing Plant

[EEER] e

Mancala Holdings Limited, the legal and beneficial owner of the entire issued
share capital of MHPL
Mancala Holdings Limited " & R IEREHACEITRAMEZEZ LR EEEE A

Mancala Mining Pty Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated in Australia on
9 June 1992 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the Company indirectly
owns 81% equity interest

Mancala Mining Pty Ltd* —E 7199296 A9B R MAMK IO BR AR AA
RAMFRA BARAIEEEAES %R ARER

Mancala Pty Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated in Australia on 15 March
1989 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the Company indirectly owns
81% equity interest

Mancala Pty Ltd " —fa 7198943 A 15 B AR ML AR AR - BA R
FRA ARAFEEEEGS %R AER

Mancala Mine Services Pty Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated in
Australia on 21 August 2003 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 81% equity interest

Mancala Mine Services Pty Ltd* — /200348821 B R M E ML AR A
A RARRFNFRA BARAEEHEES %R AER

formerly an independent exploration region with an area of 2.83 sq.km. covered
under the extended exploration permit of the Maoling Mine (covering 1.9
sq.km. of the mining area of the Maoling Mine), has been consolidated with the
Yanglongshan Mine since September 2012 to form the Maoling-Yanglongshan
Mine
BRREAHBLHRDENIEMBEEERERA2BTHIRR(EETIIOFALE
WEEHRERERE) NBLHERE B2012F9 REFREILEBAHKRATE
E-FRRILEE

an ordinary magnetite mine located in Wenchuan County, Sichuan, with a mining
area of 1.9 sq.km.

FESE — @RS EBEEE REAEMIFIRE

the ore processing plant located near the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine and
operated by Aba Mining
R ESE-FRLABENMINEAGER AMGEELE
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“Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine”

[E&E—FrelEE]

“MCL Vietham”

[ S K3

“Measured”

[HRAA ]

“MHPL"

[ RAER]

“mining right(s)”

[ BR A= HE |

“Model Code”

Mt
[B &

Glossary
AR

an exploration region with a total area of 11.6 sg.km. covered under the
exploration permit of the Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine (the mining area covered
is owned by the Maoling Mine), formed from the combination of the Maoling
Extended Exploration Area and the Yanglongshan Mine since September 2012 and
operated by Aba Mining
HEE-FTELHBYHESHAIEMBEAEEANGTIAENDERT BE
B HBEEGMFEILEFEA2012FIA R HMAK MEENRBEHERE
BEHEES U HMIBEELS

MCL Vietnam Industries Company Limited, a limited liability company
incorporated in Vietnam on 14 May 2013 and a subsidiary of the Company, in
which the Company indirectly owns 39.69% equity interest

MCL Vietnam Industries Company Limited " —fE# 2013458 14 B £ m s AL
MARRDE BRARBNF AR BAR B FEEEF39.69% M A=

part of a mineral resource for which quantity, grade (or quality), densities, shape,
and physical characteristics are estimated with confidence sufficient to allow
the application of modifying factors to support detailed mine planning and final
evaluation of the economic viability of the deposit

BEERTEHEMNE i (HE8) HE BRLERSHEIRERGSNE
S MEEREFER IFESNFERERRE MOETER LB A TIER
1l

Mancala Holdings Pty Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated in Australia on
8 March 1990 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the Company indirectly
owns 81% equity interest

Mancala Holdings Pty Ltd* —fE/41990F3 A8 B ERMEMA LN BR AR AR
RAWFRE BARRGIBERESI %R AER

the right(s) to mine mineral resources and obtain mineral products in areas where
mining activities are licensed

PAREAEHE 1T 79 BROE B0 &6 (B A 79 ER B E B IR N HRAS R EE o O RE A
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

ETRAME T A EMBETAESTETESRRIINRETH

million tonnes
ER-3
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AR

“N/A"
[

“Net Profit” or “Net Loss”
[4EF]] =k [ 515

“Note Certificate”
[RiEEE]

"“ore processing”
[9% 4 k]
“Panxi Region”

[ 74 &

“Panzhihua Yixingda”

B

\

B AE 5 BL3E |

"Probable”

[ 1 B

"Proved”

-
[

i
—

\r
I

not applicable
i A

profit or loss attributable to owners

FENEE ANFBLEER

the note certificate of the Exchangeable Note with the terms and conditions of
the Exchangeable Note set out therein

AERRENREES A TEBRARBRNGER MG

the process which in general refers to the extraction of usable portions of ores by
using physical and chemical extraction methods

MAMERMEETARRBEATERABINERE LT

a region in Sichuan located at southwest of Chengdu reaching from Panzhihua to
Xichang
ey — @ R E T FaE S - AERIEE S 2 B8 & 86K

Panzhihua Yixingda Industrial Trading Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 9 July 2009 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company

BRIEHGHETEERECTAR  —HEMR2009F7 A8 EFREK I EREER
Bl REARBINHEERZEFAA

the economically mineable part of an indicated, and in some circumstances, a
measured mineral resource. The confidence in the modifying factors applying to a
probable ore reserve is lower than that applying to a proved ore reserve
EHERER (EXEERL RABREERENCEARBY BRELHEER
WETTAEREMERNBEBAMEMERE

the economically mineable part of a measured mineral resource. A proved ore
reserve implies a high degree of confidence in the modifying factors. A proved
ore reserve represents the highest confidence category of reserve estimate and
implies a high degree of confidence in geological and grade continuity, and the
consideration of the modifying factors. The style of mineralisation or other factors
could mean that proved ore reserves are not achievable in some deposits
RABEERENKEARMED FEROFEAESHETUENEBIIREZ-BE
BEOFECRELENSRSBTELEN wERREEERETREEZEBNE
EHER BEEASEAMERAERERLESITREERAORE
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Glossary

i A
A

“Remaining Group” the Company and its subsidiaries excluding the Disposal Group

[MRE =] i RARBARAEFRB(ABEIELESE)

“Renminbi” or “RMB” the lawful currency of the PRC

[AR¥ ] i} R EDEE B

“Reporting Period” the year ended 31 December 2018

[ 8 ¥ EHZE2018F12A31BIEFE

“Secured Exchangeable Note the secured exchangeable note purchase agreement dated 2 May 2011 entered
Purchase Agreement” into between the Group and the Issuer pursuant to which the Issuer has

conditionally agreed to issue and the Group has conditionally agreed to subscribe
the Exchangeable Note on the terms and subject to the conditions set out therein

(BRI ERRIBEE R Z ¥ REEEETAR201F5H2BFI VYN B EMATHERRIBEREHE Bt #17
A R AR B 93 BB 1614 [R) B4R 15 35 P B A6k SR I A 10 2 P SR AT AR PR T 3897 R B8
AERER

"Spectrum Resources” Spectrum Resources Australia Pty Ltd, a limited liability company incorporated in
Australia on 19 February 1987 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 81% equity interest

[E2RNER] 5 Spectrum Resources Australia Pty Ltd - —RE# 198742 A198 R MMz M5
RAT BRARBNFRR AARAIMEEESI %R ER

“SFO” the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

785 & BRG] i EBEPIESTIERF RBAE BRI (EREET B s A= A e k)

“Share(s)"” ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company, with a nominal value of
HKDO.1 each

[ A& 17 ] i AARRAPHEBER SREAE1ET

“Shareholder(s)” holder(s) of the Share(s)

[ A% 3R ] i D SUEST=DN

“Shigou Gypsum Mine” Shigou gypsum mine located at Hanyuan County, Ya'an City, Sichuan, with a
mining area of 0.1228 sq.km.

[BERERE] i RP)I L TR RGN OBOEE RBEEER0.1228F A E

“Sichuan” the Sichuan province of the PRC

[l i FRE M)A
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“Sichuan Haoyuan”

[P )1E % ]

“Sichuan Lingyu”

[ )12 0 ]

“Sichuan Mancala”
[l & R4

“Sichuan Xinglian”
[P0 11 8o gt

“Singapore dollars” or “SGD"

[ %7 03 7T

"SPA”

[EE ]

“sqg.km.”
[SFARRNE]

“target company”

BEREINCTE

Sichuan Haoyuan New Materials Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 18 July 2011 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 51% equity interest

WINEERFTVMEBRAR —HR201M1EF7R18HEFBKNINBRETAR
RARANFAE BARAEEEES1 %R EAE R

Sichuan Lingyu Investment Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in
the PRC on 9 June 2010 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
WG EEHRERRART  —ER2010F6 AR EFBEKYMEREET AR A
ARANEEE2EFAF

Sichuan Mancala Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established in
the PRC on 25 September 2017 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 60% equity interest

mINEEeRNBEEEARAT) —HR2017F9A2AERBKIMNARET AR
RARANFAE HARAEEEBO%NRAEZR

Sichuan Xinglian Mining and Technology Construction Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability
company established in the PRC on 23 June 2011 and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company

) A EERERMIEBRAT  —HR2011F6A23BEFPBEIKNIHNERE
ERA BEARTENEZEE2EFAA

the lawful currency of the Republic of Singapore
NS LB EE S

the sales and purchase agreement in relation to the Disposal dated 29 January
2019 entered into among Sichuan Lingyu, Chengyu Vanadium Titano and Huili
Caitong

mNDES - BORMMIK R IR EMN2019F1 A29B IV E ML EFENEE R &

square kilometres
FARE

Oriental Mining and Mineral Resources Co., Ltd., a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 8 April 2011 and a third party independent of the Company
and its connected persons

Oriental Mining and Mineral Resources Co., Ltd.» —fER2011F4 ASHER S S
AR RAR BARAIREBEATHEIE =7
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“TFe"
[TFe ]

"TiO2"
[TiO2]

“titanium concentrate(s)”

[ A5 |

“Trisonic International”

[EEIEE]

“Type 331"

[fE%8331]

“Type 333"

[fE%8333]

"United States” or “US”

==

"US dollars” or “USD"”
[E7T]

“Vietnamese dong” or “VND"

[BEE]

"V20s5"
[V20s ]

"Weixi Guangfa”

[P0 =t

Glossary
AR

the symbol for denoting total iron

RREEMFER

the chemical symbol for titanium dioxide

Y | o 7Nz ORI A= E SR

concentrate(s) whose main content (by value) is titanium dioxide

FTERD (REE) R-R(CHKIBE

Trisonic International Limited (& BIBIFRABRAF]), a company incorporated in
Hong Kong on 19 July 2006 and a Controlling Shareholder
GRIBBRARART  —ER2006F7 4198 EB B ML AR BIERARE

measured intrinsic economic resources (Type 331) as defined in the Classification
for Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral Commodities

(BRBEERHENH) MAETHNRANANALELRE (FEH331)

inferred intrinsic economic resources (Type 333) as defined in the Classification for
Resources/Reserves of Solid Fuels and Mineral Commodities

(BRBEAR/RENE) MRATHRENANBLELERE (FBH333)

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject to
its jurisdiction

ENBERE - HEL BHEMERAER

the lawful currency of the United States

EE

the lawful currency of the Socialist Republic of Vietnam
BrEtETRANBEETEH

the chemical symbol for vanadium pentoxide

R A LINEI L B2 5R

Weixi Guangfa Iron Ore Development Company Limited*, a limited liability
company established in the PRC on 10 June 2005
HTEREERZEERAF —HKR2005F6 8108 EFEK N EREEA A
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Bl

“Xinjin Mining”

[EeRE]

"Xiushuihe Mine”

[ 55 7K A % |

“Xiushuihe Mining”

[ 55 7K B 3 )

“Xiushuihe Processing Plant”
[ 75 7K 0] 4% 338 g

“Yanglongshan Mine”

[ 8L s ]

“Yangqueging Mine”

(B3 & & #iE ]

“Yanyuan Xiwei"

[ B2 R 78 L

*  For identification purpose only

Hanyuan County Xinjin Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 29 September 2010 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 51% equity interest

ERGECBEEARAGT  —HR2010F9H298 EHF BRI EREERR] &
ARG FRAR ARRAHEEES %R AER

the vanadium-bearing titano-magnetite mine located in Huili County, Sichuan and
operated by Xiushuihe Mining, with a mining area of 0.52 sg.km.

F5 XM SR - — BRI & R SR SRR - R ARG L  RBEEER
052 T RE

Huili County Xiushuihe Mining Co., Ltd.*, a limited liability company established
in the PRC on 26 June 2007 and a subsidiary of the Company, in which the
Company indirectly owns 95.0% equity interest

CEEFNKTREEBR AR —HR2007F6 A26 B EFRREKIHBERETRF
RARBNFRAR AARAHEEREBIS.0%BREER

the ore processing plant located near the Xiushuihe Mine and operated by
Xiushuihe Mining
{3217 5 700 B PR AT O B A R AE B I B AOM B R L2

an ordinary magnetite mine located in Wenchuan County, Sichuan, formerly an
independent exploration region with an area of 8.79 sq.km. covered under the
exploration permit of the Yanglongshan Mine, and has been consolidated as the
Maoling-Yanglongshan Mine with the Maoling Extended Exploration Area since
September 2012

BELLBIAE - — RSN B TR EE RARFELEEYEFAIE
FIBEEERSTITHAEMNBE Y MERE  B201249A REEETFHE R
EHAREE-FRLEE

the vanadium-bearing titano-magnetite mine located in Huili County, Sichuan and
operated by Huili Caitong, with a mining area of 0.25 sq.km.

BEBEEHE —ECADISRESONKEEE AR agE KEEER
025 TR E

Yanyuan County Xiwei Mining Company Limited*, a limited liability company
established in the PRC on 7 December 2007

HRGEARBEAREELR —HR2007F12A7BEHRBERIHEREER
=l

* EHRBS
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